INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

Bell & Howell Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA



Genomic Instability in a Bcr-abl Leukemia Mouse Model

by

Hashem F. Salloukh, Msc.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research McGill University

In Partial Fulfilment of the Requirement for the Degree

of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Medicine Division of Experimental Medicine McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

December, 1998

Copyright © Hashem Salloukh 1998



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your Ne. Votre reférence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-50254-6

Canadä

"And, when you want something, all the universe conspires in helping you achieve it"

-A conversation between king Melchizedek and the young shepherd Santiago. From *The Alchemist* by Paulo Coelho.

To my parents.....

Hind and Fawzi Salloukh

Abstract

The Bcr-abl translocation arises from a reciprocal translocation between chromosomes 9 and 22 and results in the augmentation of the tyrosine kinase activity of c-Abl. Chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) is one of several hematological malignancies associated with Bcr-abl expression. The pathogenesis of CML, associated with P210Bcr-abl, is bi-phasic consisting of an initial chronic phase followed by a severe terminal phase referred to as acute blast crisis. The chronic phase of the disease is characterized by granulocytic hyperplasia but in which normal hematologic maturation is still intact. Patients ultimately enter the terminal blast crisis where hematologic maturation is lost, resulting in the accumulation of immature blast cells and a severe immuno-compromised state. Progression to the blast terminal phase is associated with genomic instability demonstrated by the accumulation of genetic and cytogenetic abnormalities. Results from in vitro cell line systems expressing Bcr-abl have suggested that the loss of cell-cycle arrest and induction of apoptosis, as a result of genotoxic stress, might be responsible for this phenotype. In this study, I utilized a transgenic mouse model which expresses P190Bcr-abl to extend those observations to an in vivo model for leukemia. I observed normal cell-cycle arrest and induction of apoptosis following the induction of DNA damage. However, using the Big Blue in vivo mutagenesis mouse assay system, I evaluated genomic instability in P190Bcrabl mice by measuring mutation frequencies in vivo. I observed an increase in mutation frequencies in spleens and kidneys from P190Bcr-abl mice. This Bcr-abl-induced mutator phenotype may explain the inherent genomic instability associated with the progression of CML and other diseases associated with the expression of activated tyrosine kinases.

Resumé

La translocation Bcr-abl provient d'une translocation réciproque entre les chromosomes 9 et 22, ce qui entraîne l'activation constitutive de l'activité tyrosine kinase de la protéine c-Abl. L'expression de Bcr-abl est associée à une grave maladie hématologique, qui est la leucémie myélogénique chronique (LMC). La pathogénèse de LMC. liée à la présence de la proteine P210Bcr-abl. est bi-phasique: elle comprend initialement une phase chronique, suivie par une grave phase terminale appelée crise blastique. La phase chronique de la maladie est caracterisée par une hyperplasie granulocytaire aigüe, où la maturation hématologique se trouve toutefois intacte. Les patients atteignent ultimement la crise blastique terminale, où dans ce cas, la maturation hématologique ne se fait plus. Les cellules blastiques immatures s'accumulent alors, compromettant ainsi gravement le système immunitaire des patients. L'accumulation de plusieurs anomalies génétiques et cytogénétiques, causée par une instabilité génomique, est associée avec la progression de la maladie vers la phase blastique terminale. Des expériences in vitro, sur des lignées cellulaires qui expriment Bcr-abl suggéraient initialement que, suite a un stress génotoxique, une perte de l'arrêt du cvcle cellulaire et de l'induction de l'apoptose étaient la cause de ce phénotype. Dans l'étude que je présente, j'ai utilisé un modèle de souris transgéniques qui expriment la protéine Bcr-abl. Suite à l'induction de dommages à l'ADN, j'ai observé un arrêt normal du cycle cellulaire, ainsi qu'une induction normale de l'apoptose. Cependant, en utilisant le système in vivo de test de mutagénèse "Big Blue", j'ai étudié, dans les souris exprimant P190Bcr-abl, l'instabilité génomique, en mesurant in vivo la fréquence des mutations. J'ai observé, une augmentation de la fréquence des mutations, dans la rate, ainsi que dans les reins de ces souris. Ce phénotype mutationnel, induit par la proteine Bcr-abl, pourrait expliquer l'instabilité génomique inhérente associée avec la progression de la leucémie

mye'loge'nique chronique, ainsi qu'avec d'autres maladies associe'es à l'expression de tyrosines kinases active'es.

•

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Resume	ii
Table of Contents	iv
Index of Figures and Tables	viii
Abbreviation List	xi
Acknowledgments	xvii
I- Introduction	1
1.1 Etiology and Pathogenesis	1
1.1.1 Symptoms and Clinical Features of Chronic Pha	se CML 3
1.1.2 Cell Culture Studies	6
1.1.3 Changes Associated with Blast Transformation	
1.2 Prognosis, Course, and Causes of Death	9
1.3 Detection	
1.4 Treatment	12
1.4.1 Busulfan (1,4-dimethanesulfonyloxybutane)	12
1.4.2 Hydroxyurea	
1.4.3 Interferon-α	14
1.4.4 Allogenic Transplantation Therapy for CML	15
1.4.5 Autologous Transplantation Therapy for CML	15
1.5 Cytokinetic Abnormalities	

	1.6	The Mo	lecular Basis of Bcr-abl Oncogenicity	
		1.6.1	Normal and Oncogenic Characteristics of c-Abl	21
		1.6.2	Structure-Function Analysis of Bcr and Abl Motifs Inv	olved
			in Transformation	
	1.7	The Infl	uence of Bcr-abl on Signal Transduction Pathways	37
		1.7.1	Bcr-abl and the Ras Pathway	39
		1.7.2	Bcr-abl and the Phophatidylinositol 3'-kinase Pathway	
		1.7.3	Bcr-abl and Cytokine Signaling Pathways	
	1.8	Inhibitio	on of Apoptosis by Bcr-abl	
	1.9	Bcr-abl -	- Induced Cell Adhesion Defects	51
	1.10	Bcr-abl a	and the Induction of Cell Proliferation	56
	1.11	Genomia	c Instability in Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia	59
	1.12	Project 1	Rationale	64
-Ma	iterial	s and Mo	ethods	70

	erials and miethods
	2.1 Animals
	2.2 Expansion of Replicating Cell Pool in vivo
	2.3 Southern Blot Analysis
	2.4 Northern Blot Analysis
	2.5 Western Blot Analysis of P190Bcr-abl Expression
:	2.6 Determination of Cell-cycle Distribution by BrdU and Propidium Iodide

...

labeling	75
2.7 Quantitative Assay and Morphological Determination of Apoptosis	77
2.8 DNA Extraction and Mutagenesis Assay	80
2.9 DNA Sequence Analysis and Mutational Spectrum	82
2.10 Statistical Analysis	85

III- Results	
3.1	Mice Genotyping
	3.1.1 P190Bcr-abl and P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue Mice
	3.1.2 p53 ^{-/-} Mice
3.2	Confirming Pre-Leukemic Status of P190Bcr-abl Mice
3.3	Cell-cycle Arrest in Cells from Pre-Leukemic P190Bcr-abl Mice90
	3.3.1 Cell-cycle Regulation in Bone Marrow Cells from G-CSF Treated
	Mice
	3.3.2 Cell-cycle Regulation in Bone Marrow Cells
	from IL-2 Treated Mice96
	3.3.3 Cell-cycle Regulation in Spleen Cells from IL-2 and α CD3 Treated
	Mice
3.4	p21 ^{WAF1/CIP1} Induction
3.5	Apoptosis in Pre-Leukemic P190Bcr-abl Mice
3.6	Generation of P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue Mice

3.7	Mutant Frequency in Pre-Leukemic P190 Bcr-abl and Normal Mice 115
3.8	Bcr-abl expression in Pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl Mice
3.9	Mutational Spectrum
VI- Discussi	on
V- Conclus	ion
Claims to Or	iginality
References .	

Index of Figures

Figure 1	Schematic representation of possible Bcr-abl fusion products	2
Figure 2	Structural characteristics of Abl and Bcr	22
Figure 3	The regulation of c-Abl function	25
Figure 4	The role of c-Abl in preserving genomic integrity of cells	29
Figure 5	Bcr-abl exerts its oncogenic effect by influencing several	
	biological processes	38
Figure 6	In vivo measurement of mutation frequencies in Bcr-abl	
	transgenic mice	69
Figure 7	P190Bcr-abl and p53 ^{-/-} genotyping	71
Figure 8	Summary of cell cycle regulation experiments	76
Figure 9	Summary of apoptosis experiments	78
Figure 10	Summary of mutant frequency experiments	81
Figure 11	Primers utilized to investigate the presence of mutations in Lacl	
	from blue mutant plaques	84
Figure 12	Mice genotyping	87
Figure 13	Morphological analysis of bone marrow and peripheral blood	
	smears of P190Bcr-abl mice	89
Figure 14	Flow cytometric analysis of cell cycle response in bone marrow	
	cells from mice treated with G-CSF	92

Figure 15	Cell cycle regulation in bone marrow cells following irradiation	
	(2 Gy) in G-CSF treated mice	93
Figure 16	Flow cytometric analysis of bone marrow cells following high	
	dose irradiation in G-CSF treated mice	94
Figure 17	Cell cycle regulation in bone marrow cells following a high	
	dose of irradiation (6 Gy) in G-CSF treated mice	95
Figure 18	Flow cytometric analysis of bone marrow cells after irradiation	
	in mice stimulated with IL-2	97
Figure 19	Cell cycle regulation in bone marrow cells following irradiation	
	of IL-2 treated mice	98
Figure 20	Flow cytometric analysis of spleen cells from IL-2 and $\alpha CD3$	
	treated mice	100
Figure 21	Cell cycle regulation in spleen cells following irradiation of	
	IL-2 and α CD3 treated mice	101
Figure 22	The induction of P21 ^{WAF-1/CIP1} in lung and spleen	103
Figure 23	The induction of P21 ^{WAF-1/CIP1} in kidney	104
Figure 24	Increase in the level of apoptosis in bone marrow cells	
	following irradiation	106
Figure 25	Increase in the level of apoptosis in spleen cells following	
	irradiation	107
Figure 26	Increase in level of apoptosis in spleen and bone marrow cells	
	from irradiated leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice	108

Figure 27	Apoptosis in bone marrow and spleen cells	109
Figure 28	Response to apoptosis following irradiation of tumor tissue	
	from leukemic mice	111
Figure 29	Irradiation-induced apoptotic structures in bone marrow cells	
	from normal mice	112
Figure 30	Irradiation-induced apoptotic structures in bone marrow cells	
	from P190Bcr-abl mice	113
Figure 31	Mutant frequency in kidney and spleen tissues from	
	P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue and Normal/Big Blue mice	117
Figure 32	P190Bcr-abl expression in mouse tissue	120
Figure 33	Analysis of mutant bacteriophages	122
Figure 34	Mutation spectrum in <i>lac1</i> from PL P190Bcr-abl and tumor	123
	tissue	

Index of Tables

Table 1	Mutant frequencies in <i>lacl</i> from spleens and kidneys of PL	
	P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue and normal mice	116
Table 2	Mutant frequencies in tumors from leukemic	
	P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice	118
Table 3	Mutational spectrum in PL P190Bcr-abl spleens and kidneys,	
	and tumor tissues from leukemic mice	118
Table 4	The position of mutations in <i>lacI</i>	124

Abreviation List

3BP-1:	3 binding protein-1
32Dcl3:	Mouse myeloid cell line
Abi-1:	Mouse abl-interactor
Abi-2:	Human abl-interactor
Abl:	Abelson
ALL:	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia
AT:	Ataxia telangiestacia
ATM:	product of the gene mutated in Ataxia telangiectasia
BAF3:	Bone marrow-derived murine IL-3 dependant pro-B cell line
BCA:	Bicinchonic acid
Bcl:	B cell lymphoma
BFU-E:	Blast froming units-erythroid
bp:	base pair
BrdU:	Bromodeoxyuridine
BSA:	Bovine serum albumine
c-Abl:	Ceilular abelson
c-Cbl:	Cellular homologue of v-abl (Cas NS-1 retroviral induced pre-B lymphoma)
c-jun:	Protein member of AP1 transcription factor complex (Avian sarcoma virus 17)
c-Kit:	Tyrosine kinase receptor that binds Steel factor
CBC:	Cell blood count
Cdc2:	Cell division cycle 2 protein
Cdk:	Cyclin-dependant kinase
cDNA:	Complementary deoxynucleotidyl acid
CFU-GM:	Colony forming unit-granulocyte monocytes
CFU:	Colony forming unit

CML:	Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia
Co:	Cobalt
CrK:	Adaptor protein with SH2 and SH3 domains but no catalytic domains
CSF-1:	Colony stimulating factor
CT:	calcitonin
CTD:	Carboxy-terminal domain
Cyt-c:	Cytochrome c
DA-1:	IL-3 dependant murine myeloid progenitor cell line
DFF:	DNA fragmentation factor
DNA-PK:	DNA dependant protein kinase
DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
E. coli:	Escherichia coli
ECL:	Enhanced chemiluminescence system
ECM:	Extracellular matrix
EDTA:	Ethylenedinitro tetraacetic acid
EGF:	Epithelial growth factor
EGTA:	Ethelenebis(oxyethylenenitrilo)tatraacetic acid
EPO:	Erythropoietin
F ₁ :	First generation mice
F-actin:	Filamentous actin
FACS:	Fluorescence-activated cell sorter
FAK:	Focal adhesion kinase
Fas:	(or CD95) A 45 kDa glycoprotein belonging to the tumor necrosis factor
	(TNF) receptor family
FICT:	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
FISH:	Fluorescent in situ hybridization
FN:	Fibronectin

fos:	Protein member of AP1 transcription factor complex (FBJ osteosarcoma)
Fps/Fes:	Cytoplasmic protein kinase that phosphorylate tyrosine residues (Fujinami
	avian sarcoma and feline sarcoma)
GADD45:	Growth arrest and DNA damage gene
G-CSF:	granulocyte colony stimulating factor
GAP:	GTPase-activating protein
GEF:	Guanine nucleotide exchange factor
GM-CSF:	Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor
GTBP	G/T binding protein
GTP:	Guanosine tri-phosphate
GVDH:	Graft-versus-host disease
Gy:	Gray
HL60:	A promyelocytic cell line derived from patients with acute promytelocytic
	leukemia
HLA:	Human leukocyte antigen
HLH:	Helix-loop-helix domain
HNPCC:	Hereditary non polyposis colorectal cancer
HZ2-FSV:	Hardy-Zuckerman-2 feline sarcoma virus
IFN-α:	Interferon α
IGF2:	Insulin growth factor II gene
II-2:	Interleukin 2
II-3:	Interleukin 3
JAK:	Janus kinase
JNK:	Jun kinase
K562:	Erythromyeloid cell line derived from a CML patient and positive for p210Bcr-
	abl
L:	Leukemic
LacI:	E coli gene coding for a repressor that binds to the lactose operon

xiii

LacZ:	<i>E coli</i> gene coding for β -galactosidase activity and regulated by LacI
LAP:	Leukocyte alkaline phosphatase
LFA-3:	Lymphocyte fraction-associated antigen
LIZ:	Chromosomally-integrated λ bacteriophage shuttle vector
LOH:	Loss of heterozygosity
LOI:	Loss of imprinting
LZ:	Leucine-zipper domain
M-bcr:	Major break cluster region
m-bcr:	minor break cluster region
MAP:	Mitogen activated protein
MAPK:	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MCF-7:	Breast adenocarcinoma cell line with epithelial-like morphology
MEK:	MAP or extracellular-regulated kinase
MEM:	Eagle Modified Medium
MHC:	Major histocompatibility complex
MIP-la:	Macrophage inflamatory protein 1a
MMR:	Mismatch repair
MO7e:	Human cytokine-dependant human myeloid cell line with a megakaryoblastic
	phenotype
mRNA:	Messenger ribonucleic acid
myc:	Transcription factor (Avian MC29 myelocytomastosis)
NF-ĸb:	Nuclear factor activates κ -immunoglobulin genes in B lymphocytes
NLS:	Nuclear localization signal
ODNS:	Oligodeoxynucleotides
p53+/-:	p53 heterozygote null mice
p53-/-:	p53 homogygote null mice
p62 ^{dok} :	Protein 62 downstream of tyrosine kinases

P95 ^{vav} :	A protein with signal transduction and transcription regulation characteristics
PARPS:	Adenine diphosphate [ADP]-ribose polymerase
PBS:	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR:	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF:	Platelet derived growth factor
pfu:	Plaque forming units
PH:	Plekstrin homology
Ph:	Philadelphia Chromosome
PI3-K:	Phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase
PI:	Propidium iodide
PL:	Pre-leukemic
PMSF:	Phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride
PolII-neo:	A polII fragment containing a neomyecin resistance gene
PVDF:	Polyvinylidene fluoride
Ras:	Guanine nucleotide binding protein with GTPase activity
Rb:	Retinoblastoma protein
RelA:	Avian reticuloendotheliosis
rhSF:	Recombinant human steel factor
RNA:	Ribonucleic acid
ROS:	Reactive oxygen species
RT-PCR:	Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
RTK:	Receptor tyrosine kinase
SCID:	Sever combined immuno-deficiency
SDS:	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SH1.2.3:	Src-homology domains
Sos:	Son-of-sevenless has ras-specific GEF activity
Src:	Cytoplasmic protein kinase that phosphorylate tyrosine residues (Rous avian

sarcoma)

STAT:	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
TdT:	Terminal deoxynucleotide transferase
TE:	Tris-EDTA
U-937:	A cell line derived from a human histiocytic lymphoma exhibiting monocyte-
	like characteristics
v-Abl:	Viral abelson
WBC:	White blood cell
X-gal:	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indol-B-galactosidase
µ-bcr:	Third break cluster region in Bcr-abl

Acknowledgments

This work was realized with the help of a number of individuals to whom I shall be eternally grateful. First, and foremost, my parents have been an arch of blessing and support to whom I cling in moments of need. Their unconditional love and support as well as their encouragement "to dream and to reach high" will forever mark my life.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Pierre Laneuville, for accepting me as a graduate student in his laboratory and for providing me with guidance and support. Through the years, Dr. Laneuville, encouraged me to pursue my own ideas and was very patient and supportive especially when obstacles were encountered. I would like to thank Dr. Laneuville's collaborators, Drs. John Groffen and Nora Heisterkamp at the Children's Hospital, UCLA for developing and providing the P190Bcr-abl transgenic mouse. This work would not have been possible without the help of Ian Vowles and co-workers in Dr. Allan Peterson's laboratory especially the "mouse experts" Irene Tretjakoff and Sue Albrechtson. I would like to thank Giovana Micelli from nuclear medicine for assisting in irradiation experiments. Ken McDonald in Dr.Micheal Ratcliffe laboratory was very helpful with flow cytometry. Caroline Saucier was kind enough to assist in *lacl* mutation analysis. I would like to thank my colleagues in the molecular oncology group Naima Buchnou, Christian Maroun, and Robert Sladek for their insightful discussions. This work was made possible partly from studentship awards from the Cedar Cancer Institute and the Royal Victoria Hospital

Kaufmann Fellowship.

I would like to thank my brother, Bassel, for being such a great friend, an "organic" intellectual, and a model when it comes to dedicating one's life and career in the pursuit of truth. I would like to thank my sister, Zeina, for her continuos love and support.

Finally, I would like to convey my deepest gratitude to Brigitte Goulet for accompanying me in every stage of preparing this thesis. Her suggestions and our discussions were very helpful. Her humor was an essential ingredient in maintaining my sanity through the final stages of the work. Thank you for being from Venus.

I-Introduction

1.1 Etiology and Pathogenesis

Chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) is a clonal myeloproliferative disorder arising from the neoplastic transformation of a multipotential hematopoetic stem cell. Clinically, the disease is characterized by a massive overproduction of normal appearing yet slightly defective granulocytes. CML passes through a biphasic course consisting initially of a long preliminary period termed chronic phase and characterized by myeloid hyperplasia. This is followed by acute transformation to a blast crisis marked by an increase of cellular immaturity in either the myeloid or lymphoid compartments¹. The cytogenetic hallmark of CML is the Philadelphia (Ph) chromosome. This chromosome results from an unequal reciprocal translocation, t(9,22)(q34;q11), where most of the *c-abl* proto-oncogene (exons 2-11) situated on chromosome 9 is translocated to chromosome 22 (Fig. 1). The breakpoint on chromosome 22 is clustered around a 5.8 Kb "major break cluster region" (M-bcr) in what became known as the bcr gene. This region spans 5 exons referred to as exons b1 to b5 but better known as exons 12 to 16 of the bcr gene. This translocation results in a head-totail fusion of *c*-abl exon 2 to M-bcr exons 2 or 3 resulting in a hybrid bcr-abl gene encoding a 210 kDa (P210) fusion protein¹ (Fig.1). In Ph⁻ acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and in rare cases of CML, the bcr breakpoint is further upstream on chromosome 22 in a region referred to as m-bcr in the long intron between exons e1 and e2 resulting in the creation of a smaller 185 kDa (P185 or P190) protein² (Fig. 1). Bcr-abl fusion protein is present in



Figure 1 Schematic representation of possible Bcr-abl fusion products.

Possible breakpoint positions in *c-abl* and *c-bcr* are represented by vertical arrows. The e1a2 fusion product results in a 190 kDa protein associated with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) while the b2a2 and b3a2 products code for a 210 kDa protein mainly associated with chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML). The e19a2 fusion transcript codes for a rare 230 kDa protein associated with a disease that largely resembles a chronic neutrophilic leukemia. The breakpoint in *c-abl* usually occurs in the second intron and results in the translocation of most of the gene (exons 2-11) to chromosome 22. *c-abl* exons are designated (a) for *abl*.

nearly all CML patients and in 25% of adults and 5% of children with ALL¹. A third breakpoint region, μ -*bcr*, has been identified and lies downstream of M-*bcr*. Utilization of this breakpoint results in a large bcr-abl hybrid gene encoding a mRNA with an e19a2 junction coding for a 230 kDa protein (Fig. 1). P230Bcr-abl leukemias are rare and resemble a chronic neutrophilic leukemia rather than CML³.

The exact mechanism by which the *bcr-abl* translocation occurs is not well understood although fusion products coding for P185 and P210Bcr-abl were produced *in vitro* by subjecting myeloid cell lines to high doses of irradiation⁴. Bcr-abl translocation is of historic significance as it represents an early realization of the link between an acquired chromosomal abnormality and a specific human malignancy. This linkage permits the analysis of the effects of genomic changes on cancer initiation and progression⁵.

Clinical manifestations in CML appear years after clonal initiation. Studies on japanese survivors of the atomic bombing of Hiroshima indicate that the appearance of the first Ph⁻ cell precedes the symptomatic and clinically diagnosed stage by six years ⁶. This may suggest the requirement for additional mutations during disease progression. Utilizing age incidence data, it has been estimated that three somatic mutations are required to establish chronic phase CML ⁷.

1.1.1 Symptoms and Clinical Features of Chronic Phase CML

Typical presenting symptoms in chronic phase are fatigue, weight loss, bleeding, and discomfort in the left upper abdomen attributed to splenic enlargement. Weight loss and anorexia are common but not severe. In a study involving 430 patients with CML seen at a

referral center over a 16 year period, the frequency of weight loss, sweats, and bone pain did not differ between patients in the chronic phase and those in advanced stages⁸ but treatment relieved symptoms only in chronic phase patients. Haemorrhagic symptoms such as purpura and retinal haemorrhages were also reported in some patients. Splenomegaly and purpura were the predominant abnormalities on physical examination.

Hematologic findings indicate leukocyte count is often greater than 100x10⁹/L. All stages of the neutrophilic series from immature myeloblasts to mature segmented neutrophils are usually present accompanied by distinctive peak frequencies in the segmented neutrophil and myelocyte categories⁹. The absolute number of basophils are increased early in the course of the disease. At the time of diagnosis most patients have basophilia, eosinophilia, and monocytosis. The proportion of lymphocytes in the blood with T and B cell characteristics is normal, but an abnormally high T cell to B cell ratio is found in the spleen¹⁰. In untreated patients, a progressive increase in leukocyte count is observed although in most patients no ill effects are directly attributed to the number of leukocytes present in the blood¹¹. Most patients have some degree of anemia at the time of diagnosis, and the severity of this condition is directly related to the level of leukocytosis¹².

Marrow examination reveals a hypercellular marrow with diminished fat space and an increase in the estimated number of marrow neutrophils and neutrophil precursors, as well as, megakaryocytes ¹³. Marrow analysis also reveals an increase in myeloid to erythroid ratios with the preservation of orderly neutrophil maturation in most patients. The proportion of immature to mature neutrophils is higher in patient's marrow compared to peripheral blood indicating the retention, at least in part, of the barrier to release immature cells into

circulation¹⁴. Morphological analysis using electron microscopy reveals abnormality in the neutrophilic lineage. This is thought to occur due to a faster maturation rate of the cytoplasm compared to the nucleus in a process now known as discordant maturation. This is translated morphologically in the appearance of a greater than normal number of granules in promyelocytes with immature nuclei¹⁵. Discordant maturation has been suggested as a possible mechanism underlying leukocytosis in chronic phase CML. Such an imbalanced cytoplasmic-nuclear maturation is thought to give rise to cells with a capacity for more cell divisions and a longer life span. Other functional defects in circulating neutrophils include a decrease in granule enzymes, low leukocyte alkaline phosphatase (LAP) activity, as well as defective hydrogen peroxide production in mature neutrophils¹⁶. Defects also include subnormal adhesiveness to glass, plastic, or adherent stromal surfaces¹⁷, delayed emigration to extravascular sites¹⁸, and reduced phagocytic and bacterial cytocidal activities¹⁹. Although CML cells contain normal isoforms of actin, the level of actin in CML granulocytes is low. This explains defective microfilament-dependent phenomena such as chemotaxis²⁰. CML neutrophils capable of emigrating to extravascular sites show a higher phagocytic and LAP activity when compared to CML cells trapped in circulation²¹. Prolonged intravascular circulation of CML neutrophils seems to correlate with lack of active emigration to extravascular sites suggesting a link between selectin-induced stickiness and transendothelial passage induced by integrins and considered the first step in extravascular migration²¹.

Erythrocyte development and megakaryocyte maturation are morphologically normal but occasionally morphological abnormalities such as megaloblastic erythroid maturation are observed in chronic phase CML. Extramedullary hematopoiesis involving erythroid and megakaryocytic lineages as well as the different classes of myeloid leukocytes is detected in spleen and liver of CML patients during chronic phase CML ²².

1.1.2 Cell Culture Studies

All committed hematopoietic stem cell compartments in CML are enlarged at diagnosis. Blast forming unit-erythroid (BFU-E) and colony forming unit-granulocyte-monocyte (CFU-GM) progenitors in circulating blood may increase by 180 and 9,000 folds respectivelly²³. Expansion of terminally differentiated compartments is usually restricted to the granulocyte-monocyte lineage. Compared to normal counterparts, colony forming cells in the chronic phase of CML are actively cycling. This abnormal rate of replication in CML is apparent in studies utilizing pluripotential mixed colony forming cells. Normally over 92% of such cells from normal marrow survive short term poisoning by (tritiated) ³H-thymidine indicating that most cells are in the resting phase of the cell cycle. In CML marrow, however, only 50-70% of such mixed colony forming cells survive such treatment indicating that a large proportion of pluripotential stem cells in CML are in cell cycle²⁴.

Defects in hematopoiesis are observed in CML. Neutrophils normally secrete lactoferrin which in turn inhibits the production of colony stimulating factors by monocytes and macrophages²⁵. In CML, neutrophils produce abnormally little colony inhibitory lactoferrin²⁴. Also, monocytes and macrophages in CML do not exhibit feedback regulation by prostaglandin E²⁶. This is thought to be responsible for myeloid hyperproliferation and the cyclic variations in granulocyte levels and granulocytopoiesis often observed in CML patients. CML clones also exhibit resistance to negative regulators of hematopoiesis such as macrophage inflammatory protein 1α (MIP- 1α)²⁷.

1.1.3 Changes Associated with Blast Transformation

Progression to blast crisis in CML can occurs at anytime after or concurrent with diagnosis at a rate of 10% per year. Progression towards this malignant stage is inevitable in CML regardless of previous responsiveness to chemotherapy during the chronic phase and is the cause of death in 90% of CML-related deaths²⁸. Blast crisis is further complicated by the development of multi-drug resistance in some patients where many blast cells show high levels of the multidrug transporter P-glycoprotein and thus become refractory to chemotherapeutic intervention²⁹. The majority of myeloid forms of blast crisis are refractory to conventional therapy leading to the death of patients.

The clinical, morphological, and cellular characteristics of the blast phase are very heterogeneous. In terms of cell type, myeloblasts constitute the metamorphosed blast-cell population in over half of the cases³⁰. In few cases myeloid blast crisis result from blastic transformation of promyelocytes³¹ or eosinophil progenitors³². In almost a third of the cases the blast crisis is lymphoid. In such cases blast cells are usually of B cell lineage and show lymphoid marker profile and IgG rearrangements typical of acute lymphoblastic leukemia³³. Lymphoid blast crisis with T cell phenotypes can also occur but at a much lower rate³⁴.

The lineage of the blast cell population is sometimes complex as myeloid blasts can acquire lymphoid surface markers including TdT as well as lymphoblast morphology. Also, myeloid-lymphoid mixed lineage blasts or granulocytic blast mixtures may evolve. In addition, megakaryocytic and erythroblastic transformation can occur in 20% and 10% of blast crises respectively. Such a spectrum of blast transformation is not surprising given that the blast crisis arises from a lesion established in a multipotential stem cell which can support the clonal expansion of several cell lineages. Treatment strategies are usually unchanged if blasts are derived from stem cells committed to generating myeloblasts, erythroblasts, megakaryoblasts, or mixtures of those lineages. However, if the stem cell lesion triggers a lymphoid blast crisis in CML the disease becomes more responsive to ALL type treatment³⁵.

The onset of the blast crisis may be accompanied by symptoms that resemble initial symptoms at chronic phase presentation but rapidly become more severe. These may include fever, drenching night sweats, pain from osteolytic bone lesions, malaise, anorexia, weight loss, and deep depression. Lymphoadenopathy, hemorrhages, and recurrent infections, uncommon in the chronic phase may also mark transformation to blast crisis³⁶. Presently, however, patients do not report any physical ill-being as regular laboratory analysis indicate entry into the blast crisis before the onset of such symptoms.

Hematologically and during chronic phase CML, the rank order according to cellular maturity is nearly normal in the myeloid compartment. As blast crisis sets, a growing population of arrested blast cells form rapidly and displaces the orderly ranks of maturing cell. Blasts and promyelocytes outnumber the intermediate forms; myelocytes and metamyelocytes. If patients remain untreated, a complete replacement of blood and marrow cells by myeloblasts and promyelocytes can occur. As the blast crisis progresses in the marrow, the original leukemic population may be replaced by immature cells that lack any evidence of differentiation. Such leukemic blasts freely traverse the marrow-blood barrier resulting in a similar morphological display when blood and marrow smears are compared²⁸.

1.2 Prognosis, Course, and Causes of Death

In "good risk" Ph-positive non-blastic patients, the clinical course of the disease and responsiveness to treatment are uniform. Spleen size and the percentage of circulating blasts are the best indicators of early transformation to the blast crisis. Other unfavorable predictive indicators are increased age and platelet level above 700,000/µl. Basophilia, eosinophilia, marrow blasts above 5%, and karyotypic anomalies in addition to the Ph chromosome are considered as unfavorable prognostic variables³⁷. The death rate in CML patients in the first year after diagnosis is 5% and rises to 14% in the second year. From 2-8 years after diagnosis the rate of deaths averages at 25% a year reflecting the high rate of entry into the terminal blast crisis. Most CML patients (85-90%) die of complications encountered during the blast crisis. The most common causes of death are thrombocytopenic bleeding, infection involving septicemia and pneumonia, and marrow aplasia. At a lower rate, patients may die of therapy related aplasia, infection, myocardial arrest, pulmonary fibrosis, or a combination of such complications³⁸.

1.3 Detection

Many molecular methods for the detection of Bcr-abl are available. *bcr-abl* can be detected *in situ* on chromosomes by Fluorescent In Situ Hybridization (FISH) which does not require the arrest of cells during mitosis³⁹. At a genomic DNA level and using Southern blot techniques, the translocation can be demonstrated by looking at rearrangements in the

bcr gene. Bcr-abl transcripts can be detected by Northern blots or using RT-PCR techniques which is a more sensitive assay that requires minimal amounts of RNA as a template⁴⁰.

Bcr-abl can also be detected by antibodies raised against the amino-terminus of Bcr or the the carboxy-terminus of Abl by immunoprecipitations⁴¹ or Western blots⁴².

Detection of the *bcr-abl* translocation is important diagnostically where qualitative RT-PCR is utilized to confirm the presence of the fusion transcript and the type of junctions utilized in its formation. Also following treatment, especially in the case of bone marrow transplantation, detection of the fusion product is necessary to provide an estimation of the number of bcr-abl transcripts present in order to evaluate the presence of minimal residual leukemia. For such an estimation quantitative RT-PCR is utilized where the patients cDNA is co-amplified with a series of known amounts of an artificial cDNA. The competition between the two cDNA templates for the primers and other PCR reagents is a measure of the relative proportion of each cDNA in the reaction. The reaction where equal amounts of PCR products are produced is termed the equivalence point and indicates the amount of bcr-abl transcripts in the patient's sample. In most cases CML cells carry the b2a2 or b3a2 (Fig. 1) junction although in few cases (5-10%) both b2a2 and b3a2 can be formed by alternative splicing⁴³.

Atypical bcr-abl transcripts are sometimes encountered in CML patients. Transcripts where *abl* exon a3, instead of a2, is fused to *bcr* exons b3 or b2 resulting in a smaller PCR product amplifying shorter transcripts⁴⁴. Other atypical transcripts observed contain e1a2 junction and in rare cases an e6a2 junction ^{40;45}. The presence of atypical transcripts in CML

has important implications. First, as all the fusion transcripts are in frame, a functional fusion protein is expressed, which maintain an oncogenic characteristic as all those patients have CML. Second, the presence of atypical transcripts can result in false negative diagnosis if inappropriate primers are used. Atypical transcripts in CML can result in an altered disease profile as observed in rare cases of CML involving the minor breakpoint cluster region (m*bcr*) of the *bcr* gene producing a P190Bcr-abl product. In such patients monocytosis is observed accompanied by a low neutrophil to monocyte ratio⁴⁵.

An important point in *bcr-abl* cytogenetics worth considering is the frequency by which this anomaly occurs. Experimental reconstruction of the fusion protein has been reported in non CML cell lines by high doses of X-irradiation⁴. Bcr-abl fusion proteins resulting from such experiments were not all functional as both in-frame and out of frame transcripts were produced. Using sensitive methods of detection, it has been reported that *bcr-abl* expression can be detected at a level as low as 1 to 10 transcripts per 10⁸ cells in normal individuals⁴⁶. This suggests that *bcr-abl* translocation and perhaps other translocations are continuously formed in the marrow and blood of normal individuals, only when the correct fusion protein is formed in the appropriate primitive hematopoietic progenitor cell that cell gains a proliferative advantage and may give rise to a malignant clone.

In addition to the Bcr-abl fusion protein, the t(9;22) translocation gives rise to a reciprocal *abl-bcr* hybrid gene that has been previously shown to be expressed in about two thirds of CML patients. Transcripts are the product of fusion between one of the first *abl* alternative exons usually exon 1b and *bcr* exons b3 or b4⁴⁷. Although the junctions of the

abl-bcr transcripts are in frame allowing for the translation of a functional Abl-bcr protein, the presence of such a protein has been hard to demonstrate in cells from CML patients. An interesting feature of the Abl-bcr fusion protein is that it will contain the carboxy-terminal *bcr* sequences that code for a racGAP domain⁴⁸ (Fig. 2), fused to *abl* amino-terminal sequences which may contain a myristoylation sequences that can relocate the fusion protein to the cell membrane. Abl-bcr has the potential of affecting the regulation of the small GTP binding protein, Rac, which is involved cytoskeletal organization, cell adhesion⁴⁹, and the oxidative respiratory processes of neutrophils⁵⁰. However, it is unlikely that the *abl-bcr* gene is involved in CML given that it is not expressed in 40% of patients.

1.4 Treatment

In the chronic phase of CML, therapy is directed towards reducing the proliferating myeloid mass and relieve complications created by hyperleukocytosis, thrombocytosis, and splenomegaly. Such strategy is successful in most patients who are at the chronic phase during presentation. Granulocyte counts can be reduced to normal levels utilizing cytotoxic drugs or biologic modifiers. However, none of those treatments eradicate the clonal founder cells. As CML is not chemo-curable, such treatments improve the patients' quality of life but do not represent a curative therapy⁵¹.

1.4.1 Busulfan (1,4-dimethanesulfonyloxybutane)

Although rarely used now, for several decades this alkylating agent has been the treatment of choice for the chronic phase of CML. Busulfan can control CML-related symptoms for 3 months or more in most patients. Treatment results in a drop in the white
blood cell count accompanied by reduction in spleen size and a general feeling of well-being. Leukocyte doubling time is usually an indication of whether treatment should be discontinued⁵². Unfortunately, with each relapse of the disease the leukocyte doubling time becomes shorter and leukemic repopulation rates accelerates reaching a peak during blast crisis transformation where the leukemic clone may double in total mass every 2 days⁵³. Busulfan has several drastic side effect which heralds careful monitoring during administration. Busulfan depresses platelet counts, can cause pulmonary fibrosis, and in patients receiving prolonged treatment can cause cellular atypia leading to the deterioration of the marrow micro-environment. Following blast crisis transformation busulfan treatment is discontinued for its ineffectiveness towards leukemic blasts but also its selective targeting of the remaining normal hematopoiesis⁵².

1.4.2 Hydroxyurea 54

The ribonucleotide reductase inhibitor is a cell cycle-specific antagonist of DNA synthesis during S phase. Hydroxyurea seems to be more effective in sustaining remission during the chronic phase when compared to Busulfan. Hydroxyurea is also superior to busulfan in that it can be used to treat the blast crisis, is more toxic to CML cells than normal cells, and suppresses early blast expansion. In chronic phase, hydroxyurea results in the reduction of leukemic cells as well as a drop in white blood cells. Hydroxyurea, however, is incapable of inducing cytogenetic remission and therefore similar to most chemotherapeutic agents it cannot prevent or control myeloid blast crisis in CML .

1.4.3 Interferon-a⁵⁵

Recombinant interferon (IFN)- α can greatly modulate the course of the disease in some patients. IFNa possesses pleiotropic activities including anti-viral and antiproliferative abilities. INF- α stimulates the expression of 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase which in turn can activate Rnases which can specifically target and degrade mRNAs of growth promoting genes. IFN- α induces degradation of growth factor mRNAs and interferes with the proliferation of actively cycling stem cells and progenitors such as those encountered in patients with hematologic malignancies. The molecular basis of $INF-\alpha$ in treating CML, however, seems to be related to its effect on cell adhesion. Bcr-abl is suspected to alter the β -1 integrin function, rendering CML clones defective in adhesion to the stroma. INF- α has been shown to correct this defect in vitro⁵⁶. In newly diagnosed chronic phase CML patients, IFN-a treatment results in complete or partial hematologic remission in 31% to 81% of cases, a major cytogenetic response (>65% Ph⁻) in 10% to 38% of cases, and complete cytogenetic response (100% Ph⁻) in 7% to 26% of cases. CML patients experiencing a major or complete remission have a longer survival term than patients with no cytogenetic remission. However, IFN-a therapy does not appear to be a cure for CML. Sensitive molecular genetical examination of the marrow of complete cytogenetic responders (100% Ph) reveals the presence of the *bcr-abl* translocation. INF- α treatment results in adverse side effects which requires the discontinuation of therapy in 15%-25% of patients and its reduction in 30%-50% of patients.

1.4.4 Allogenic Transplantation Therapy for CML⁵⁷

Although few patients qualify, allogenic bone marrow transplantation remains the only known curative treatment modality for CML. Patients in the chronic phase of the disease who receive human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-matched sibling donor transplant have up to 45-70% probability of long-term disease-free survival. Patients transplanted in more advanced stages of the disease have a 15-40% probability of disease free survival. Transplants from matched unrelated donors have also been shown to be successful in some CML patients especially with the advent of methods aimed at improving donor-recipient major histocompatibility complex (MHC) matching. Also alternative sources of allogenic stem cells for transplantation such as peripheral blood progenitor cells and umbilical cord blood cells are being developed. Nevertheless, many CML patients are not eligible for allogenic transplantation as suitable donors are not available or because of the advanced age of the patients. Allogenic transplantations, especially from unrelated donors, may be sometimes accompanied by life-threatening conditions such as infections and acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease (GVHD). Clinical relapses, some occurring as late as 5-10 years after transplantation, may also occur.

1.4.5 Autologous Transplantation Therapy for CML 58

As most CML patients are not suitable for allogenic transplantation and only few of those treated with IFN- α can expect a longer survival term, autologous transplantation is emerging as an alternative therapy for CML. The existence of benign hematopoietic progenitors, naturally or induced by treatment, alongside leukemic counterparts in the

marrow of CML patients formed the basis of autologous transplantation in CML. Such therapy is still largely experimental and involves the recovery of benign progenitors from marrow or peripheral blood of the patient which is then used to reconstitute hematopoiesis.

A study involving 21 chronic phase CML patients transplanted with autologous peripheral blood mononuclear cells demonstrated that the five years survival of autografted patients was significantly higher compared to 636 aged matched controls treated with conventional chemotherapy. Of the 21 patients, 9 exhibited some degree of Phhematopoiesis including two patients who achieved complete Ph⁻ hematopoiesis late after transplantation. In another study from autografting in 49 CML patients in the chronic phase, engraftment was faster when peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNC) were transplanted compared to marrow. Out of 34 evaluable patients, 15 had a major cytogenetic response (>65% Ph⁻) and 10 had a complete cytogenetic response which lasted for 6 month to 3 years after transplantation. Numerous studies suggest that autologous transplantation is associated with an increase in survival when compared to conventional therapy especially in patients in the chronic phase of the disease. Data from a study following 200 autotransplanted CML patients at different stages of the disease and involving eight different transplant centers in Europe and North America was recently reported. The probability of survival at four years for 141 patients with chronic phase CML was 66%, suggesting that autotransplantation may result in an increase in survival when compared to conventional chemotherapy treatment. Also, patients in the chronic phase of the disease when receiving autotransplantation had an improved survival rate compared to patients in the accelerated phase or in the blast crisis. The same study also concluded that shorter time intervals from

diagnosis to transplantation and younger age of recipient are favorable variables for a successful autologous transplantation.

Most patients who successfully receive autologous transplantation therapy experience cytogenetic or hematologic relapse indicating that such a procedure is not curative and improved survival is probably due to reduction rather than elimination of the malignant progenitors after autografting. Such a scenario favors the reduction of the malignant clone from transplant material by *ex vivo* purging to increase the efficacy of the transplant. Many methods for *ex vivo* treatment of autologous transplant material have been developed. In one study, marrow from CML patients was treated with cyclophosphamide derivatives (4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide) that selectively exert a killing effect on Ph⁻ progenitors and increase Ph⁻ stroma-adherent progenitors. Successful engraftment of marrow treated *ex vivo* using this method was observed in 10 patients, 5 of which were in the chronic phase of the disease and the other five in the advanced stage. Marrow recovered after transplantation showed complete cytogenetic remission (100% Ph⁻) in 6 out of 9 evaluable patients.

Other groups have utilized chemotherapy to induce Ph⁻ hematopoiesis before collecting marrow or peripheral blood for autografting. In one study from the Swedish CML group, newly diagnosed CML patients were treated with IFN- α and Hydroxyurea for at least 6 month. Fifteen patients were autografted when in full cytogenetic remission while 3 were in partial remission. Nine out of 16 evaluable patients were Ph⁻ following transplantation suggesting that intensive chemotherapeutic treatment reduces the Ph⁻ clone in CML and that autografting can result in Ph⁻ hematopoiesis. Unfortunately, cytogenetic remission after autologous transplantation is not durable and Ph⁻ cells can be detected within the first year following transplantation. The relapse might be the caused by the persistence of leukemic cells in the autologous material used for transplantation, or the persistence of such cells in systemic tissue following intensive chemotherapy treatment in preparation for transplantation. More ambitious attempts are underway for graft purging including using antisense oligodeoxynucleotides directed at the breakpoint junction of bcr-abl mRNA, ribozymes that bind to and cleave sites on bcr-abl mRNA, and Bcr-abl specific tyrosine kinase inhibitors.

1.5 Cytokinetic Abnormalities

Electron microscopic studies have demonstrated evidence of asynchrony in maturation between the cytoplasm and the nucleus of CML cells whereby the cytoplasm mature more rapidly than the nucleus⁵⁹. As a result of such a discordant development it seems that CML cells go through one or more divisions when passing through intermediate and later maturation compartments compared to normal progenitor cells. Also, maturing CML granulocytes seem to live longer than normal counterparts resulting in the expansion of the leukemic population mostly in the later stages of maturation⁶⁰. This has detrimental effects on normal hematopoiesis in that once the normal cell density in the marrow is exceeded, normal stem cells are suppressed⁶⁰. Numerous cytokinetic studies have shown that in the chronic phase of CML, the leukemic precursors have lower mitotic indices, a lower proportion of cells in the S phase of the cell cycle, longer generation times, slower emergence times of the maturing cells, and longer transit times in the different maturation

compartments compared to normal counterparts⁶¹. Even though there is an increase in the number of committed myeloid precursors or colony forming unit cells (CFUs) in CML patients compared to CFUc in normal individuals, the proportion of such cells in the S phase of the cell cycle is half in CML patients compared to normal individuals. The slower proliferative rate of CML intermediate level precursors (CFUc, blasts, and promyelocytes) is usually attributed to the high cell density of CML marrow which reaches three fold or greater than in normal individuals. Although CML cells always show a tendency towards progressive expansion, untreated patients exhibit stable white blood cell (WBC) counts as well as a normal spleen size for several month. This demonstrates that CML cells are still responsive to feed back mechanisms whilst at a higher cell level than in marrows of normal individuals ⁶².

Spontaneous and treatment-induced cyclic oscillations of blood granulocytes as well as longer duration of the cell cycle are observed in CML patients favoring the model by which granulocytic expansion in CML occurs by progenitor cells undergoing additional divisions while passing through later maturation compartments⁶³. Mature granulocytes in chronic phase CML have been shown to have a slower rate of disappearance from the blood compared to normal mature granulocytes. This may be attributed to an intrinsic abnormal characteristic of CML cells, allowing them to have an extended life span as well as an increase in granulocyte production in CML⁶⁴. Extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen, which normally does not occur after birth, is prominent in CML. This causes the spleen of CML patients to increase from a normal 150 g to 1-5 kg consisting largely of leukemic cells. In some patients with an extensive splenic involvement, the majority of immature circulating granulocytes may originate from the spleen⁶⁵. The long preclinical course of CML also supports a model by which leukemic cells appear to have only a relatively marginal proliferative advantage over normal cells. It has been calculated that only 41 to 42 doublings are required for the Ph⁻ clone to reach several trillions or more cells which are present when the disease is diagnosed⁶⁶. At the time of diagnosis normal cells are still present in the marrow of CML patients but are dominated by the leukemic population from which the majority of dividing cells in the marrow is derived⁶⁷. Following treatment, the normal stem cell population expands again and produces normal mature cells. However the leukemic population increases in size again and suppresses normal hematopoiesis⁶⁰.

A mathematical model comparing normal and leukemic granulocytopoiesis has been described^{60: 63}. This model took advantage of short-term culturing of core bone marrow biopsies obtained from normal individuals and patients in the chronic phase of CML to compare the growth characteristics of normal and leukemic progenitors. These studies have concluded that in granulopoiesis a large proportion of CML progenitors show reduced proliferative potential. This is caused by the fact that fewer recycle as primitive progenitors compared to normal counterparts probably due to the premature cytoplasmic maturation they exhibit. On the other hand, slow nuclear maturation leads to the expansion of granulocytic population by enabling the Ph⁻ granulocyte progenitors to undergo a few additional divisions when passing through intermediate and later maturation compartments as well as perhaps by increasing the life span of the maturing Ph⁻ granulocytes. The proliferative rate of CML granulocyte progenitors is comparable or even slower than normal counterparts resulting in a slow expansion of the CML population over several years to reach a population that will

lead to symptomatic disease.

1.6 The Molecular Basis of Bcr-abl Oncogenicity

The Bcr-abl tyrosine kinase contains a number of functional domains which suggests its ability to affect different growth regulatory pathways in order to exert its oncogenic potential. The *in vivo* role of such domains and their contribution in transformation largely depend on the assay preformed. For example, Tyrosine 177 in the Bcr sequences of the fusion protein (Fig. 2) is indispensable for transformation of Rat-1/*myc* fibroblasts ⁶⁹ but is not required for the transformation of bone marrow cells ⁷⁰. The Src-homology (SH) domain 2 of Abl in Bcr-abl is required for the transformation of both Rat-1/*myc* cells and bone marrow cells, but is not required for the abrogation of IL-3 dependence⁷¹. Both forms of Bcr-abl (P190 and P210) exhibit an increase in tyrosine kinase activity by the Abl moiety of the fusion protein. This tyrosine kinase activity is essential in all *in vitro* transformation assays such as morphological transformation of rodent fibroblasts ⁷², the abrogation of interleukin-3 dependence⁷³, and the induction of long-term survival of bone marrow cells in culture ⁷⁴.

1.6.1 Normal and Oncogenic Characteristics of c-Abl

An important factor in Bcr-abl oncogenesis is the disruption of the normal function of c-Abl. The *c-abl* gene was originally defined as the cellular homolog of the *v-abl* oncogene residing in the transforming retrovirus the Abelson murine leukemia virus. The p145C-Abl



Figure 2 Structural characteristics of Abl and Bcr.

Critical structural features of Abl are shown and include the Src-homology domains SH1,2, and 3, a nuclear localization signal (NLS), a nuclear export signal (NES), a DNA binding domain (BD), and an actin binding domain. In Bcr the amino most terminal region functions as a dimerization domain (DD) followed by an ATP binding site, a critical tyrosine (Y) at amino acid 177 that binds SH2 domains when phosphorylated, a stretch of phospho serine and threonine residues that exhibit SH2 binding, a Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor (Rho-GEF) homology domain, and a Rac-GTPase activating protein (Rac-GAP) domain. Numerical indications correspond to amino acid residues. The break points for the Bcr-abl translocation are indicated by vertical arrows.

cellular homologs of *v-abl* have been cloned in human, mouse, fruit fly, and nematode. The abl family of genes all encode intracellular tyrosine kinases and share several common features with the Src family members including amino terminus myristoylation site and the arrangement of the SH domains 3, 2, and 1 which codes for the tyrosine kinase catalytic function (Fig.2). The Abl family is distinctive, however, in that it has a large carboxyterminal segment beyond the kinase domain that shows weak conservation between the different family members. This unique carboxyl- terminal domain encoded by a single exon contains several structural and functional sequences including a nuclear localization signal (NLS), proline-rich sequences that can bind SH-3 domain-containing proteins, a DNA binding domain, and an actin-binding domain (Fig. 2). Although c-Abl cannot select DNA sequences to which it binds, it can be recruited to specific protein-DNA complexes through protein-protein interaction. By direct interaction with RB, c-Abl is recruited to the transcription factor E2F-DNA complexes⁷⁵. Recently, c-Abl was found to contain a functional nuclear export signal enabling it to shuttle between the cytoplasm and the nucleus⁷⁶. This shuttling of c-Abl between the nucleus and the cytoplasm is an important regulatory property of the tyrosine kinase as will be discussed later. Serine and threonine sequences within the carboxyl-terminal domain are phosphorylated by cdc2 kinase as well as by protein kinase C^{77} .

Members of the Abl family are thought to be indispensable for the viability of postembryonic organisms. *c-abl* knock-out mice have high frequency of neonatal lethality with the survivors showing defects in B and T cell development, developmental abnormalities in the spleen, cranium, and eye, and a high susceptibility to infections⁷⁸. This suggests that *c-abl* plays an important role in the development of lymphocytes. Another type of transgenic mice for *c-abl* has been reported. Those mice are homozygous for a truncation mutant which disrupts the 3' exon coding for the large carboxyl-terminal segment but retain the tyrosine kinase function and result in a similar phenotype as *c-abl* knock-out mice indicating the importance of the long carboxyl- terminus in the function of *c-abl*⁷⁹.

The tyrosine kinase activity of c-Abl is believed to be tightly regulated in vivo. Overexpression of c-Abl does not lead to transformation but rather to cell cycle arrest. However when altered forms of c-Abl are over-expressed cell transformation accompanied by elevated tyrosine kinase activity ensues. Oncogenic forms of *c-abl* exhibit a constitutively activated tyrosine kinase function and result from structural alterations in the amino or carboxylterminal sequences. Whereas normal c-Abl is found both in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm, where it is associated to the plasma membrane or bound to actin filaments, oncogenic forms of c-Abl are found exclusively in the cytoplasm⁷⁷. The kinase activity of nuclear c-Abl is regulated during cell cycle progression⁸⁰ (Fig. 3). In quiescent and G₁ cells, nuclear c-Abl is kept in an inactive state by the tumor suppressor retinoblastoma (RB) protein that binds to the tyrosine kinase domain. The interaction between c-Abl and RB results in loss of c-Abl kinase activity⁸⁰. Phosphorylation of RB at G₁/S by cyclin dependent kinases releases c-Abl from the complex leading to the activation of its kinase activity. The active nuclear c-Abl kinase can then modulate transcription by phosphorylating the carboxyl-terminal repeated domain (CTD) of RNA polymerase II^{81.}

The cytoplasmic pool of c-Abl is not regulated by cell-cycle progression. Cytoplasmic c-Abl is active both in G_0/G_1 and S phase cells and this activity seems to depend



Figure 3 The regulation of c-Abl function.

The activity of c-Abl is regulated in a cell cycle dependent manner. Phosphorylation of pRb at G_1/S frees Abl which can phosphorylate substrates involved in gene expression. The phosphorylation of c-

Abl by cdc2 at mitosis leads to its dissociation from DNA. An alternative mechanism of c-Abl regulation seems to involve cell adhesion. c-Abl may translocate from the nucleus following cell adhesion probably through the recently described nuclear export signal (NES) where an increase in its kinase activity is observed. The activated c-Abl can then relocalize to the nucleus through the nuclear localization signals (NLS) it posseses.

on cell adhesion to the extra cellular matrix (ECM)⁸² (Fig. 3). When fibroblasts are detached from the ECM, loss of c-Abl tyrosine kinase activity is observed and is only recapitulated by adhesion to fibronectin matrix. In such detached cells, a 3-5 fold decrease in the kinase activity of cytoplasmic c-Abl is observed. Reactivation of the kinase activity of c-Abl as a result of plating on fibronectin (FN) suggests that cytoplasmic c-Abl is regulated by cell adhesion⁸². Nuclear c-Abl showed an increase in kinase activity only after a lag phase following attachement to FN. The recovery of nuclear c-Abl kinase activity coincided with the re-entry of c-Abl to the nucleus after a transient loss from the nucleus following cell adhesion suggesting that inactive nuclear c-Abl is transported to the cytoplasm where it is reactivated by integrin-dependent signals and returns to the nucleus⁸². Translocated nuclear c-Abl has been found to localize to focal adhesions raising the possibility of a role for c-Abl in the formation of focal contacts and/or the transduction of adhesion signals and integrating those signals with cell cycle regulation. Binding of c-Abl to actin is thought to be essential for such a role as c-Abl activity is inhibited in cells treated with cytochalasin which disrupts F-actin⁷⁶.

The mechanisms by which oncogenic transformation of *c-abl* occurs are different in mouse, cat, and human. In mice *v-abl* activation requires the deletion of the SH3 domain and the fusion of viral *gag* sequences at the amino terminus⁸³. In feline, *v-abl* activation in Hardy-Zuckerman-2 Feline sarcoma virus (HZ2-FSV) requires in addition to the fusion of viral sequences, the deletion of the large carboxyl-terminal segment but the retention of the SH3 domain⁸⁴. Activation of c-Abl in humans results from the addition of Bcr sequences leading to the formation of a Bcr-abl fusion proteins^{85:86}. In humans, c-Abl is also activated by the fusion of part of Tel, a member of the *ets* family of transcription factors, upstream of c-Abl exon 2 forming a Tel-Abl fusion protein found in some patients with acute leukemia⁸⁷.

At least two possible mechanisms have been proposed to explain the tight regulation leading to the normally low level of c-Abl kinase expression. The c-Abl kinase domain is thought to be normally repressed by mechanisms that involve the SH3 domain as the deletion of such a domain leads to an increase in tyrosine kinase activity⁸⁸. Also, the deletion of the entire carboxyl-terminal segment in HZ2-FSV v-Abl leads to the activation of the kinase⁸⁴. Hence, it is proposed that a cis-inhibitory domain in the carboxyl-terminus segment may interact with SH3, locking c-Abl in an inactive conformation. In support of this model, new activating mutants in Abl randomly generated in a rodent fibroblast transformation assay, contained in frame deletions in proline-rich region located in the middle of the last exon of Abl which codes for the long carboxyl-terminal segment⁸⁹. It is possible that this region can bind in cis to the SH3 domain locking Abl in a closed conformation which will prevent the kinase domain from interacting with cellular substrates⁸⁹. However, direct binding between the Abl carboxyl-terminal and the Abl SH3 domain has not yet been clearly demonstrated.

A second trans- acting inhibitory model suggests that a trans inhibitor might interact with SH3 resulting in the blocking of the kinase activity⁹⁰. c-Abl SH3 binding proteins have been described and include 3 (binding protein) BP-1 ⁹¹ and 3 BP-2⁹². Both proteins contain a proline rich binding motif which can bind to SH3 domains. 3BP-1 shares homology with a GTPase-activating protein (GAP) domain found in rho-GAP, Bcr, and n-chimerin. However, the binding of 3BP-1 has not been shown to inhibit the tyrosine kinase activity of c-Abl and neither 3BP-1 nor 3BP-2 have been shown to interact with full length c-Abl *in* *vivo*. Two other proteins, mouse Abl-interactor (Abi) -1⁹³ and human Abi-2⁹⁴ were shown to interact with Abl carboxyl terminus of Abelson leukemia virus and human c-Abl respectively through their SH3 domains. Both are substrates for Abl tyrosine kinase domain and both can suppress the transforming activity of Abl. Abi-2 which was cloned from a human lymphocyte library can also interact with the SH3 domain of c-Abl via a proline rich region which may result in the locking of c-Abl in an inactive form. Abi-2 mutants that lack the SH-3 binding site activate the transforming activity of c-Abl in the absence of any structural alterations to c-Abl⁹⁴. The suggested inhibitory role of Abi-2 on c-Abl kinase include stabilizing the inactive form of c-Abl or blocking the access of the Abl kinase to cellular substrates. The over-expression of truncated form of Abi-2 that does not bind SH3 of Abl might convert c-Abl into a transforming protein by displacing full length Abi-2 leading to an open c-Abl conformation with free access to constitutively phosphorylate cellular substrates⁹⁴.

The SH3 domain was also found to be necessary for the inhibition of the kinase activity of c-Abl by the human proliferation-associated gene (PAG) ⁹⁵. PAG is a member of a family of proteins with antioxidant activity implicated in the cellular response to oxidative stress and control of cell proliferation and differentiation⁹⁵. Interestingly, PAG weakly inhibits the *in vitro* kinase activity of Bcr-abl which also contains the SH3 domain. The addition of Bcr sequences in the translocation may confer a conformation change rendering the SH3 domain inaccessible to PAG inhibitory effects⁹⁵.

The role of c-Abl as a negative regulator of growth ⁹⁶extends to the regulation of cell growth in response to DNA damage (Fig. 4). Wild type c-Abl, and a kinase defective c-Abl



Cell cycle arrest

Figure 4. The role of c-Abl in preserving genomic integrity of cells.

c-Abl is thought to induce cell cycle arrest as a result of DNA damage. This process is p53 dependent but does not require the presence of p21WAF-1/CIP1. c-Abl can also induce apoptosis partly by a p53 independent mechanism. c-Abl also interacts with DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) which is implicated in DNA repair. Following the induction of DNA damage, c-Abl is phosphorylated and activated by ATM and in turn can down regulate transcription by phosphorylating the carboxyl terminal domain of RNA polII.

but not a c-Abl mutant defective in p53 binding was able to activate the expression of $p21^{WAF-1/CIP1}$ in promoter transplant experiments⁹⁷. $p21^{WAF-1/CIP1}$ is an inhibitor of cyclindependent kinase 2 (Cdk2) and can arrest the cell cycle at G₁/S phase in a p53-dependent fashion following the induction of DNA damage by irradiation ⁹⁸. Cdk2 was down-regulated only in cells expressing wild type c-Abl but not with the other two mutants correlating with the ability of only wild type c-Abl to inhibit growth in fibroblast cells⁹⁷. This suggests that the kinase activity of c-Abl and the p53 binding domain are both involved in growth arrest, and that such a phenotype is not exclusively $p21^{WAF-1/CIP1}$ -dependent as the kinase inactive mutant of c-Abl was able to activate $p21^{WAF-1/CIP1}$ but did not arrest growth (Fig. 4).

Following the irradiation of fibroblast cells expressing different mutants of c-Abl, the kinase activity of c-Abl was not found to be required for transactivation of p21^{WAF-1-CIP1} and GADD45 (growth arrest and DNA damage) by p53 but was required for Cdk2 down-regulation⁹⁷. Also, wild-type c-Abl but not the kinase defective mutant was able to arrest cells at G₁ following irradiation⁹⁷. Growth arrest and the inhibition of Cdk2 activity by c-Abl were p53 dependent as no change in Cdk2 levels were observed in p53^{-/-} fibroblasts transfected with c-Abl⁹⁷. c-Abl mediated inhibition of Cdk2 activity was confirmed not to be p21^{WAF-1 CIP1} -dependent, as transfection of c-Abl into p21^{-/-} cells inhibited Cdk2. In addition to cell cycle arrest, wild type c-Abl but not a kinase defective c-Abl mutant was also found to result in apoptosis when overexpressed in the breast adenocarcinoma cell line MCF-7⁻⁹⁹. Cells expressing a dominant negative c-Abl demonstrated resistance to ionizing radiation-induced apoptosis compared to normal cells⁹⁹. The link between the c-Abl kinase and apoptosis was confirmed in that Abl^{-/-} cells were resistant to apoptosis following ionizing

radiation. However, p53 was still induced in those cells indicating that c-Abl is dispensable for the induction of p53 following the induction of DNA damage. Expression of the dominant negative mutant of c-Abl in p53^{-/-} cells lead to resistance to apoptosis following irradiation suggesting that c-Abl regulated apoptosis might be, at least in part, p53independent ⁹⁹(Fig. 4).

A direct role for c-Abl in DNA repair was suggested after an interaction between c-Abl and DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) was observed following the induction of DNA damage¹⁰⁰ (Fig. 4). DNA-PK is involved in double-strand break repair and was detected to bind c-Abl probably through the SH3 domain following induction of double strand breaks by ionizing radiation¹⁰⁰. Ku antigen is a DNA end-binding protein and transcription factor which activates DNA-PK. There was no interaction observed between Ku and c-Abl in the unirradiated human histiocytic lymphoma cell line U-937. However, following irradiation complexes containing c-Abl and Ku were detected¹⁰⁰. Induction of DNA damage by alkylating agents also resulted in promoting the interaction between DNA-PK and c-Abl. Incubation of purified heat activated c-Abl and purified DNA-PK and Ku in the presence of sonicated DNA, resulted in the phosphorylation of c-Abl on serine. The phosphorylation of c-Abl by DNA-PK lead to the increase of the kinase activity of c-Abl in vitro¹⁰⁰. In the same study c-Abl was shown to tyrosine phosphorylate DNA-PK resulting in the inhibition of DNA-PK binding to DNA and hence its down regulation. This suggests a feed-back mechanism where the accumulation of c-Abl as a result of DNA damage leads to the phosphorylation of DNA-PK resulting in the blocking of its ability to bind DNA.

c-Abl was also shown to interact with ATM, the product of the gene mutated in the

autosomal recessive disorder ataxia telangiestacia (AT). AT is a disorder with pleiotropic phenotypes including neuronal degeneration, immune dysfunction, premature ageing and a higher risk for cancer development¹⁰¹. ATM is a member of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinaselike enzymes¹⁰² that are involved in cell-cycle control¹⁰³, meiotic recombination, telomere length monitoring and DNA-damage response¹⁰⁴. AT cells have been demonstrated to be hypersensitive to radiation and defective in the G₁/S checkpoint after radiation damage, a phenotype similar to cells lacking c-Abl¹⁰⁵. ATM was shown to constitutively bind c-Abl in control cell lines but not in AT cell lines¹⁵. This interaction was confirmed to be direct by the yeast two-hybrid system and was found to occur through the SH3 region of c-Abl¹⁵. Following irradiation, an increase in c-Abl kinase activity was observed in control cells but not in AT cell lines suggesting that ATM might be involved in the activation of c-Abl by DNA damage and this interaction may in part mediate DNA damage induced G₁ arrest by c-Abl. In another study the tyrosine kinase activity of c-Abl was observed to increase when co-expressed with a functional ATM kinase domain¹⁰⁶. The carboxyl-terminal kinase domain of ATM is homologous to the kinase domains of DNA-PK, phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase, and the yeast check-point regulators MEC1, TEL1, and Rad3^{102: 107}. Most AT mutations affect the kinase domain, and the expression of a functional ATM kinase domain reverses the radiosensitivity of cells from AT patients¹⁰⁸. ATM kinase domain was found to phosphorylate c-Abl at serine 465 similar to DNA-PK. As mentioned before, the CTD of RNA polymerase II is a known substrate of the c-Abl kinase. As a result of ionizing radiation, the tyrosine phosphorylation level of RNA polymerase II increases in normal lymphoblasts but not in AT lymphoblasts. This suggests that the ATM/c-Abl pathway might

be responsible of transducing signals to RNA polymerase II and thus regulating the transcription machinery following DNA damage¹⁰⁶ (Fig. 4).

1.6.2 Structure-Function Analysis of Bcr and Abl Motifs Involved in Transformation

The activation of the Abl kinase activity in Bcr-abl is largely due to the N-terminal coiled-coil domain of Bcr^{86; 109}(Fig. 2). These bcr sequences are common to the three alternative forms of Bcr-abl, P190 or 185 Bcr-abl, P210 Bcr-abl, and the rare P230Bcr-abl. The leucine zipper of the yeast regulatory protein GCN4 was recently shown to be able to replace the Bcr coiled-coil sequences in Bcr-abl transformation assays¹¹⁰. This suggests that activation of Abl tyrosine kinase in human leukemia is caused by the clustering of kinase domains in a way similar to the ligand-mediated activation of receptor tyrosine kinases¹¹⁰. Also, Tel sequences in Tel-Abl, found in some patients with acute leukemia, code for a putative helix-loop-helix that can potentially function in a similar manner to ber in that it facilitates the oligomerization of the Abl protein⁸⁷. When transfected into IL-3 dependent hematopoietic cell lines, Tel-abl resulted in the emergence of IL-3 independent clones¹¹¹. Tel-abl expression in such cells also resulted in the phosphorylation of substrates as well as the activation of signal transduction pathways similar to that encountered after the expression of P190 and P210Bcr-abl¹¹¹. Tel-abl, similar to Bcr-abl, is localized at the cytoskeleton in transformed cells¹¹². This suggests that Bcr and Tel sequences contribute to transformation by primarily clustering the Abl kinase and ensuring its proper intracellular localization.

The smaller form of Bcr-abl associated with ALL contains an internal deletion of 501

Bcr-derived residues (Fig. 2) which seem to account for the difference between the oncogenic potential of both forms of Bcr-abl⁸⁸. While both activated tyrosine kinases can transform primary bone marrow cells, P190Bcr-abl is more potent in oncogenic transformation of hematopoietic cells than P210Bcr-abl¹¹³. Using recombinant retroviruses to express the two forms of Bcr-abl in Rat-1 fibroblasts, P190Bcr-abl was found to be more effective in eliciting transformation in those cells than P210Bcr-abl¹¹⁴. The kinase activity of both forms of Bcr-abl were compared by measuring the autophosphorylation activity of equimolar amounts of both proteins prepared by in vitro translation in reticulocyte lysate. The amount of ³²P incorporated into P190Bcr-abl was 5-10 times more than that incorporated into P210Bcr-abl although tryptic phosphopeptide maps show fewer autophosphorylation sites in P190Bcr-abl compared to P210Bcr-abl. This suggests that ³²P incorporation into equimolar samples of both proteins correspond to the number of molecules undergoing autophosphorylation and hence is a measure of the kinase activity of the proteins. In the same study the specific activity of P190Bcr-abl towards an exogenous substrate was 5 times higher than that of P210Bcr-abl. These studies suggested that the loss of the 501 additional internal Bcr-derived residues in Bcr-abl lead to a more profound Abl tyrosine kinase activity in P190Bcr-abl 114.

Recently the specific role of those variable Bcr residues was directly addressed¹¹⁰. The *bcr* gene has in its center a Dbl-homology domain which encodes a guanine nucleotide exchange factor ¹¹⁵. This Dbl domain can activate the small ras related GTP binding protein Rho ¹¹⁶. The activated Rho in turn promote the formation of F-actin stress fibers ¹¹⁷. This Dbl-homology domain is only present in the P210 form of the fusion protein but not in

P190Bcr-abl¹¹⁸ (Fig. 2) and was found to contribute to the stabilization of actin stress fibers in transformed cells¹¹⁰. The C-terminal region of the bcr gene contains an GTPase-activating function for another small GTP-binding protein, Rac, involved in cytoskeletal architecture¹¹⁹. The activation of Rac has been shown to stimulate membrane ruffling¹¹⁷, pinocytosis¹¹⁷, and play a role in ligand-mediated activation of oxidative burst in neutrophils¹²⁰. The Bcr Rac-GAP function, which is not present in either Bcr-abl fusion proteins, can therefore play a role in the down regulation of membrane ruffling and pinocytosis¹¹⁰. Expression of Bcr-abl lacking the Dbl sequences may be of clinical importance. In P210Bcr-abl-positive ALL, a disease more aggressive than CML, 100% of the P210Bcr-abl cells express P190Bcr-abl at a mean P190/P210 ratio of 2 x 10⁻³ compared to $2 \ge 10^{-4}$ in some chronic phase CML patients. The increase in P190Bcr-abl expression in P210Bcr-abl-positive ALL may explain the more aggressive form of the disease perhaps due to the lack of the Dbl homology domain leading to the disruption of the cytoskeleton¹¹⁰. These results should be viewed with caution, however, given the similar clinical history of P190⁻ and P210⁻ ALL.

The N-terminal 63 amino acids of Bcr which form the coiled-coil domain of Bcr-abl were also shown to be necessary for the binding of Bcr-abl to the actin cytoskeleton⁸⁶ (Fig. 5). The binding of Bcr-abl to the actin cytoskeleton is essential for transformation and is thought to bring Bcr-abl to the vicinity of important substrates required for transformation⁷¹. Mutations in the actin-binding domain encoded by the last 58 amino acids of Abl can also abolish transformation by Bcr-abl⁷¹.

In addition to the Dbl-homology domain, Bcr sequences in Bcr-abl which are capable

of binding the SH2 domain of Abl are also important for transformation ⁸⁵. This region lies within the Bcr first exon and is common to both P210 and P190Bcr-abl (Fig. 2). Two separate domains in this region extending from amino acids 192-242 and 298-413 are capable of binding Abl SH2 domain⁸⁵. Both of those domains are highly rich in serine/threonine residues. The binding of those two regions to Abl SH2 requires the presence of phosphoserine and phosphothreonine but not phosphotyrosine residues ⁸⁵.

Bcr-abl is capable of forming hetero-oligomers with P160Bcr via the Bcr N-terminal coiled-coil sequence ¹²¹ (Fig. 5). A mutant Bcr-abl protein which is not capable of recruiting P160Bcr shows a reduced capability of transforming fibroblasts suggesting that the recruitment of Bcr through the coiled-coil domain may augment the transformation capability of Bcr-abl¹¹⁰. It is plausible that serine and threonine residues in the SH2 binding region of Bcr may be phosphorylated by P160Bcr binding to Bcr-abl through the coiled coil domain. The mechanism by which the binding of those two domains to the SH2 domain of Abl potentiate transformation is not well understood. The binding of the Bcr residues intermolecularly and/or intramolecularly may interfere with the binding of an inhibitor to Abl regulatory domains. Alternatively, the binding of Bcr residues may induce a conformational change in the Bcr-abl leading to the augmentation of its tyrosine kinase activity¹⁰⁹. Another region in the Bcr sequences of Bcr-abl critical for transformation include a tyrosine at amino acid 177 (Fig. 2). When autophosphorylated, this tyrosine can bind the adaptor protein Grb-2 which is usually in a complex with the Ras activating guanine nucleotide exchange factor Son-of-sevenless (Sos)⁶⁹. In fibroblast cells the binding of Bcr-abl to Grb-2 is necessary for transformation and is believed to activate the mitogenic Ras-Raf-MAPKinase pathway⁶⁹

(Fig. 5).

SH1 and SH2 domains of Abl in the Bcr-abl fusion protein are essential for cell transformation and are required for substrate phosphorylation and binding to phosphotyrosine proteins respectively¹²². The SH3 domain of Abl in Bcr-abl was recently shown to affect cell-cell and cell-extracellular matrix interactions allowing for efficient lodging of leukemic cells in tissue. This correlated with a reduced ability of Bcr-abl mutants carrying a deletion in the SH3 domain to induce the expression of α^2 integrin, suggesting that wild type Bcr-abl activates the expression of α^2 integrin via proline rich proteins that normally interact with SH3 domains. In the same study the mouse myeloid cell line 32Dcl3, expressing Bcr-abl mutants lacking SH3, demonstrated a reduced ability to home into bone marrow and spleen when injected into mice. Mice injected with 32Dcl3 cells expressing the SH3 mutant Bcr-abl exhibited a marked survival prolongation compared to mice injected with the same cells expressing wild type Bcr-abl. In addition, the SH3 domain did not influence intracellular signaling or regulate the proliferation and the survival of Bcr-abl transfected cells but was necessary for full leukemic potential in vivo. It appears that the impaired leukemogenic potential of Bcr-abl SH3 deletion mutants are due to changes in the motility and adhesion of cells expressing such mutants brought about by the disruption of signals generated by SH3-dependent protein-protein interactions¹²³.

1.7 The Influence of Bcr-abl on Signal Transduction Pathways

The presence of multiple functional domains important for Bcr-abl transformation in addition to the large number of Bcr-abl substrates indicates the capacity of this activated



Figure 5 Bcr-abl exerts its oncogenic effect by influencing several biological processes.

Bcr-abl mediated oncogenicity is largely dependent on its ability to affect different signal transduction pathways involved in cell proliferation and growth, apoptosis, and cell adhesion.

tyrosine kinase to exert its influence on different signal transduction pathways (Fig. 5). Oncogenic forms of c-Abl such as v-Abl, P210Bcr-abl, and P190Bcr-abl cause malignant disease *in vivo*^{77: 124: 125}, transform cells *in vitro*¹²⁶, and convert growth dependent hematopoietic cells to growth independence^{73: 127}. These diverse effect of Bcr-abl are probably due to its interaction with different cellular components involved in signaling pathways controlling growth, apoptosis, and cell adhesion.

1.7.1 Bcr-abl and the Ras Pathway

Bcr-abl expression in murine growth factor-dependent cells results in an increase in GTP-bound Ras and its activation to a high level¹²⁸. The role of Ras in Bcr-abl mediated transformation was clearly demonstrated in experiments where simultaneous retroviral expression of Bcr-abl and either the catalytic domain of RasGAP, which converts active GTP-bound Ras to inactive GDP-bound Ras, or a dominant negative Ras block transformation by Bcr-abl measured by soft agar colony formation assays ¹²⁸. The mechanisms by which Bcr-abl activates the Ras pathway are believed to be mainly dependent on SH-2 -containing adaptor proteins such as Grb2 and Shc, and the tyrosine phosphatase Shp-2 (also known as Syp, and SHPTP-2 or 3). Bcr-abl can tyrosine phosphorylate Shc and Shp2 which in turn recruit the adaptor protein Grb2^{126; 129}. The Grb2 adaptor protein is associated with Sos, a Ras guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF), which converts Ras from the inactive GDP- bound state to active GTP-bound state¹²⁹. Tyrosine 177 within the Bcr residues of the Bcr-abl fusion proteins was shown to bind SH2 domain containing proteins such as Grb2 when phosphorylate⁶⁹. Bcr-abl mutants in which tyrosine 177 is

mutated to phenyl alanine lose the ability to transform fibroblasts but can still transform primary bone marrow cells⁷⁰. In the same study, the over-expression of Shc was able to complement transformation by Grb2 binding site-deleted P190Bcr-abl ⁷⁰. P210 Bcr-abl mutants lacking the Grb2 binding site can, therefore, still associate with Grb2 through interacting with Shc which in turn can bind Grb2¹³⁰. Bcr-abl can also activate the Ras pathway by interacting and recruiting Shp-2¹²². Shp-2 has two adjacent SH2 domains which are important in linking the phosphatase with activated receptors such as the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) receptor and the epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor.

P160 Bcr can be found in complex with Bcr-abl probably through the Bcr-encoded amino terminal coiled-coil region ¹³¹. P160Bcr can be transphosphorylated by Bcr-abl on tyrosines predominantly in the first exon of Bcr corresponding to the same residues that are autophosphorylated in Bcr-abl ¹³¹. Also, P160Bcr tyrosine phosphorylated by c-Abl¹³² or the Fps/Fes protein tyrosine kinase ¹³³can bind Grb2-Sos complex. This presents an additional mechanism by which Bcr-abl can activate the Ras pathway by forming a complex with P160Bcr, which when tyrosine phosphorylated, binds the Grb2-Sos complex.

It is therefore clear that Bcr-abl can activate the Ras pathway through employing different strategies that will ultimately lead to the deregulation of normal growth pathways.

The downstream consequences of Ras activation in Bcr-abl transformed cells are not well understood. Constitutive activation of the immediate early genes c-*jun*, c-*fos*¹⁴¹ and c*myc*¹⁴² was observed after the introduction of Bcr-abl into murine cell lines and correlated with transformation or growth factor independence. Bcr-abl activates the JNK [Jun N(amino)- terminal kinase] pathway resulting in the activation of Jun¹⁴³. The activation of

Jun by Bcr-abl requires Ras, MEK (MAP or extracellular-regulated kinase) kinase, and JNK. Bcr-abl transformation has been shown to be impaired by the expression of a dominant negative c-Jun. c-myc has also been shown to be involved in the transformation potential of Bcr-abl¹⁴². Whereas c-Abl is involved in the normal transcriptional regulation of c-myc, c-Myc over-expression can rescue the transformation capability of a Bcr-abl SH2 mutant rendered non-transforming^{142; 144}. Also, a dominant negative Myc mutant can block transformation by activated Abl suggesting that c-Myc is an important downstream target of Bcr-abl induced transformation¹⁴². Transcriptional activation assays have revealed that a kinase active wild type P210Bcr-abl can stimulate NF- κ B (nuclear factor activates κ immunoglobulin genes in B lymphocytes) activity in an IL-3-dependent murine myeloid progenitor (DA1) cell line¹⁴⁵. Electrophoretic mobility shift experiments revealed the presence of p65 protein (RelA) DNA binding activity in P210Bcr-abl transformed DA1 cells but not in parental DA1 cells. After the inhibition of RelA by antisense oligonucleotides, P210Bcr-abl transfected cells did not survive following the removal of IL-3 compared to cells only transfected with P210Bcr-abl. In addition, inhibition of cellular growth was observed following the treatment of P210Bcr-abl transformed DA1 cells with p65 antisense oligonucleotides. These observations suggest that NF-kB may be a downstream effector for P210Bcr-abl induced transformation¹⁴⁵.

1.7.2 Bcr-abl and the Phophatidylinositol 3'-kinase Pathway

Both P190Bcr-abl and P210Bcr-abl can activate the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase (PI3K) pathway through several alternative mechanisms, similar to Ras activation^{146: 146}.

Direct evidence of the importance of this pathway in Bcr-abl transformation came from experiments where the expression of p85-regulating subunit of PI3K or the p110 catalytic subunit were inhibited by antisense oligodeoxynucleotides and wortmanin respectively¹⁴⁷. The loss of either subunits resulted in the inhibition of the proliferation of Bcr-abl transformed hematopoietic cell lines and colony formation by primary CML cells. Although the activation of PI3K in a hematopoietic cell line expressing a temperature sensitive Bcr-abl requires the tyrosine kinase activity of Bcr-abl, no direct interaction between the p85 SH2 domain and its potential target binding motif (YXXM) on Bcr-abl was detected or required for activation¹⁴⁸. Bcr-abl can activate the PI3K pathway probably through intermediary proteins such as Grb2¹⁴⁹, Shc¹⁵⁰, and SHP-2¹⁵¹. Tyrosine phosphorylated Shc can bind to the SH2 domain of the p85 subunit and the amino-terminal proline rich region of Shc can also interact with the SH3 domain of p85¹⁵⁰. Also, SHP-2 can form a complex with p85, probably through the interaction with Grb2, in Bcr-abl transformed hematopoietic cells.

c-Cbl is a 120 kDa proto-oncogene which is normally cytoplasmic and partially associated with the cytoskeleton¹⁵². A carboxyl-terminal truncated form of c-Cbl is the oncogene in the CAS NS-1 retrovirus which induces pre-B cell lymphomas and some myelogenous leukemias in mice¹⁵³. c-Cbl is tyrosine phosphorylated in v-Abl and Bcr-abl transformed cells¹⁵⁴. Recently c-Cbl was found to form a signaling cluster involving Bcr-abl and leading to the activation of PI-3K¹⁵⁵. In Bcr-abl transfected cells, c-Cbl was found in a complex with Bcr-abl and adaptor proteins including c-Crk, and CrkL¹⁵⁵. CrkL and c-Crk have similar structures including a SH2 domain and two SH3 domains¹⁵⁶. The tyrosine phosphorylated c-Cbl can bind to the SH2 domain of the p85 subunit of PI-3K leading to the

increase of PI-3K lipid kinase activity¹⁵⁵. The structural domains involved in those interactions have been partially defined¹⁵⁵. The SH2 domains of CrkL, c-Crk, p85^{PI-3K} and Abl, either in v-Abl or Bcr-abl, can directly bind to phosphotyrosine residues on c-Cbl. Also, the SH3 domain of p85^{PI-3K} binds to a proline rich region on c-Cbl. These experiments suggest that a primary role of c-Cbl in cells transformed by Bcr-abl is to link Bcr-abl to the PI-3K pathway¹⁵⁵. This interaction seems to require auxiliary factors such as c-CRK and CrkL. CrkL is a major substrate for Bcr-abl in primary CML cells and also co-precipitates with Bcr-abl¹⁵⁷. On the other hand, c-Crk is minimally phosphorylated on tyrosine in CML cells. However, c-Crk has been shown to bind c-Abl through its SH3 domain, and also c-Abl has been suggested to be the cellular tyrosine kinase which is activated in response to v-Crk¹⁵⁸. In CML transformed cells, CrkL and c-Crk may function to link Bcr-abl to c-Cbl which is in complex with PI-3K. The consequence of such an interaction ultimately results in an altered regulation of PI-3K. This can be of important consequences given that the PI-3K pathway regulates biological functions such as apoptosis¹⁵⁹.

1.7.3 Bcr-abl and Cytokine Signaling Pathways

Cytokines regulate the growth of hematopoietic cells by binding to their respective receptors and induce intracellular signal transduction pathways. Leukemia cells can abrogate this growth requirement for cytokine by constitutively activating signaling pathways controlled by cytokine receptors¹⁶⁰. Cytokine receptors are generally divided into two categories. Those that contain a tyrosine kinase domain (receptor tyrosine kinase or RTK) and those which do not¹⁶¹. Cytokines such as colony stimulating factor (CSF-1) and Kit

ligand, that bind to RTK, usually induce the dimerization of their respective receptors leading to the activation of the tyrosine kinase activity of the receptor and the propagation of mitogenic signals. This results in the activation of Ras, mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK), and nuclear transcription factors¹⁶¹. Cytokines such as the granulocyte/monocyte colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and erythropoietin (EPO) that do not bind to RTKs stimulate growth by Janus family of cytoplasmic tyrosine kinases (JAK)¹⁶². Following ligand stimulation of non-RTKs, JAK kinases bind to the receptor and are rapidly activated. JAK kinases can phosphorylate and activate STAT proteins, a family of transcription factors with signaling properties, which in turn translocate to the nucleus and activate the transcription of target genes. The level of specificity is thought to occur in the activation of different STATs as a result of stimulation with different cytokines¹⁶². STATs are also activated in cells expressing activated tyrosine kinases such as v-Src¹⁶³ and v-Abl¹⁶⁴. A major characteristic of CML cells expressing Bcr-abl is the expansion of myeloid precursor cells. Cytokines such as GM-CSF, IL-3, and granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) involved in the regulation of myeloid cells activate JAK/STAT pathway¹⁶⁵. In cell lines derived from CML patients and in hematopoietic cells acutely transformed by Bcr-abl, STAT5 was found to be constitutively activated¹⁶⁰. The activation of STAT5 correlated with the ability of Bcr-abl to confer cytokine independent growth. In K562 cells, an erythromyeloid cell line derived from a CML patient that expresses Bcr-abl, both JAK1 and 2 were found to be constitutively activated on tyrosine ¹⁶⁰. Transient transfection assays of Bcr-abl in non-hematopoietic cells directly demonstrated the activation of at least JAK-1¹⁶⁰. The Grb-2 binding site, the SH2 domain, and the major tyrosine autophosphorylation site on

Bcr-abl were found not to be important for STAT activation. Those same sites were also found not to be required for growth of Bcr-abl expressing cells in the absence of cytokines.

Along the same lines, Bcr-abl introduction into the factor-dependent human myeloid cell line MO7e resulted in factor independent proliferation and constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation of p95^{Vav} which correlated directly with the level of Bcr-abl tyrosine kinase activity¹⁶⁶. P95^{Vav} is selectively expressed in hematopoietic cells¹⁶⁷ and has structures similar to transcription factors such as helix-loop-helix (HLH) domain and a leucine-zipper (LZ)-like domain and other structures similar to those in signaling molecules such as two SH3 domains, one SH2 domain, and an internal Dbl-homologous domain¹⁶⁸. When introduced into fibroblasts, P95^{Vav} is phosphorylated in response to epidermal growth factor and platelet derived growth factor. In MO7e cells, Vav was also tyrosine phosphorylated in response to GM-CSF, IL-3, and Steel factor stimulation and was found associated with JAK2 in the same cells after treatment with GM-CSF¹⁶⁶. These results suggest that Vav is phosphorylated in response to hematopoietic growth factors as well as after the expression of Bcr-abl. An important biologic effect of Bcr-abl expression is the reduction or elimination of IL-3 requirement for the proliferation or viability of hematopoietic cells ⁷³. Whereas Vav can be involved in normal signaling by growth factors, its constitutive phosphorylation in myeloid cells expressing Bcr-abl suggest that its activation may be required for abrogation of growthfactor requirement in CML cells.

Also, Bcr-abl has been shown to co-immunoprecipitate with and constitutively phosphorylates the common β_c subunit of the IL-3 and GM-CSF receptors resulting in the constitutive phosphorylation of JAK2¹⁶⁹. IL-3 binding to its receptor can activate two

distinct signaling pathways. The first is initiated by the tyrosine phosphorylation of Shc following IL-3 binding to its receptor. Shc can then form a complex with β_c subunit of the receptor and recruit Grb2-Sos complex resulting in the activation of the Ras pathway¹⁷⁰. Another potential signal transduction pathway involves JAK2 which is constitutively associated with the β_c subunit of IL-3¹⁷¹. In response to IL-3 binding, JAK2 is activated and signals to the nucleus through the activation of STATs¹⁷⁰. Bcr-abl can, therefore, activate both pathways independent of the presence of growth factors¹⁶⁹.

IL-3 and GM-CSF in normal hematopoiesis induce the proliferation of early myeloid progenitors and also stimulate the differentiation of later committed myeloid lineage cells. The ability of Bcr-abl to activate signal transduction pathways from the receptors of such growth factors independent of ligand binding suggests that Bcr-abl expression can mimic the mitogenic effect of such factors. Early progenitor cells expressing Bcr-abl can therefore divide many more times than normal precursors in the bone marrow, or during differentiation Bcr-abl cells may divide at later stages of maturation than normal cells. In both cases, Bcr-abl expression will lead to the increase in the number of myeloid cells consistent with the clinical presentation of CML patients^{169: 170}.

1.8 Inhibition of Apoptosis by Bcr-abl

Apoptosis plays a key role in the regulation and maintenance of homeostasis in multicellular organisms. The large increase in mature granulocytes in the chronic phase of CML unaccompanied by an increase in the mitotic rate suggests that Bcr-abl might inhibit apoptosis¹⁷². The Bcr-abl expressing cell line K562, derived from a CML patient in the blast

crisis, shows resistence to apoptosis induced by Fas activation¹⁷³. Those cells were also shown to express high levels of the antiapoptotic Bcl-x_L but not Bcl-2¹⁷⁴. In the pre-B BaF3 cell line, introduction of P190 and P210Bcr-abl resulted in the an increase in Bcl-2 and inhibition of apoptosis induced by growth factor withdrawal¹⁷⁵. Inhibition of Bcl-2 expression by a vector expressing anti-sense Bcl-2 results in the restoration of apoptosis and the inhibition of tumorigenic potential of those cells in nude mice¹⁷⁵. Also, BaF3 cells expressing P210Bcr-abl were shown to be resistant to apoptotic induced by irradiation. This phenotype was reversed by anti-sense oligodeoxynucleotides (ODNS) targeted against Bcrabl junction-specific sequences. In such cells, typical apoptotic characteristics such as DNA fragmentation following irradiation was observed ¹⁷⁶. In contrast Bcr-abl expression does not seem to protect against apoptosis induced by cytotoxic T cells, natural killer cells, and lymphokine-activated killer cells¹⁷⁷.

Cellular response to DNA damage usually entails the induction of cell cycle arrest at G_1/S and G_2/M transitions. The G_1 arrest in response to irradiation is dependent on the p53-mediated induction of the p21^{WAFLCIP1} inhibitor of cyclin-Cdk complexes¹⁷⁸. In the condition of continued replication in the presence of damaged DNA p53 can induce apoptosis ¹⁷⁹. BaF3 cells expressing P210Bcr-abl exhibited a normal G_1/S cell cycle response and induction of p21^{WAFL/CIP1} induction following irradiation¹⁷⁶. However, those cells accumulated at the G_2/M boundary with no sign of apoptosis following irradiation. Similarly, IL-3 dependent myeloblastic 32D Cl3(G) cell line transformed to IL-3 independence by retroviral gene transfer and expression of P210Bcr-abl resulted in increased fraction of cells in the G_1/M phase of the cell cycle⁷³. Bcr-abl mediated inhibition of apoptosis can allow the inappropriate retention of cells with damaged DNA leading to the propagation of unrepaired cells which can result in the progressive accumulation of additional secondary genotypic alterations. CML cells have a predisposition to secondary genetic changes that lead to the clonal evolution of the blast crisis. Bcr-abl-induced inhibition of apoptosis may define an important mechanism leading to such a phenotype¹⁷⁶.

Structural dissection of Bcr-abl has revealed that the tyrosine kinase activity of Bcrabl is required for its antiapoptotis effect¹⁸⁰. Three different Bcr-abl mutants carrying either a single amino acid substitution from tyrosine to phenylalanine in the Grb2 binding site (Y177F), or a mutation in Src homology 2 domain (SH2) (R552L) which abolishes binding to phosphotyrosine containing sequences, or a mutation in the autophosphorylation site in the tyrosine kinase domain (Y793F), do not show a diminished antiapoptotic capability¹⁸⁰. Also, the transforming capability of those Bcr-abl mutants was unaffected in hematopoietic cells but resulted in a drastic reduction of fibroblast transformation¹⁷⁹. The expression of those mutants in 32D myeloid cells resulted in inhibition of apoptosis and growth factorindependent proliferation following IL-3 withdrawal. In contrast cells expressing the kinase defective (K671R) and the Y177F/R552L/Y793F triple mutant underwent apoptosis. 32D cells expressing a deletion mutant (Δ 176-427) in the Bcr region of Bcr-abl that lacks the Grb2 binding site, Bcr serine kinase activity, and a serine/threonine rich region, resulted in partial inhibition of apoptosis, but did not proliferate following IL-3 withdrawal.

Interestingly, the expression of the triple Bcr-abl mutant and the (Δ 176-426) mutant had a different effect in BaF3 (lymphoid) cells. BaF3 cells expressing these mutants were resistant to apoptosis following IL-3 withdrawal. These results indicate that the Bcr-abl
structural requirements for the inhibition of apoptosis following IL-3 withdrawal are different in different cellular contexts¹⁸⁰. In the absence of IL-3, gamma irradiation induced apoptosis was inhibited in BaF3 cells expressing all the Bcr-abl mutants except the tyrosine kinase defective mutant (K671R). In contrast, 32D cells expressing the triple mutant were not resistant to gamma-irradiation induced apoptosis while the Δ 176-427 deletion mutant conferred resistance but not as effective as the wild type Bcr-abl consistent with results obtained following growth factor withdrawal. BaF3 cells expressing all the Bcr-abl mutants except the kinase defective mutant were able to form tumors when injected into nude mice. 32D cells expressing the triple mutant showed a severe reduction in tumorigenic potential. These experiments demonstrated that viability and transformation signals elicited by Bcr-abl are different in that the Δ 176-427 mutant expressed in 32D cells inhibit apoptosis but does not cause tumorigenic growth in some injected mice.

In the same study Ras activation correlated with the antiapoptotic activity of the different Bcr-abl mutants. An Increase in Ras-GTP was detected in all Bcr-abl mutants that demonstrated an antiapoptotic effect including Y177F and Δ 176-427 mutants that loss the ability to bind Grb-2. The mutants which have lost the Grb-2 binding site can associate with Grb2 through Shc which was found to be tyrosine phosphorylated and associated to Grb2 in all mutants except the kinase-defective mutant. The triple mutant caused the formation of the Shc-Grb2 complex only in BaF3 cells but not in 32D cells correlating with the ability of this mutant to activate Ras and inhibit apoptosis in BaF3 cells only. The Δ 176-427 Bcr-abl mutant was able to activate Ras and inhibit apoptosis but has severely impaired

transformation ability suggesting that apoptosis is necessary but not sufficient for transformation that may require additional signaling components¹⁸⁰.

The relevance of the biological properties of Bcr-abl in tissue culture system is hard to evaluate. Although CML progenitor cells are actively cycling probably at a rate higher than normal progenitor cells, they are entirely growth factor-dependent for proliferation *in vitro*. Introduction of Bcr-abl into growth factor dependent cell lines in tissue culture systems results in the production of cell lines which are growth factor independent¹²⁷. Nevertheless, and as discussed later, resistence to apoptosis is not detected in Bcr-abl⁻ CML progenitor cells²²⁴.

The mechanism by which Bcr-abl expression inhibits apoptosis in cell lines was recently investigated ¹⁸¹. A variety of apoptotic stimuli cause the pre-apoptotic mitochondrial release of cytochrome c (cyt c) into the cytosol. This mediates the cleavage and activation of caspase-3 which is associated with mitochondrial permeability transition resulting in the loss of membrane potential and increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS)¹⁸². Activation of caspase-3 results in the degradation of a number of substrates including poly (adenine diphosphate[ADP]-ribose) polymerase (PARP) and lamins, producing the morphologic features of apoptosis¹⁸³. Caspase-3 activity can also cleave and activate a DNA fragmentation factor (DFF) which results in the DNA fragmentation typical of apoptosis¹⁸⁴. In the human acute myelogenous leukemia HL-60 cells stably transfected with P190Bcr-abl and the chronic myelogenous leukemia blast crisis K562 cells which express P210Bcr-abl, induction of apoptosis by treatment with anti-leukemic agents such as Ara-C, etoposide, and sphingoid bases did not result in the cytosolic accumulation of cyt c, activation of caspase-3, or the

other mitochondrial perturbations associated with apoptosis ¹⁸¹. An induction of Bcl-x_L but a reduction in the level of Bcl-2 accompanied the expression of Bcr-abl in HL60 cells and reflected the normal profile found in K562 cells¹⁸¹. Both Bcl-2 and Bcl-x_L are structurally similar to pore-forming domain of the bacterial toxins and might be channel proteins that regulate the transport of ions and small proteins such as cyt c across the outer mitochondrial membrane¹⁸⁵. The over-expression of both Bcl-2 and Bcl-x_L blocks the mitochondrial release of cyt c preventing by that the activation of caspase-3 and apoptosis¹⁸². Although the exact mechanism is still ambiguous, Bcr-abl expression seems to block apoptosis due to diverse apoptotic stimuli by preventing the cytosolic accumulation of cyt c and other pre-apoptotic mitochondrial perturbations and thereby inhibit the activation of caspase-3 and apoptosis ¹⁸¹.

1.9 Bcr-abl - Induced Cell Adhesion Defects

In normal hematopoiesis, direct adhesion of progenitor cells to bone marrow stroma through fibronectin receptors ($\alpha 4$, $\alpha 5$, and $\beta 1$ integrins), appears to confer negative regulatory control on proliferation¹⁸⁶. Hematopoietic progenitor cells in patients with CML have been shown to have impaired adherence to bone marrow stromal cells allowing unregulated proliferation of primitive CML progenitor cells even when the stromal marrow cells are normal and unaffected by the disease¹⁸⁷. Ph⁻ primitive progenitor cells fail to adhere to normal stromal layers and fibronectin although such progenitor cells do not exhibit any changes in the expression of fibronectin receptors¹⁸⁷. This suggests that functional defects in such receptors, including its downstream signaling pathways, may exist in CML progenitors and thus contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease¹⁸⁷. Failure to adhere to stroma can be improved in CML patients by interferon- α treatment which probably acts by correcting impaired β 1 integrin receptor function¹⁸⁸. Also treatment of stromal cells from CML patients and donors with interferon- α prior to transplantation restores the adhesive properties of CML cells. This is associated with the production of macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α by the stroma¹⁸⁹. When adhesion to fibronectin was stimulated by α 4 β 1 activating monoclonal antibodies a decrease in proliferation of CML progenitors and K562 cells was observed¹⁹⁰. Also, CML stroma was shown to reduce the growth of normal long term culture-initiating cells by a mechanism involving malignant stromal macrophages¹⁹¹. The effect of abnormal interaction between normal stroma and CML progenitor cells and between leukemic stroma and normal progenitor cells may lead to the selective expansion of Bcr-abl progenitor cells.

On a molecular level, Bcr-abl interacts with signaling pathways, regulatory factors, and cellular structures involved in regulating cell adhesion. Focal adhesion kinase (FAK) plays a role in integrin-mediated-signaling¹⁹². FAK has been shown to be tyrosine phosphorylated and activated in cells expressing P190 and P210Bcr-abl but not by the stimulation of growth factor-dependent cells with hematopoietic growth factors^{193;194}. Bcr-abl is exclusively present in the cytoplasm where it is mostly associated with actin stress fibers probably through the actin binding domain present in the carboxyl-domain of Abl⁷¹. This interaction with actin stress fibers is required for transformation by Bcr-abl⁷¹. In transformed cells, Bcr-abl induces a redistribution of filamentous (F) actin into punctate, juxtanuclear aggregates⁷¹. This altered integrity of the microfilament network may play a role in the Bcrabl-induced phosphorylation and activation of FAK and the phosphorylation of other

components of focal adhesion such as paxillin, vinculin, and tensin¹⁹⁴. Bcr-abl can, therefore, disrupt the normal structure and signal transduction capacity of various components of the cvtoskeleton¹⁹⁴. The discrete punctate structures where Bcr-abl and actin were observed to be concentrated in myeloid cell lines are similar to focal adhesions of epithelial cells¹⁹⁴. Focal adhesions are believed to be the sites where integrin function is regulated partly through the focal adhesion molecules that receive and transmit signals through phosphorylation and dephosphorylation on tyrosine residues. Focal adhesion molecules are targets for activated tyrosine kinases such as v-Src¹⁹⁵, v-Crk¹⁹⁶, and v-Abl¹⁹⁷. The tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion molecules by activated tyrosine kinases is believed to be important for transformation by resulting in reduced adhesion to extracellular matrix proteins, decreased contact inhibition, and acquisition of the ability to metastasize ¹⁹⁶. Similar to v-Src, and in cells expressing Bcr-abl, phosphorylation of focal adhesion proteins such as paxillin, p125^{FAK}, tensin, talin, and vinculin was observed¹⁹⁴. In P210Bcr-abl cells, paxillin was constitutively associated with vinculin, FAK, tensin, and talin while in control cells only vinculin was coprecipitated with paxillin following treatment with IL-3.

Crkl, which binds to Bcr-abl through its SH3 domain and links Bcr-abl to the PI-3K pathway, was found to be associated with paxillin in 32D cells expressing Bcr-abl through the interaction of the Crkl SH2 domain and tyrosines 31 and 118 of paxillin¹⁹⁸. Crkl, therefore, might be the molecule that links Bcr-abl with focal adhesion proteins leading to altered cell adhesion properties.

In another study, more profound abnormalities of the cytoskeletal function were observed as a result of the expression of both P190 and P210 Bcr-abl in BaF3 cells¹⁹⁹. An

increase staining of filamentous actin and an enhanced rate of formation and retraction of actin-containing protrusions such as pseudopodia and filopodia was observed. In addition, cells expressing Bcr-abl had an increased level of spontaneous motility and shorter periods of quiescence compared to normal non-transformed cells. The observed abnormalities required the tyrosine kinase activity of Bcr-abl and were detected in both BaF3 Bcr-abl transformed cells and primary CML progenitor cells isolated from patients with active leukemia¹⁹⁹. The increased motility observed as a result of Bcr-abl expression can explain some of the clinical aspects of the disease. CML is characterized by the early release of myeloid cells from the marrow and the accumulation of myeloid cells at all stages of differentiation. It is possible that the increased motility observed due to the expression of Bcr-abl is a result of the activation of cytoskeletal-dependent signal transduction pathways by Bcr-abl. Most cells require a variety of signals from cell surface receptors to support growth and viability. In addition to mitogenic signals from growth factor receptors, cells might also depend on signals from adhesion and co-stimulatory receptors for proliferation and viability¹⁹⁹. CML cells may, therefore, be receiving false signals that indicate that certain adhesion receptors such as integrin are stimulated even in the absence of ligand binding¹⁹⁹. These cells still need hematopoietic growth factors for growth and viability but, because of increased motility, can migrate into capillaries at an immature stage and divide in tissue where myeloid cells are not found. Treatment of BaF3 cells expressing Bcr-abl as well as CD34+ cells from CML patients with interferon- α resulted in reduced spontaneous motility and a reduced number of protrusions and pseudopodia per cell¹⁹⁹. Also, interferon- α was found to correct the defective adherence of CML progenitors to stromal cells by increasing

the expression of the adhesion molecule lymphocyte function-associated antigen (LFA)-3, which is usually down regulated in CML cells¹⁸⁸, and by correcting β 1 integrin function¹⁸⁶. Recently, a constitutively tyrosine phosphorylated 62 kDa protein prominently present in hematopoietic progenitor cells of CML patients has been identified¹³⁴. p62^{dok} (p62 protein downstream of tyrosine kinases) was isolated from a hematopoietic cell line expressing P210Bcr-abl. P62^{dok} has structural features typical of a signaling molecule such as a plekstrin homology (PH) domain, which is found in a number of signaling molecules and also in molecules involved in cytoskeletal organization. PH domains are believed to mediate protein-protein interactions and also interactions with cellular membranes possibly by binding different inositol phosphate components of the lipid bilayer¹³⁴. Most of the tyrosine residues in p62^{dok} are located in the carboxyl-terminal half and when phosphorylated can bind SH2 containing proteins. p62^{dok} also contains ten proline rich motifs which can interact with SH3 domains¹³⁴. p62^{dok} binds in vitro with the amino-terminus of GAP. The aminoterminal domain of GAP has a different biological role than the catalytic carboxyl-terminus half which is a Ras GTPase activating protein that leads to Ras down-regulation¹³⁵. The amino-terminal domain of GAP, when over-expressed, can disrupt the actin cytoskeleton and focal contacts, decrease fibronectin binding, as well as cell adhesion¹³⁶. The GAP-associated p62^{dok} is also rapidly tyrosine phosphorylated upon the activation of the c-Kit ¹³⁷, EGF and PDGF¹³⁸ receptors suggesting that it plays a role in distinct signal transduction pathways initiated by receptor or membrane associated tyrosine kinase. The constitutive tyrosine activation of p62^{dok} in hematopoitic progenitor cells containing P210Bcr-abl and by c-Kit is interesting given that both appear to manifest similar biological effects in a relatively mature

stem cell population at the level of lineage commitment rather than at the level of a selfrenewing stem cell¹³⁹. c-Kit has been shown to be constitutively active and form a complex with P210Bcr-abl in P210Bcr-abl transfected myeloid cell lines¹⁴⁰. Colony assays with bone marrow from Bcr-abl positive CML patients showed that hematopoietic precursors of most patients did not respond to recombinant human Steel Factor (rhSF), a growth factor that binds and activate c-Kit. This suggests that c-Kit is already activated, presumably by P210Bcr-abl¹⁴⁰. It is therefore possible that the aberrant and tyrosine phosphorylation of p62^{dok} is a key step in the progression of CML. Bcr-abl presumably can amplify signals leading to p62^{dok} by binding and activating c-Kit. The amino-terminal domain of GAP might also be part of this complex cascade as it can potentially control processes, such as cell adhesion and actin organization, both important in Bcr-abl transformation. As mentioned above Bcr-abl might therefore induce abnormal adhesion, not only by affecting the expression and function of integrin receptors, but also by the redistribution of the actin cytoskeleton and the phosphorylation of proteins associated with the cytoskeleton.

1.10 Bcr-abl and the Induction of Cell Proliferation

As mentioned previously, CML cells do not demonstrate an increase in either mitotic index or in proliferative capacity. However, evidence of an induction of cellular proliferation accompanied by the deregulation of cell cycle by activated Abl is emerging. In soft agar colony formation assays, the transformation potential of both v-Abl and P190Bcr-abl were drastically increased in the presence of cyclin D1 over-expression²⁰⁰. Progression through late G_1 in the cell cycle coincides with the period where cells are no longer dependent on

mitogens and commit to DNA synthesis ¹⁷⁸. This transition is controlled by cyclins D and E and their cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdks) which, when activated, can phosphorylate substrates and facilitate entry into S phase ¹⁷⁸. D cyclins bind to Cdk4 and 6 to form holoenzymes whose activity is detected in mid-G₁ and increases as cells reach G_1/S boundary. Cyclin D-dependent kinases are active as long as mitogenic stimulation is present, hence, acting as mitogenic sensors. Cyclin E is expressed late in G₁ and combines with Cdk2 and maximally induce its activity at G₁/S. Cyclin D1 probably acts by targeting Cdk4 and 6 to Rb. Phosphorylation of Rb by Cdk4 and 6 leads to its inactivation and loss of its ability to bind transcription factors, such as E2F, whose activity is required for S-phase transition¹⁷⁸. Cyclin D1 but not cyclin E over-expression was able to increase the transformation efficiency of v-Abl²⁰⁰. This function of cyclin D1 required the amino-terminal motif essential for the binding of Rb. Synergy between cyclin D1 and activated Abl therefore appears to depend in part on an Rb-mediated pathway. A transformation defective SH2 deletion mutant of P190Bcr-abl was rescued by cyclin D1 but not cyclin E, suggesting that cyclin D1 compensates for loss of signaling from Abl SH2 domain²⁰⁰. Also, primary mouse bone marrow cells were transformed by a transformation-defective P190Bcr-abl mutant with a point mutation in the SH2 domain in the presence of cyclin D1¹⁹⁷. Those transformed cells resulted in normal in vivo transformation efficiency when introduced into SCID mice. Cyclin D1 can, therefore, cooperate with Abl oncogenes to induce in vitro and in vivo transformation by replacing an SH2-dependent signal which seems to involve Rb²⁰⁰.

Other studies also support the effect of Bcr-abl expression on the cell-cycle machinary. Fifty per cent of patients with lymphoid blast crisis in CML exhibit homozygous

deletions in the tumor suppressor gene p16^{INK4a} compared to only 26% of patients with *de novo* acute lymphoblastic leukemia ²⁰¹. p16 deletions were detected in acute leukemia cells but not in cells from chronic-phase leukocytes, indicating that the deletions are somatically acquired and not inherited thus implicating those deletions in the pathogenesis of CML. p16 inhibits Cdk4 by competing with cyclin D binding and is considered a principal regulatory element in cell-cycle progression¹⁷⁸.

In the untransformed IL-3 dependent myeloid progenitor cell line 32D, Bcr-abl expression by retroviral infection results in growth factor independent proliferation. accompanied by the activation of mitogenic signals represented by the activation of the Erk family of MAP kinases²⁰². 32D cells, expressing a kinase-inactive Bcr-abl and grown in low serum and IL-3 conditions, accumulate with unreplicated DNA. Conversely, the same cells expressing a kinase active Bcr-abl and grown under the same conditions, continued to cycle²⁰². This reduced growth factor requirement for cell cycle progression was associated with the sustained activation of cyclin-dependent kinases controlling the G₁-to-S transition. Cyclins D2 and D3-associated Cdk4 and Cdk6 decreased rapidly in 32D cells grown under reduced growth factor conditions but were maintained, at a level similar to that obtained with growth factor stimulation, in 32D cells expressing kinase active forms of Bcr-abl. This suggest that Bcr-abl signals prevent cells from exiting the cell cycle by inhibiting the down regulation of mitogenic signals following growth factor deprivation²⁰². In the same study, a 32D cell line clone expressing inducible P210 and P190Bcr-abl fused to glucocorticoidresponsive promoter was used to determine whether the induction of mitogenic signals is a primary response after the expression of Bcr-abl. Induction of Bcr-abl expression by

dexamethasone in this system resulted in increased level of GTP-bound Ras, hyperphosphorylation of Raf, activation of Erk, and an enhanced DNA synthesis. Bcr-abl induced cell cycle entry was associated with the increase in Cdk2, and cyclin D2 and D3 associated kinases, suggesting that such an induction is associated with the activation of the cell cycle machinary. Bcr-abl-mediated transformation may therefore, in part, be mediated by activating mitogenic signals. In chronic phase CML, Bcr-abl⁻ cells do not seem to demonstrate an increased proliferative rate but undergo additional cell divisions and have longer survival time than normal myeloid cells. Bcr-abl may mediate mitogenic signals that inhibit cell cycle exit that would normally occur during differentiation²⁰².

1.11 Genomic Instability in Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia

It is well accepted that the accumulation of genetic changes is the underlying cause of neoplasia²⁰³. Chronic myelogenous leukemia is a model disease for multi-step progression of cancer²⁰⁴. The chronic phase of the disease is characterized by the over-production of myeloid cells which remain growth factor dependent and retain the ability to differentiate. Invariantly the disease enters a terminal blast crisis which is characterized by the predominance of hyper-proliferative immature blast cells¹. CML patients entering the blast crisis exhibit an increase in the rate of acquiring additional mutations²⁰⁵. Genomic instability in such patients is supported by cytogenetic findings such as the duplication of Bcr-abl, +8, i(17)q, +19, +21, -Y, and +Y ^{40; 205}. Genomic instability is also observed in cell line as well as mouse models expressing Bcr-abl. Mice transgenic for a DNA construct that produces the P190Bcr-abl succumb to both myeloid and lymphoid acute leukemia ¹²⁴. Normal karyotypes

in the initial stages of Bcr-abl expression in the mice were observed while later stages of the disease is characterized by nonrandom numerical changes of mouse chromosomes that have a genetic analogy to human chromosomes affected in leukemia²⁰⁶. The chromosome changes most prominent were the acquisition of extra copies of chromosomes 10, 12, 14, and 17 either alone or in combination. Chromosomal abnormalities, in addition to the Philadelphia chromosome, seem to be variable in ALL. Hence, the nonrandom chromosome changes and clonal evolution of P190Bcr-abl mice are more comparable with the nonrandom chromosome changes of human blast-phase CML²⁰⁶. The observation that the expression of Bcr-abl precedes the development of chromosomal abnormalities in those mice suggests that the activated kinase may directly or indirectly result in cytogenetic and genetic instability which enable cells to accumulate additional mutations and progress to later stages of the disease.

Retroviral expression of P210Bcr-abl in murine IL-3 dependent myeloid cell line 32D C13(G)' cells resulted in karyotypic instability and proliferative advantage *in vitro* over time, mimicking the changes associated with the transition from chronic phase CML to the acute leukemic phase¹²⁷. P210Bcr-abl expression in those cells induced structural as well as numerical chromosomal abnormalities. Similar to lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma cells from P190Bcr-abl transgenic mice, a preference for the development of chromosomal abnormalities involving chromosomes 12 and 17 was detected in 32D C13(G)' cells transformed by retroviral expression of P210Bcr-abl, suggesting that *in vitro* evolution of karyotype abnormalities due to Bcr-abl expression might be very comparable to that obtained *in vivo*¹²⁷.

Other genetic alterations in CML have been described and may be caused by the underlying genomic instability characteristic of disease progression. Recently six of six patients with advanced CML showed loss of imprinting (LOI) of the insulin-like growth factor-II (IGF2) gene ²⁰⁷. On the other hand, only one of six patients in the chronic phase exhibited LOI suggesting that disease progression in CML is associated with LOI. Genomic imprinting entails the monoallelic expression of either the paternal or the maternal allele and is important for the development of cancer as loss of heterozygosity (LOH) in cancer usually involves one of the parental chromosomes preferentially ²⁰⁸. Loss of imprinting has been reported in human cancer and results in the loss of parental-origin-specific differential allele expression ²⁰⁸. Some imprinted genes, such as IGF2, are directly involved in cell growth. IGF2 is normally imprinted and is expressed only from the paternal allele²¹⁰.

Another important genetic alteration in CML progression is *de novo* methylation. Two studies document the abnormal methylation of the calcitonin (CT) gene during the progression of CML. In the first,²⁰⁹ abnormal methylation pattern was found in the peripheral blood of 2 out of 31 patients in chronic phase compared to 11 of 12 patients in blast crisis. In the other study, ²¹⁰ 20 patients in the chronic phase of the disease out of 27, had a normal methylation pattern while 5 of 6 patients in blast crisis had a hypermethylated CT gene²¹⁷. These findings indicate that abnormal methylation of the CT gene is a useful marker of disease progression in CML and probably reflects a more wide spread process that could contribute to genetic instability events characteristic of the progression of the disease²⁰⁹.

The multistep progression in cancer is best exemplified in colorectal cancers which develop over decades and require at least seven genetic events for completion²¹¹. However,

a marked predisposition to colorectal cancer can result by the inheritance of a single altered gene as observed in Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer (HNPCC)²¹¹. Recently, three independent observations helped in understanding the molecular pathogenesis of HNPCC. First, linkage studies using microsatellite markers in individual HNPCC families concluded a tight linkage to either chromosome 2p16 or 3p21 providing strong evidence that HNPCC is a hereditary disease ²¹². The second observation was documented following attempts to demonstrate allelic losses within the 2p16 microsatellite marker linked to HNPCC susceptibility²¹³. Surprisingly, new microsatellite alleles not found in normal cells of HNPCC patients were observed rather than allelic loss. These new alleles were observed in all dinucleotide and trinucleotide repeats examined, suggesting a general state of instability of the replication and/or repair of simple repeated sequences in the whole genome²¹³. A third landmark discovery came from the observation of similarities between the microsatellite instability observed in tumors such as HNPCC and those observed in bacteria harboring mutations in mismatch repair (MMR) genes such as mutS and mutL²¹⁴. Similar experiments in yeast also suggested that microsatellites observed to be unstable in HNPCC patients were also unstable in yeast with defective MMR genes suggesting that HNPCC was caused by hereditary mutations in human homologs of mutS and mutL²¹⁴. A search for human homologs of mismatch repair genes resulted in the discovery of at least five such genes²¹⁵. A human homolog of mutS (hMSH2) was located on chromosome 2p suggesting that it can be involved in the form of HNPCC linked to chromosome 2p²¹⁶. Direct evidence of the involvement of an MMR gene in this disease came from studies showing germline mutations of hMSH2 in HNPCC kindreds²¹⁷. This observation was followed by the identification of

mutations of mutL homologs in HNPCC²¹⁸ and it is believed that mutations in three human MMR genes (*hMSH2*, *hMLH1*, and *hPMS2*) account for most mutations in HNPCC kindreds²¹¹.

The MMR gene pathway in human cells is responsible for the repair of single base mismatches that may result from misincorporation by polymerases or larger mismatches resulting from strand slippage. This resulting mismatch is recognized by *mutS* homologs where optimal mismatch recognition is thought to require at least two *mutS* homologs, *MSH2* and GTBP (G/T binding protein). *MutL* homologs are then recruited to the complex and the mismatch is repaired by a process that in bacteria involves an exonuclease, helicaseII, DNA polymerase III, single-stranded binding protein, and DNA ligase²¹⁹.

An important question to be addressed in multi-step cancer progression is whether tumor cells have intrinsically high rates of mutations sufficient to account for this accumulation of mutations²¹¹. Studies in HNPCC have shown that mutation rates in tumor cells with MMR deficiency are two to three orders of magnitude higher than in normal cells²²⁰. HNPCC accounts for only 2-3% of total colorectal cancer cases while sporadic tumors exhibiting microsatellite instability constitute 13% of total colorectal cancers. In those cases, the underlying instability is not well defined and may be caused by mutations in genes involved in MMR repair, such as GTBP, MSH3, or the proof reading domain of polymerase δ^{211} . In 85% of colorectal cancers that do not demonstrate microsatellite instability, elevated rates of mutations were not observed using standard assays²²¹. Those tumors, however, have a large number of genetic alterations characterized by the loss of large parts of chromosomes, as a consequence of mitotic recombination or aberrant mitotic segregation of chromosomes, resulting in aneuploidy²¹³. Tumors, therefore, accumulate multiple genetic alterations required for malignancy, either by subtle alterations due to the mismatch repair deficiency or through gross chromosomal alterations ²¹¹. Studies on HNPCC, therefore, demonstrate the association of genomic instability with cancer development.

1.12 Project Rational

Cell culture systems have proven difficult to examine the suspected inherent genomic instability associated with the expression of Bcr-abl. As discussed previously, cell-cycle control defects, as well as inhibition of apoptosis, both fundamental in the preservation of genomic stability, have been reported in cell culture systems expressing Bcr-abl^{127;176;222;223}. However, such systems do not appear to adequately reproduce primary effects of Bcr-abl expression in vivo. For example, induction of apoptosis as a result of growth factor deprivation or γ -irradiation in proliferating primary hematopoietic CD34⁻ CML cells was not different than the response seen in the same cells from normal individuals²²⁴. These conflicting results suggest that Bcr-abl effect on apoptosis strongly depends on the cells used. The observation that CML cells derived from newly diagnosed CML patients undergo apoptosis as a result of growth factor withdrawl or γ -irradiation suggests that Bcr-abl expression is not necessary to induce resistance to apoptosis in those cells²²⁴. Cell lines fail to accurately reflect the primary in vivo effect of Bcr-abl expression probably because such lines are established from patients in the acute phase of the disease and are growth factor independent and resistant to apoptosis²²⁵. Alternatively, differences in the relative levels of

Bcr-abl might explain such discrepancy. Acute phase cells carry karyotypic changes such as the duplication of the Ph chromosome and an enhanced expression of *bcr-abl* mRNA resulting in an increase in the relative levels of Bcr-abl²²⁶.

A marked difference in the biologic consequences of high and low levels of Bcr-abl expression was observed in immortalised myeloid and lymphoid cell lines²²⁷. Low levels of Bcr-abl expression were sufficient to remove cytokine requirements and render cells tumorigenic, while high levels were necessary for protection against apoptosis. The observation that resistance to apoptosis critically depended upon the level of Bcr-abl could help explain the sensitivity of primary CML cells to the induction of apoptosis compared to cell lines expressing Bcr-abl²²⁷. In the same study, and utilizing a dominant negative Ras mutant, it was shown that an activated Ras did not offer the same degree of protection as high levels of Bcr-abl expression. The activation of the Ras/MAPK pathway is suggested to be important for Bcr-abl-mediated transformation and anti-apoptotic function as a result of IL-3 withdrawal and other stimuli^{69; 180; 228}. Low levels of Bcr-abl were observed to stimulate the same Ras-dependent survival signals as IL-3, but there were additional anti-apoptotic pathways only activated by high levels of Bcr-abl. Likely candidates include phosphatidyl inositol-3 kinase pathway which is activated by Bcr-abl and may play a role in anti-apoptotic activity²²⁷.

Such discrepancies have lead us to consider *in vivo* models for Bcr-abl induced leukemia in investigating Bcr-abl induced genomic instability. Several Bcr-abl induced leukemic mouse models have been described^{124; 229-231}. I have chosen the model developed by Heisterkamp *et al* ¹²⁴ for its availability and the well established data derived from it

concerning the expression of Bcr-abl in different tissue and disease pathogenesis. In those transgenic mice, the P190Bcr-abl human fusion gene was used as a transgene¹²⁴. P190Bcr-abl transgenic mice succumb to pre-B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia on an average of 100 days post natal¹²⁴. Although these mice express the form of Bcr-abl associated with ALL, this model offers an opportunity to investigate the primary biologic consequences of Bcr-abl expression in the presence of intact cellular and physiological properties. A mouse colony from the 623 transgenic line which has been bred for more than 4 generations and, within each generation, animals developed lymphoblastic leukemia/ lymphoma²³² Before the development of disease the transgene is expressed in most tissues tested^{124; 232}, and during this period the consequence of Bcr-abl expression on biological processes controlling genomic stability can be addressed. I tested, in vivo, the integrity of the cell cycle response to DNA damage in bone marrow and spleen cells from irradiated P190Bcr-abl pre-leukemic transgenic mice. In both cell types no defects were observed in cell-cycle regulation following the induction of DNA damage. Concomitantly, I show that the G₁ cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p21^{WAFLCIP} is normally induced in kidney, spleen, and lung cells in irradiated transgenic mice. I also demonstrate, quantitatively and morphologically, that bone marrow and spleen cells from irradiated pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice exhibit the same degree of apoptosis as cells from irradiated normal mice. My data suggests that the expression of Bcr-abl at a level which induces leukemia in an animal model does not interfere with the two biological processes regarded as the primary safeguards against the accumulation of mutations and preserving genomic stability.

I concluded that contrary to results obtained in cell lines expressing Bcr-abl^{73; 127; 222}

loss of sensitivity to DNA damage might define a late event in Bcr-abl oncogenesis. I then proposed to directly investigate genomic instability in pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl by measuring mutation rates as a result of the expression of the Bcr-abl kinase. The Big BlueTM transgenic mouse system is a reliable mean to determine mutation frequencies *in vivo* in the context of normal physiological, metabolic, and DNA repair mechanisms ²³³. Every cell in the Big Blue mouse contains multiple copies of the a chromosomally-integrated λ bacteriophage shuttle vector (λ LacI- α lacZ). This vector contains the bacterial *lacI* gene which encodes the LacI repressor protein that controls β -galactosidase activity. *lacI*, therefore, serves as a target for mutation and α LacZ as a reporter gene²³⁴ (Fig. 6).

Big BlueTM /P190Bcr-abl double heterozygotes were generated allowing the expression of Bcr-abl in the presence of the Big Blue mutation detection system. DNA extracted from normal as well as from leukemic tissue was used to recover the λ phage vector. This is done by shuttling the phage vector, from its origin in mammalian DNA, to a bacterial *E. coli* host. Using a TranspackTM lambda packaging extract (Stratagene), the λ shuttle vector was excised from mammalian DNA and packaged into virulent lambda bacteriophage. This viable bacteriophage was then used to infect *E. coli* cells to produce bacteriophage plaques on a bacterial lawn.

Bacteriophages carrying mutations in *lacI* will express β -galactosidase and will produce a mutant blue plaque when used to infect *E. coli* growing in the presence of the chromogenic analog 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indol- β -galactopyranoside (X-gal) ²³⁴. The mutation spectrum from mutant plaques was determined by sequencing the whole *lacI* gene and the LacI promoter (1.2 Kb) from the shuttle vector. I observed a significant increase in

mutant frequency in the kidney and spleen of PL Big Blue/P190Bcr-abl mice and in two out of four tumors obtained from leukemic mice. Bcr-abl expression may, therefore, confer a mutator phenotype rendering cells susceptible to the accumulation of further mutations.

Figure 6 In vivo measurement of mutation frequencies in Bcr-abl transgenic mice.

The Big BlueTM transgenic mouse system was employed to determine the mutation frequency and spectrum induced by Bcr-abl expression in mice tissue. Big Blue mice were first crossed to P190Bcr-abl mice. Big Blue mice contain chromosomally integrated λ bacteriophage vector (LIZ) at a rate of 40 copies/cell in heterozygote mice. DNA extracted from P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice can be used to generate viable λ phage particles (see Materials and Methods). Bcr-abl induced mutations in LacI will result in a defective LacI repressor allowing the expression of LacZ. λ phage particles that express LacZ produce blue colonies when used to infect *E coli* lawns grown in the presence of X-gal. Mutation spectrums induced by Bcr-abl can then be determined by sequencing the *lacI* gene.

Color Screening for Mutations



II-Materials and Methods

2.1 Animals

P190Bcr-abl transgenic mice were generated by utilizing a construct coding for the human P190Bcr-abl fusion protein under the control of the mouse metallothionine-1 promoter¹²⁴ (Fig. 7). Founder animals were the offspring of mating between C57BL/CBA F₁, while transgenic progeny was the result of mating between transgenics and C57BLxCBA F₁ mice. A homozygote colony of P190Bcr-abl mice was established through breeding. p53⁻⁻ null mutant mice contain a PollI-neo expression cassette interrupting exon 5 of the p53 gene (Fig. 7), resulting in the absence of p53 protein expression in all tissues of the animal²³⁵. p53 homozygote null (p53^{-/-}), as well as heterozygote (p53^{-/-}), mutants were established under a breeding licence from Taconic Farms Inc (NY, USA). Mice from a similar genetic background to P190Bcr-abl transgenics, (F1 C57BLxCBA) (Jackson, USA), were used as controls. Where indicated, genotoxic stress by ionizing radiation was induced by subjecting mice to whole body irradiation at different doses (2, 6, 8, and 10 Gy) at a rate of 107cGray/min from a ⁶⁰Co (Cobalt) source. P190Bcr-abl in the pre-leukemic phase were confirmed to be disease free by studying the morphology of blood and bone marrow smears for the presence of immature blast cells. Differential cell blood counts (CBC) were performed to detect elevations in different hematopoietic cell populations especially lymphocytes which increase dramatically in leukemic mice.

Homozygote Big BlueTM (LacI) transgenic mice ²³⁴ were purchased from Stratagene



A.

B. E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 Kpnl K

Figure 7 P190Bcr-abl and p53^{-/-} genotyping.

The P190Bcr-abl - producing construct is shown (A). The metallothionin (MT) promoter and the position of coding sequences from both *bcr* and *abl* are represented by boxed areas. An 600 bp XhoI (X) / BgIII (Bg) fragment from *bcr* exon (E)1 used as a probe in tail blots is indicated. Tail DNA were digested with XhoI and HindIII(H).

The p53 gene is disrupted at exon 5 by the insertion of a neomycin (Neo) expression vector (B). Tail DNA digested with BamHI and probed with a KpnI fragment of Exon 5 will yield a larger (6.5 Kb) fragment indicating the presence of a disrupted p53 allele.

(La Jolla, Ca) and licensed to be bred in the Royal Victoria Hospital Research Institute animal facility. P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue double heterozygotes were generated by crossing young homozygotes from each mouse group and were further confirmed for the presence of the Bcr-abl trangene by southern blot analysis as described later. I was interested in determining the mutation frequency of disease free pre-leukemic (PL) P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice. Health profiles for each sacrificed PL P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mouse were, therefore, confirmed by examining peripheral blood and bone marrow smears for the presence of leukemic blast cells, as well as performing differential cell blood counts (CBC), to determine any elevations of the different blood cell types. Peripheral blood and bone marrow smears from leukemic mice revealed the presence of immature blast cells. Tumor tissue from leukemic P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice were collected upon autopsy and processed in parallel with tissue from PL P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice. Mutation rates were also determined for normal control mice generated by crossing homozygote Big Blue mice to the genetic background of P190Bcr-abl (F₁ C57BLxCBA).

2.2 Expansion of Replicating Cell Pool In Vivo

Mice were sub-cutaneously injected with human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) (Amgen, Ont.) for three days at a dose of 5ng/g mouse body weight. This resulted in a 4-5 fold increase of granulocyte precursor cells in the S-phase of the cell cycle in bone marrow. Similarly, mice were injected intra-peritoneally with 10,000 cetus units of human IL-2 (Amgen, Ont.) for three days to expand lymphoid precursor cell population in the bone marrow.

In addition, I was able to increase lymphocyte counts in the spleen by injecting mice intra- peritoneally with 0.1μ g/g mouse body weight of anti-CD3 (anti-mouse T3 CD3 ϵ complex) antibody (CedarLane, Ont.) for three days and rat Interleukin 2 (IL-2) (CedarLane, Ont.) at a dose of 10,000 cetus unit/mouse. CBCs of blood samples from induced mice were performed to obtain a profile of the different blood lineages and to confirm the increase of targeted populations in peripheral blood.

2.3 Southern Blot Analysis

DNA for mice genotyping was obtained by over-night incubation at 55°C of tail biopsies in 1 ml digestion buffer (100mM Tris pH 8.0, 5mM EDTA, 0.2% SDS, and 200 mM NaCl) containing 0.1µg/µl of proteinase K. DNA in supernatants of over-night digests were precipitated by isoproponal. 15µg of DNA was digested, ran on a 1% agarose gel, and transferred onto hybond N+ nylon membranes (Amersham, Ont.). For P190Bcr-abl genotyping, membranes were hybridized with a 600 bp BgIII/Xhol fragment of the *bcr* exon 1 sequences in the transgene (Fig. 7). P53⁻⁻⁻ mice were genotyped using a 605 bp KpnI probe that can hybridize to exon 5 of the p53 gene ²³⁵. Blots were pre-hybridized at 42°C for 4 hours in pre-hybridization solution (6x SSC, 5x denhardt's, 0.5% SDS) containing 50µg/ml of salmon sperm DNA. Blots were incubated in hybridization solution (50% formamide, 6x SSC, 5% dextran sulfate, 1% SDS, and 100µg/ml salmon sperm DNA) containing appropriate probes prepared to high specific activity with [α -³²P] dCTP (3000Ci/mmol) (DuPont/NEN, Boston-Ma) using multiprime DNA labeling system (Amersham, Ont.). Blots were washed at room temperature (1x SSC, 0.1% SDS) and at 65°C before being exposed to all purpose hyper sensitive film (Amersham, Ont.).

2.4 Northern Blot Analysis

Total RNA was isolated from 100mg mice tissue by homogenizing in 1ml of TrizolTM (Gibco BRL, Ont.) according to manufacturer's protocol. Twenty μ g of total RNA was denatured and electrophoretically seperated on 1.2% agarose gel containing 1% MOPS and 16% formaldehyde. The separated RNA was then transferred onto hybond N+ nylon membrane (Amersham, Ont.) and WAF-1 (p21^{CIP}) messages were detected by probing the membrane with 50 ng of an EcoRI fragment of the mouse waf-1 cDNA in BlueScript SK²³⁶ (generous gift from Dr. Bert Vogelstein), labeled to a high specific activity with [α -³²P] dCTP (3000 Ci/mmol) (Dupont/NEN, Boston-Ma) using a multiprime DNA labeling system (Amersham,UK). Blots were pre-hybridized (6xSSC, 5x denhardt's, 0.5% SDS containing 50 µg/ml of salmon sperm DNA) at 42°C for 4 hours and hybridized (50% formamide, 6x SSC, 5% dextran sulfate, 1% SDS, containing 100µg/ml salmon sperm DNA) over-night at 42°C. Blots were washed at room temperature (1x SSC, 0.1% SDS) and then at 62°C (0.2x SSC, 0.1% SDS) before being exposed to all purpose hyper sensitive film (Amersham, Ont.).

2.5 Western Blot Analysis of P190Bcr-abl Expression

Forty grams of spleen and kidney tissue from normal controls as well as from PL P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice were homogenized and lysed in cold lysis buffer [50mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.9, containing 0.4 M KCL, 0.1% NP-40, 4mM NaF, 4mM NaVO₄, 0.2 mM EGTA, 0.2 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol (v/v), 1mM DTT, 0.5 mM

phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride (PMSF), 1µg/mL pepstastin, 1µg/mL leupeptin, and 1µg/mL, benzamidine]. Alternatively tissue were homogenized in 1% SDS and then incubated at 100°C for 2 minutes. The homogenized cell extracts were centrifuged at 13,000g for 20 minutes at 4°C. Total protein concentrations, in the supernatant, were assayed using Micro Bicinchonic Acid (BCA) protein assay kit (Pierce, IL). Fifty µg of total protein was separated on a 6% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transferred onto BioTraco polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) blotting membrane (Gelman Sciences, Que). Membranes were blotted with the mouse monoclonal antibody to Abl [c-abl (Ab-3), Oncogene Science, Calbiochem, Ont.]. P190Bcr-abl was detected using a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated antibody to mouse IgG using an enhanced chemiluminescence system (ECL, Ilinois).

2.6 Determination of Cell-cycle Distribution by BrdU and Propidium Iodide labeling

Cells from mice labeled *in vivo* with bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) (Sigma, Ont.) were analyzed for cell cycle distribution by using fluorescein conjugated anti-BrdU antibody (Becton Dikinson, Que.) following a protocol supplied by the manufacturer (Fig. 8). Replicating cells in irradiated (2, 4, 6, and 8 Gy) and control (0 Gy) mice, treated with G-CSF or α CD3 anti-bodies for 3 days, were labeled *in vivo* by injecting mice intra-peritoneally with BrdU at a dose of 50 µg/g body weight. BrdU is an analog of uridine but is incorporated specifically into DNA in place of thymidine. Fluorescein conjugated anti (α)-BrdU antibodies can then be used to identify those cells undergoing replication. The .



Figure 8 Summary of cell cycle regulation experiments.

PLP190Bcr-abl, p53^{-/-}, and normal mice were injected with either G-CSF, IL-2, or a combination of IL-2 and anti-CD3 antibody for three days. Half of the mice are irradiated at the third day and 20 hours later both groups are injected with BrdU for four hours. Mice are then sacrificed and bone marrow as well as spleen cells, are stained with propidium iodide and FITC anti-BrdU antibody. Cell cycle profiles are then determined utilizing flow cytometry.

proportion of cells in the S phase of the cell cycle can be quantitated using flow cytometric analysis. Replicating cells were labeled for four hours, subsequently mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation. Bone marrow cells were flushed out of the femur with aMEM media (Gibco BRL, Ont.), while spleens were removed and crushed manually by passing through a sieve. Cells were washed twice with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (Gibco BRL, Ont.), fixed in ice cold 70% ethanol, and then incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C. Fixed cells were then denatured in 2N HCL with 0.5% (v/v) Triton X-100 (BioRad, Ont.) for 1 hour at room temperature, and subsequently neutralized in 0.1M sodium borate. Approximately 10⁶ cells of each sample were permeabilized by re-suspending in 50µl of 0.5% (v/v) Tween-20 (BioRad, Ont.) and 1% (w/v) bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma) in PBS. Twenty µl of anti-BrdU anti-body (Becton Dickinson) were added to each sample which were then incubated for 30 minutes in the dark at room temperature. Cells were then re-suspended in 1 ml PBS containing 5 µg of propidium iodide (PI) (Sigma, Ont.). PI is a fluorescent stain of nucleic acids. The cell-cycle profile of each sample was determined by dual-color flow cytometric analysis for DNA content (PI) and cells in S-phase of the cell cycle (FITC⁻) using a FACScan (Becton Dickinson) flow cytometer. Data from flow cytometry was analyzed using Modfit and Winlist (Verity Software House, Mu, USA) software to determine the proportion of cells in different phases of the cell-cycle.

2.7 Quantitative Assay and Morphological Determination of Apoptosis

The level of apoptosis in irradiated (6 and 8 Gy) and control unirradiated mice was determined using the In Situ Cell Death Detection Kit, Fluorescein (Boehringer Mannheim,



Figure 9 Summary of apoptosis experiments.

Pre-leukemic(PL) P190Bcr-abl, leukemic (L) P190Bcr-abl, and p53^{-/-} mice were irradiated and 14 hours later sacrificed. Apoptosis in bone marrow and spleen cells was quantitated by the tunnel assay. The cells were then resuspended in propidium iodide and analyzed using flow cytometry.

Ont.) (Fig. 9). The hallmark of apoptotic cells is DNA degradation which can be doublestranded as well as single-stranded DNA breaks (nicks). Both types of breaks can be detected by labeling the free 3'-OH termini with modified nucleotides such as fluorescein-dUTP. This labeling reaction can be accomplished by using terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT). TdT catalyzes the template independent polymerization of deoxyribonucleotides to the 3' end of single- and double-stranded DNA. Fourteen hours post-irradiation, mice were sacrificed and bone marrow cells were flushed out of femur. Spleen and tumor tissue were surgically removed and homogenized manually by passing through a fine sieve. Cells were then washed in PBS and fixed in a 4% paraformaldehyde solution in PBS for 30 minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed again in PBS and then permeabilized by re-suspending in 0.1% Triton X-100 (BioRad, Ont.) in a 0.1% sodium citrate solution. DNA strand breaks resulting from apoptosis were then labeled in the fixed, permeabilized cell. This was achieved by washing cells with PBS and then re-suspending in a reaction mixture containing terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) and fluorescein dUTP. DNA strand breaks were labeled by incubating for 60 minutes at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere in the dark. Cells were then washed twice in PBS and re-suspended in 1ml of PBS containing 5µg of propidium iodide. Cells were then analyzed for apoptosis (fluorescein⁻ dUTP) and cell cycle status (PI) using a FACScan (Becton Dickinson) and then analyzed with Modfit and Winlist computer software (Verity Software House, Mu, USA)

Typical apoptotic morphology was shown by mounting spleen and bone marrow cells from irradiated mice stained with $5\mu g/\mu l$ acridine orange (Sigma, Ont.) in PBS on microscopic slides and observing under a fluorescent microscope.

2.8 DNA Extraction and Mutagenesis Assay

Genomic DNA was extracted from spleen (n=4) and kidney (n=3) of PL P190Bcrabl/Big Blue and normal control as well as from four tumor tissue dissected from two leukemic P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice. DNA was extracted using RecoverEaseTM DNA isolation kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, California), following the manufacturer's protocol. Fifty mg of tissue were homogenized and nuclei were pelleted by centrifugation at 1100*g* for 15 minutes, and subsequently digested with proteinase K for 45 minutes at 50°C. DNA from digested nuclei was hydrated and purified by dialyzing in TE (10mM Tris-HCL pH7.5 and 1mM EDTA) buffer for 16 hours.

The λ bacteriophage shuttle vector was recovered from the mouse DNA by *in vitro* packaging of viable phage particles. Eight µl of genomic DNA was added to TranspackTM packaging extract (Stratagene, La Jolla, California) which automatically excises the λ vector target and packages it into viable λ particles (Fig. 10). The titer of the packaged phage was estimated by infecting SCS-8 *E. coli* cells with 1µl of the packaged reaction. The estimated value was used to plate large agar plates (25cm x 25cm) at a density of 15,000-20,000 plaque forming units (pfu). Phage infected SCS-8 *E coli* cells were plated in the presence of 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indol- β -galactopyranoside (X-Gal)(1.5mg/ml). Phage particles carrying a mutation in *lac1* coding sequences or promoter region of the shuttle vector will express α LacZ from the shuttle vector, which will combine with the remaining part of LacZ in SCS-8 cells to give a complete LacZ enzyme capable of cleaving X-gal to produce a blue color. A plaque reading enhancer (Stratagene, La Jolla, California) was used to aid in selecting mutant



Figure 10 Summary of mutant frequency experiments.

Genomic DNA was extracted from P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue and normal mice. The Big Blue lambda-LIZ vector was rescued from the extracted DNA and packaged into viable phage particles which were then used to infect *E coli* bacterial lawns grown in the presence of X-gal. Phage particles with a mutation in *lacI* will result in a blue mutant plaque. The *lacI* region in mutants was subsequently amplified and sequenced. blue plaques which were picked into 500μ l of SM buffer (100mM NaCl, 8mM MgSO₄.7H₂O, 50mM Tris- HCL pH 7.5, and 0.01% w/v gelatin) and plated two more times at lower density to confirm their identity and obtain a pure plaque. Mutation frequencies were determined for each sample by calculating the ratio of blue mutant plaques to the total number of plaques counted.

2.9 DNA Sequence Analysis and Mutational Spectrum

Twenty two representative mutants from spleen and kidney PL P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue and from the two tumors with high mutation rates were grown and sequenced. Mutant bacteriophage were grown using the WizardTM Lambda Preps DNA purification System (Promega, Madison-WI), following the manufacturer's protocol. One μ l of the grown phage DNA was used as a template to amplify a 1338 bp region containing the *lac1* gene and the *lac2* operator²³⁷. Two upstream and four downstream primers were used to circumvent failed amplifications due to mutations in the primer region.

PCR-F(Strata	agene) 5'-3' GTA TTA CCG CCA TGC ATA CTA G
PCR-R(Strata	agene) 3'-5' AAC AGC TAT GAC CAT GAT TAC G
-1280D ²³⁸	5'-3'ACA CCA CGA TGC CTG TAG CAA
-226D ²³⁸	5'-3' GTG ATG CTC GTC AGG
-55D ²³⁸	5'-3' GTA CCC GAC ACC ATC GAA TG
1283U ²³⁸	5'-3' GAG TCA CGA CGT TGT A

Enumerated primers correspond to base position on the LacI gene and are either upstream (U) or downstream (D). PCR reactions were performed using the following conditions: 2.5mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 0.4µM of each primer, and 0.02 Units/µl of Taq DNA polymerase (Gibco BRL) in a total of 60µl of reaction volume. The reaction mixture was subjected for initial denaturation at 95°C for 5 minutes, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 52°C for 90 seconds, and elongation at 72°C for 2 minutes followed by a final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes (DNA Thermocycler, Perkin Elmer). PCR products were purified using the QIAquik PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen). The entire lacl gene and the lacZ operator were sequenced by cycle sequencing using ABI automated sequencer (373A Applied Biosystems, Perkin Elmer). Five primers reading in the 5'-3' direction (1A, 3, 4, 6, and 7) (Fig. 11) (Big Blue guide p.26, Stratagene) were initially used with Dye Terminator Cycle Sequencing kit (Perkin Elmer). Mutations were then confirmed by sequencing in the opposite direction with one of the 3'-5' primers (14, 13A, 11A, and 9A) (Big Blue guide p.26, Stratagene) (Fig. 11). Readable chromatograms were typically 300-350 bps. in length per each primer run. Different chromatograms of the same mutant were combined, aligned, and compared to wild type *lacI* sequences ²³⁹ using the MacVector sequence analysis software. The mutational spectrum in PL P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue and in tumors from leukemic P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice was grouped into four categories: transitions at CpG, transitions not at CpG, transversions at CpG, and transversions not at CpG. The obtained mutation profile was compared to a list of reported mutations in the Big Blue lacI gene compiled in lacI database and software (MutaBase Software, Neal Cariello) to determine mutations specifically induced by Bcr-abl.
-163 CGGTTCCTGGCCTTTTGCTGGCCTTTTGCTCACATGTTCTTTCCTGCGTTATCCCCTGATTCTGTGGATAA -90 CCGTATTACCGCCATGCATACTAGTCTCGAGTACGTAGGTACCCGACACCATCGAATGGTGCAAAACCTTT -23 CGCGGTATGCCATGATAGCGCCCGGAAGAGAGAGAGTCAATTCAGGGTGGTGAATGTGAAACCAGTAACGTTATA 49 120 CTGCGAAAACGCGGGAAAAAGTGGAAGCGGCGATGGCGGAGCNGAATTACATTCCCAACCGCGTGGC CAA 191 CAACIGGCGGGCAAACAGTCGTTGCTGATTGGCGTTGCCACCTCCAGTCTGGCCCTGCACGCGCCGTCGCA 262 AATTGTCGCGGCGATTAAATCTCGCGCCGATCAACTGGGTGCCAGCGTGGTGGTGGTGGTGGTAGAACGAA 333 GCGGCGTCGAAGCCTGTAAAGCGGCGGTGCACAATCTTCTCGCGCAACGCGTCAGTGGGCTGATCATTAAC 475 TGTCTCTGACCAGACACCCATCAACAGTATTATTTTCTCCCATGAAGACGGTACGCGACTGGGCGTGGAGC 546 ATCTGGTCGCATTGGGTCACCAGCAAATCGCGCTGTTAGCGGGCCCATTAAGTTCTGTCTCGGCGCGCGTCTG 688 CGTCTGGCTGGCTGGCATAAATATCTCACTCGCAATCAAATTCAGCCGATAGCGGAACGGGAAGGCGACTG 617 GAGTGCCATGTCCGGTTTTCAACAAACCATGCAAATGCTGAATGAGGGCATCGTTCCCACTGCGATGCTGG 759 TTC-CAACGATCAGATGGCGCTGGGCGCAATGCGCGCCATTACCGAGTCCGGGCTGCGCGTTGGTGCGGAT 830 ATCTCGGTAGTGGGATACGACGATACCGAAGACAGCTCATGTTATATCCCGCCGTTAACCACCATCAAACA 901 GGATTTTCGCCTGCTGGGGCAAACCAGCGTGGACCGCTTGCTGCAACTCTCTCAGGGCCAGG GGTGAAGG 972 GCAATCAGCTGTTGCCCGTCTCACTGGTGAAAAGAAAAACCACCCTGGCGCCCAATACGCAAACCGCCTCT 1043 CCCCGCGCGTTGGCCGATTCATTAATGCAGCTGGCACGACAGGTTTCCCCGACTGGAAAGCGGGCAGTGAGC 1114 GCAACGCAATTAATGTGAGTTAGCTCACTCATTAGGCACCCCAGGCTTTACACTTTATGCTTCCGGCTCGT 1185 ATGTTGTGTGGAATTGTGAGCGGATAACAATTTCACACABGAAACAGCTATGACCATGATTACGGATTCAC 1256 TGGCCGTCGTTTTACAACGTCGTGACTGGGAAAACCCTGGCGTTACCCAACTTAATCGCCTTGCAGCACAT 1327 CCCCCTTTCGCCAGCTGGCGTAATAGCGA 1355

1A

Figure 11 Primers utilized to investigate the presence of mutations in *lac1* from blue mutant plaques.

Five primers reading in the 5' to 3' direction (1A, 3, 4, 6, and 7) were used to sequence the entire *lac1* gene including the two promoter regions (boxed upstream) and the *lac2* operator region (boxed downstream). Mutations were confirmed by sequencing in the 3' to 5' direction using one of four primers (14, 13A, 11A, and9A). Primer positions are indicated by arrows above the coding sequences.

2.10 Statistical Analysis

In cell cycle and apoptosis experiments, changes in the fraction of cells in different cell cycle stages or undergoing apoptosis as a result of irradiation were compared to nonirradiated samples by determining *P*-values using the student t-test (Sigmastat).

Mutant frequencies in spleens and kidneys of PL P190Bcr-abl mice were compared to those in normal mice by determining *P*-values also calculated using student t-test (Sigmastat). The mutation spectrum observed in P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice was compared to the *lac1* mutations in the Big Blue system compiled in *lac1* database and software (MutaBase Software, Neal Cariello) using a statistical program²⁹⁸ especially designed for such tasks and provided in the same software package. This program is an extension of Fisher's exact hypergeometric test in its computer intensive Monte Carlo implementation.

III- Results

3.1 Mice Genotyping

3.1.1 P190Bcr-abl and P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue Mice

The protocol used to identify transgenic P190Bcr-abl mice was described previously¹²⁴. Tail DNA were cut with XhoI/HindIII and the digested DNA was ran on a 1% agarose gel and southern blotted. The probe used in southern analysis is a fragment from a BglII/XhoI digest of the human *bcr* gene exon 1 which can recognize *bcr* sequences in the P190Bcr-abl translocation used as the transgene¹²⁴ (Fig. 7). Three bands were obtained (Fig. 12A and B); the top and bottom bands are present in the digested DNA from both transgenic and normal mice. Those two bands correspond to mouse *bcr* sequences which cross hybridize with the human *bcr* probe. The diagnostic band corresponds to human *bcr* exon 1 sequences fused to human *abl* exon 2 sequences both part of the P190Bcr-abl transgene used to construct the P190Bcr-abl transgenic mice and are not found in normal mice¹²⁴ (Fig. 7). For P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice, only screening for the presence for the P190Bcr-abl transgene was undertaken as such mice were always the result of homozygote Big BlueTM (obtained from Stratagene, Ca.) and P190Bcr-abl mice.

3.1.2 p53^{-/-} Mice

p53⁻⁻⁻ mice were purchased from Taconics Farms Inc.[™] and maintained under a licensed agreement. To screen for p53^{-/-} homozygotes, a protocol obtained from Taconics was followed. Tail DNA was digested with BamHI, ran on a 1% agarose gel, and southern

A- P190Bcr-abl



Figure 12 Mice genotyping.

Southern blot analysis was performed on mice tail DNA to determine their identity. The presence of the P190Bcr-abl transgene in P190Bcr-abl (A) and P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue(BB) mice (B) was determined using a 600 bp Xhol/BgIII fragment of the *bcr* sequences in the transgene following an Xhol/HindIII digest of tail DNA(arrows point to the diagnostic fragment). $p53^{-/-}$ mice were genotyped using a 605 bp KpnI probe that can detect inactivating insertions in exon 5 of the p53 allele. BamHI digests of $p53^{-/-}$ tail DNA yield a homozyote null phenotype ($p53^{-/-}$) when only the disrupted (larger) allele is observed (first sample in C). All patterns confered to the expected pattern established by the founders of these mice. A DNA sample from normal (N) mice is used in (A) and (B).

blotted. BamHI digestion of tail DNA releases a fragment which contains exons 2-6 of the p53 allele (Fig. 7). This fragment can be detected by a probe prepared using a 605bp exon 5 fragment of a KpnI digest of an LR10 plasmid also obtained from Taconics. This probe can detect two forms of the BamHI 2-6 exon fragment of the p53 allele (Fig. 7)(Fig. 12C). A 5 Kb fragment corresponding to the wild type allele and a larger 6.5 Kb corresponding to the mutated form of the allele²³⁵. The larger form is due to the insertion of a PolII-neo expression cassette in exon 5^{235} . Homozygote p53⁻⁻⁻ mice correspond to those with only the mutant copy of the allele present. A larger band present in all types of mice corresponds to a pseudogene.

3.2 Confirming Pre-Leukemic Status of P190Bcr-abl Mice

P190Bcr-abl mice were confirmed to be disease free by analyzing bone marrow and peripheral blood for the presence of leukemic cells. Bone marrow cells were obtained by crushing a piece of the mouse femur between two glass slides. Peripheral blood was mounted directly on a glass slide. Both preparations were stained with giesma stain and analyzed under a light microscope. In leukemic mice, bone marrow cells consist of round immature blast cells. In contrast, bone marrow cells from pre-leukemic mice show normal morphology with the characteristic appearance of neutrophils at different stages of maturity (Fig. 13A). In the peripheral blood from leukemic mice, immature blast cells that have traversed the bone marrow-blood barrier are observed (Fig. 13B). The same procedure was routinely applied to P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice to confirm that they are disease free.



₿-

A-



Figure 13 Morphological analysis of bone marrow and peripheral blood smears of P190Bcr-abl mice.

Mice were confirmed to be in the pre-leukemic (PL) stage by studying bone marrow (left panel) and peripheral blood smears (right panel). Bone marrow smears of PL P190Bcr-abl (A) show normal morphology with the apparent predominance of neutrophils at different stages of maturation. In leukemic mice (B), the bone marrow becomes packed with immature blast cells which can also be detected in circulation (arrows).

3.3 Cell-cycle Arrest in Cells from P190Bcr-abl Mice

The principal role of the cell cycle is to ensure the fidelity of DNA replication and chromosomal segregation. In the event of in-born error or exogenous genotoxic stress, cellular machineries have evolved that can impede the progression of the cell cycle and by that circumvent the amplification of such error. Contradictory results have so far been reported addressing the effect of the expression of Bcr-abl on cell cycle checkpoints following the induction of DNA damage in cell lines.

3.3.1 Cell-cycle Regulation in Bone Marrow Cells from G-CSF Treated Mice

First I decided to test whether the expression of the Bcr-abl constitutive tyrosine kinase in mouse tissue interferes with the ability of cells to block cell cycle progression following the induction of DNA damage by γ -irradiation. Normal mice utilized in those and subsequent experiments have the same genetic back-ground (F₁ C57BL 6 x CBA) as P190Bcr-abl mice. Normal, pre-leukemic (PL) P190Bcr-abl, and p53⁻⁻⁻ knock- out mice were injected with granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) for three days. This resulted in the increase of the percentage of proliferating cells in the bone marrow of different animals from 4-5% in non stimulated mice to 18-25% in stimulated mice. Differential analysis of peripheral cell blood counts (CBC) performed on individual mice indicated an increase in monocytes and neutrophils. This allowed me to monitor the decline of cells in the S-phase of the cell cycle following the induction of DNA damage and the activation of the G₁ and G₂ check points. Cells in the S-phase of the cell cycle were labeled *in vivo* by injecting mice with bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) for four hours prior to their sacrifice. Utilizing an irradiation dose of 2 Gy and studying cell cycle profiles 24 hours post-irradiation, I found

an arrest in cell cycle progression in bone marrow cells from both P190Bcr-abl and normal irradiated mice. Cell cycle profiles were determined by labeling bone marrow cells with fluorescein anti-BrdU antibodies and propidium iodide (PI). Cells were then analyzed by dual flow cytometry for anti-BrdU (y-axis) and PI (x-axis) (Fig. 14). Beneath each dual flow cytometric analysis, the cell cycle distribution of the same sample is represented by PI staining alone. The arrest in cell cycle was reflected in a decrease in the amount of cells in the S-phase of the cell cycle (Fig. 14). Bone marrow cells from irradiated normal mice (n=4) demonstrated a 35% decrease in cells in the S-phase of the cell cycle compared to bone marrow cells from unirradiated mice (n=4) (Fig. 15). This difference was statistically significant (P=0.011). This was paralleled by nearly an identical decrease in bone marrow cells from irradiated pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl (35.1%) (n=6) compared to non-irradiated mice (n=5) (P<0.001). Bone marrow cells from irradiated p53⁻⁻⁻ mice (n=4) showed only a 15.5% decrease in cells in the S-phase of the cell cycle compared to non-irradiated mice (n=4) (P=0.07). The arrest was mainly at the G₁ phase of the cell cycle as the decrease in cells in S phase was accompanied by an increase of cells accumulating at G_1 (Fig. 15).

The G₂/M cell cycle check-point also responded normally in cells treated with G-CSF but irradiated at 6 Gy and analyzed at an earlier time point (12 hours) (Fig. 16). Irradiation resulted in a decrease in the fraction of bone marrow cells in S-phase from both P190Bcr-abl mice (n=4, P<0.001) and normal controls (n=4, P=0.002) (Fig. 17). This was accompanied by an increase in the fraction of cells at G₂/M in bone marrow cells from P190Bcr-abl mice (P<0.001) as well as normal mice (P=0.029) (Fig. 17).



Figure 14 Flow cytometric analysis of cell cycle response in bone marrow cells from mice treated with G-CSF.

Mice were stimulated with G-CSF for three days after which they were irradiated at 2 Gy. Twenty hours later mice were injected with BrdU to label replicating cells. Four hours later, mice were sacrificed and bone marrow cells were removed from femurs and labelled with FITC-conjugated α BrdU anti-body (y-axis) and propidium iodide (PI) (x-axis). Cells were then analyzed using flow cytometry. Cells in S-phase are labelled with a-BrdU and score high on the y-axis. The x-axis (PI) labels total DNA and therefore facilitates the segregation of cells that underwent replication (2n) and those which have not (n).



Figure 15 Cell cycle regulation in bone marrow cells following irradiation (2 Gy) in G-CSF treated mice.

Normal, PL P190Bcr-abl (P190), and p53^{-/-} mice were treated with G-CSF for three days after which half of the mice were irradiated (2 Gy). Twenty hours later, mice were injected with BrdU for four hours and subsequently sacrificed and the cell cycle profile of bone marrow cells was determined by flow cytometry. Each data point represents four mice (normal, p53^{-/-}), five mice (irradiated P190), or six mice (non-irradiated P190).



Figure 16 Flow cytometric analysis of bone marrow cells following high dose irradiation in G-CSF treated mice.

P190Bcr-abl mice and normal mice were treated with G-CSF for three days afterwhich they were irradiated at a dose of 6 Gy. Eight hours later mice were injected with BrdU for four hours, afterwhich they were sacrificed. Flow cytometry analysis revealed a normal G₂/M check-point response.



Figure 17 Cell cycle regulation in bone marrow cells following a high dose of irradiation (6Gy) in G-CSF treated mice.

Normal, and PL P190Bcr-abl (P190Bcr-abl) mice were treated with G-CSF for three days after which half of the mice were irrradiated at a high dose of irradiation (6 Gy). Eight hours later, mice were injected with BrdU for four hours after which mice were sacrificed and cell cycle profiles of bone marrow cells was determined by flow cytometry. Each data point represents the average of four different mice.

3.3.2 Cell-cycle Regulation in Bone Marrow Cells from IL-2 Treated Mice

G-CSF mainly stimulates the proliferation of granulocytes of the myeloid lineage. Whereas the expression of Bcr-abl messages was detected in most tissues ²³², P190Bcr-abl mice usually succumb to lymphomas^{124; 232}. This lead me to investigate whether the expression of Bcr-abl in lymphoid cell progenitors affects cell cycle regulation following the induction of DNA damage in a manner different than that observed in myeloid cell lineage in the bone marrow.

Mice were injected with IL2 for three days to expand both the T- and B- lymphocytes cell pools. CBC differential analysis indicated the increase in lymphocytes in peripheral blood samples. IL2-treated normal (n=4), pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl(n=4), and P53^{-/-} (n=3) mice were irradiated at a dose of 6 Gy. Twenty- four hours post-irradiation, the cell cycle profiles of bone marrow cells from both irradiated and non-irradiated mice (P190Bcr-abl and normal mice n=4, p53^{-/-} n=4) were determined. In normal mice, a 48 % decrease in cells in the S-phase of the cell cycle was observed following irradiation, compared to non irradiated mice (P<0.001). Also, a 61% decrease in bone marrow cells in the S-phase of cell cycle was observed in similarly treated P190Bcr-abl mice (P<0.001), while only an 18.8% decrease in the same cells from p53^{-/-} mice was detected (Fig. 18 and 19). Cells from normal and P190Bcr-abl mice demonstrated a significant (P<0.001) increase in cells arrest was observed. In irradiated P190Bcr-abl mice a 30% increase (P=0.012) in the cell population in the G₂/M phase of the cell cycle was observed compared to only 12% in irradiated normal mice



Figure 18 Flow cytometric analysis of bone marrow cells after irradiation in mice stimulated with IL-2.

Mice were treated with IL-2 for three days after which they were irradiated (6 Gy). Twenty hours later replicating cells were labelled by injecting mice with BrdU for four hours. Flow cytometric analysis of bone marrow cells labelled with FITC-conjugated α BrdU and propidium iodide revealed a normal cell cycle response in this fraction of stimulated bone marrow cells. The analysis of the cell cycle profiles of irradiated p53^{-/-} mice relied on DNA content values (PI labelling).



Figure 19 Cell cycle regulation in bone marrow cells following irradiation of IL2 treated mice.

Normal, PL P190Bcr-abl (P190), and p53^{-/-} mice were treated with IL-2 for three days after which half of the mice were irradiated (6 Gy). Twenty hours later, mice were injected with BrdU for four hours after which they were sacrificed and the cell cycle profiles of bone marrow cells determined by flow cytometry. Each data point represents three different mice.

(P=0.222), while in p53^{-/-} mice a two fold increase in cells arrested at G₂/M was noted (Fig. 18 and 19). These results demonstrate that normal cell cycle responses to irradiation exist in lymphocytes from the bone marrow of P190Bcr-abl mice.

3.3.3 Cell-cycle Regulation in Spleen Cells from IL-2 and aCD3 Treated Mice

I was interested in finding out whether lymphocyte in other hematopoietic tissue from P190Bcr-abl mice demonstrate a normal cell cycle arrest following irradiation. Lymphocytes in spleens of normal, P190Bcr-abl, and p53^{-/-} mice were stimulated by administering α CD3 antibody and IL-2 for three days. Following irradiation (6 Gy), I noticed a decrease in the S-phase population of spleen cells from irradiated normal (66%) (*P*=0.009) and pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl (61%) (*P*=0.01) mice (n=3)(Fig. 20 and 21) compared to matched non-irradiated mice (n=3). This accompanied by a cell cycle arrest at the G₀/G₁ phase in both normal (*P*=0.003) and P190Bcr-abl (*P*=0.006) mice. In p53^{-/-} (n=3) mice, no statistically significant change in S phase was observed and although a slight increase in cells arresting at the G₂/M phase of the cell cycle was detected it was of no statistical significance (*P*=0.591) (Fig. 20 and 21).

3.4 p21^{WAF1/CIP1} Induction

Cells exposed to genotoxic stress block cell cycle progression at the G_1/S stage of the cell-cycle, avoiding by that the replication of damaged DNA, and allowing time for repair. The failure of such mechanism results in the amplification of genetic insults and gives rise to genomically unstable clones. P21^{WAF-1/CIP1} plays an important role in regulating the G_1/S



Figure 20 Flow cytometric analysis of spleen cells from IL-2 and α CD3 treated mice.

Mice were treated with a combination of IL-2 and aCD3 for three days to induce the proliferation of spleen cells. Half of the mice were then irradiated and twenty hours later both groups were treated with BrdU for four hours, after which mice were sacrificed. Flow cytometric analysis of spleen cells labelled with α BrdU (y-axis) and propidium iodide (x-axis) revealed a normal function of cell cycle check-points in normal and pre-leukemic (PL) P190Bcr-abl mice.



Figure 21 Cell cycle regulation in spleen cells following irradiation of IL-2 and αCD3 treated mice.

Normal, PL P190Bcr-abl (P190), and p53^{-/-} mice were treated with a combination of IL-2 and anti-CD3 antibody for three days to stimulate spleen cells. Subsequently, mice were irradiated at 6 Gy and twenty hours later treated with Brdu for four hours. Cell cycle profiles were then determined by flow cytometry. Each data point is an average of three mice.

101

checkpoint. Following DNA damage WAF-1 is transcriptionally activated by p53 and directly inactivates multiple cyclin-cyclin-dependent kinase complexes necessary for progression through G_1/S . I investigated whether the expression of P190Bcr-abl in preleukemic mice has any effect on the induction of WAF-1 following exposure to y-irradiation. I compared the effect in hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic tissue, both expressing the activated kinase. Three hours following whole body irradiation (10 Gy), WAF-1 induction was observed by northern blot analysis of total RNA from irradiated spleen, lungs (Fig 22) and kidney (Fig. 23) cells in both normal and pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl, but not in p53⁻⁻⁻ mice. An increase in WAF-1 level was also detected in spleen, lung (Fig. 22) and kidney (Fig. 23) tissue dissected from leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice (LP190Bcr-abl). I speculated that perhaps the induction of WAF-1 will be lost as a result of cells undergoing transformation. Tumor tissue from leukemic mice were, therefore, dissected following irradiation and WAF-1 levels were investigated at the same time point described above. Tumor tissue (Tumor-1 and 2 Fig. 23) from two different mice showed a normal increase in WAF-1 levels following irradiation. These experiments confirm that the induction of p21^{WAFI/CIPI} is intact in spleen, kidney, and lung tissue from pre-leukemic and leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice as well as in tumor tissue dissected from leukemic mice.

3.5 Apoptosis in Pre-Leukemic P190Bcr-abl Mice

Inhibition of apoptosis by Bcr-abl is thought to play a fundamental role in leukemogenesis by selectively increasing the survival of Bcr-abl(+) clones^{176; 222; 223}. Data from cell lines suggest that Bcr-abl expression protects genotoxically stressed cells from



B-



Figure 22 The induction of p21^{WAF-1/CIP1} in lung and spleen.

Total RNA was extracted from non-irradiated (0 Gy) and irradiated (10 Gy) normal, pre-leukemic (PL) P190Bcr-abl, p53^{-/-}, and leukemic (L) P190Bcr-abl mice. p21WAF-1/CIP1 messages were detected by probing electophoresed RNA samples with a radiolabelled fragment coding for mouse WAF-1 cDNA (A). The same gel is also shown after staining with ethidium bromide to show that comparable amounts of RNA samples are loaded (B).



Figure 23 The induction of p21WAF-1/CIP1 in kidney.

Total RNA was extracted from non-irradiated (0 Gy) and irradiated (10 Gy) normal, pre-leukemic (PL) P190Bcr-abl, p53^{-/-}, and leukemic (L) P190Bcr-abl mice, and from tumor tissue dissected from leukemic mice. p21WAF-1/CIP1 messages were detected by probing electrophoresed RNA samples with a radiolabelled fragment coding for mouse WAF-1 cDNA (A). The same gel is also shown after staining with ethidium bromide to show that comparable amounts of RNA samples are loaded (B).

apoptosis, independent of the status of the p53 gene. In the pre-B cell line BaF3, the expression of p210Bcr-abl confers resistance to apoptosis¹⁷⁶. In the same system, an intact G₁/S cell cycle response and induction of P21^{WAFLCIP} was observed following exposure to ionizing radiation. I was interested in investigating whether the expression of Bcr-abl during the pre-leukemic stage of the mouse model interferes with the regulation of apoptosis. Apoptosis was measured *in vivo* in bone marrow and spleen cells from irradiated (6 Gy) (n=4) and control non-irradiated mice (n=4). Simultaneous determination of cell cycle profile and quantification of apoptosis was achieved by staining with propidium iodide (x-axis) and in situ TdT-labeling of DNA strand breaks (y-axis). Apoptotic cells were scored as those positive for TdT labeling or those with sub-diploid DNA content after dual flow cytometric analysis. Under each dual flow cytometric analysis, a cell cycle profile of the same sample as determined by staining with Pl is shown.

In bone marrow cells from irradiated normal mice a three fold increase in cells undergoing apoptosis compared to non-irradiated mice was observed (P < 0.001) (Fig. 24 and 27). A comparable 3.8 fold increase in cells undergoing apoptosis was observed in spleen cells from the same set of mice (P < 0.001) (Fig 25 and 27). In irradiated pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice, a 2.8 and a 2.3 fold increase in the quantity of apoptotic cells was observed in spleen (P=0.001) (Fig. 25 and 27) and bone marrow cells (P < 0.001) (Fig. 24 and 27), respectively compared to cells from non-irradiated pre-leukemic mice. The p53 gene product is indispensable for the induction of apoptosis following exposure to radiation-induced DNA damage. p53^{-/-} knock-out mice were used as a negative control for apoptosis. Spleen cells from irradiated p53^{-/-} mice showed no significant change in the level of



Figure 24 Increase in the level of apoptosis in bone marrow cells following irradiation.

Mice were irradiated at 6 Gy, and sacrificed 14 hours later. The level of apoptosis was determined quantitatively by flow cytometry. Cells were determined to be apoptotic if they either label positively with the tunnel assay (y-axis), or have a sub-diploid DNA content as determined by propidium iodide (x-axis).



Figure 25 Increase in the level of apoptosis in spleen cells following irradiation.

Mice were irradiated at 6 Gy, and sacrificed 14 hours later. The level of apoptosis was determined by flow cytometry. Cells were determined to be apoptotic if they either label positively with the tunnel assay (y-axis), or have a sub-diploid DNA content as determined by propidium iodide (x-axis).

Bone marrow



Increase in level of apoptosis in spleen and bone marrow cells Figure 26 from irradiated leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice.

Mice were irradiated at 6 Gy, and sacrificed 14 hours later. The level of apoptosis was determined by flow cytometry. Cells were determined to be apoptotic if they either labelled positive with the tunnel assay (y-axis), or have a sub-diploid DNA content as determined by propidium iodide (x-axis).



B-





Irradiation-induced apopotosis was measured *in vivo* in bone marrow (A) and spleen (B) cells from normal (Nor), pre-leukemic (P190)Bcr-abl, and leukemic (LP190)Bcr-abl mice. Apoptotic levels in irradiated (6 Gy) mice were compared to those in unirradiated counterparts. Each data point represents an average of either four different mice in normal, PL P190Bcr-abl and irradiated L P190Bcr-abl or three animals in p53^{-/-}, and non-irradiated LP190Bcr-abl mice.

109

apoptosis compared to unirradiated $p53^{-1}$ controls (P=0.855) (Fig. 25 and 27), while in bone marrow cells a 1.4 fold increase was observed as a result of irradiation (Fig. 24 and 27).

The level of apoptosis following irradiation was also determined in bone marrow and spleen cells from mice which have already developed leukemia. This was done to determine whether leukemic transformation might lead to the abrogation of apoptosis suggesting that such an abrogation is a late step in disease progression. A 2.4 fold increase was observed in bone marrow cells from irradiated leukemic (L) P190Bcr-abl (n=4), compared to nonirradiated mice (n=3) (P=0.005) (Fig. 26 and 27). Also a 2.4 increase in cells undergoing apoptosis was observed in spleens from irradiated L P190Bcr-abl (n=5) compared to nonirradiated mice (n=3) (P<0.001) (Fig. 26 and 27). I also observed a three fold increase in cells undergoing apoptosis when tumor tissues from an irradiated leukemic P190Bcr-abl mouse was compared to the same tissue dissected from a leukemic unirradiated P190Bcr-abl mouse. The level of apoptosis was determined by staining cells with propidium iodide and scoring cells with a sub-diploid DNA content as apoptotic (Fig. 28). These results suggest that normal apoptotic responses are present even in tumor tissue arising in those mice where a 100 fold increase in the amount of the Bcr-abl kinase expressed has been reported²³⁶.

Typical apoptotic morphology resulting from DNA, such as chromatin condensation, was observed in cells from irradiated mice by DNA staining with acrydine orange. Acrydine orange labels DNA and therefore make it possible to observe typical DNA fragmentation as a result of apoptosis (Fig. 29 and 30).



Figure 28 Response to apoptosis following irradiation of tumor tissue from leukemic mice.

Leukemic mice showing macroscopic growth of tumors were irradiated at 6 Gy and the degree of apoptosis was compared to that in tumors from non-irradiated mice. Tumor cells were processed in parallel 14 hours post-irradiation. DNA content was determined by flow cytometry after cells were labelled with propidium iodide.

Figure 29 Irradiation-induced apoptotic structures in bone marrow cells from normal mice.

Bone marrow cells from irradiated (6 Gy) and non-irradiated normal mice were stained with acrydine orange, mounted on microscopic slides, and observed by fluorescent microscopy. Typical apoptotic bodies consisting of DNA aggregates (arrow), resulting from the endonuclease activity accompanying apoptosis, are observed in irradiated cells.

Normal



O Gy





Figure 30 Irradiation-induced apoptotic structures in bone marrow cells from P190Bcr-abl mice.

Bone marrow cells from irradiated (6 Gy) and non-irradiated PL P190Bcr-abl mice were stained with acrydine orange, mounted on microscopic slides, and observed by fluorescent microscopy. Typical apoptotic bodies consisting of DNA aggregates (arrow), resulting from the endonuclease activity accompanying apoptosis, are observed in irradiated cells. P190 Bcr-abl



•

O Gy





3.6 Generation of P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue Mice

From the experiments described above it was conclusive that cell cycle arrest and induction of apoptosis following DNA damage were intact in PL P190Bcr-abl mice. The genomic instability associated with the expression of Bcr-abl is, therefore, not due to the loss of these two processes. I therefore decided to look directly at genomic instability resulting from the expression of Bcr-abl by measuring mutation frequencies. This measure can serve as an indicator for the presence of a mutator phenotype which permits the accumulation of mutations and thus the development of malignant clones.

Transgenic mice homozygote for the P190Bcr-abl transgene¹²⁴ were mated with Big Blue mice homozygote for the *lac1* gene²³⁴. The genotype of P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue hybrids was determined by Southern blot analysis (Fig. 12B). The copy number of the P190Bcr-abl transgene has been shown to have no consequence on disease progression or latency^{206; 232}. P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue double hemizygotes developed disease at around 90 days after birth. We were interested in examining the causal relationship between the expression of Bcr-abl and an increase in mutation frequencies. The creation of such an environment conducive to the accumulation of genetic mutations may explain the oncogenicity of the activated kinase. It was also imperative to show that an increase in mutation frequencies in those mice was solely due to the expression Bcr-abl prior to the occurrence of overt leukemia. Double hemizygous mice were, therefore, determined to be in the pre-leukemic phase by examining bone marrow peripheral blood smears for the presence of leukemic blast cells as described before (Fig. 13).

Mutation frequencies from PI90Bcr-abl mice were compared to those from normal

mice generated from crossing homozygote Big Blue mice to the genetic background of P190Bcr-abl transgenics (F_1 C57Bl6/CBA). This will result in mice with the same amount of λ shuttle vector found in P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice.

3.7 Mutant Frequency in Pre-Leukemic P190 Bcr-abl and Normal Mice

Mutant frequencies were compared in spleens and kidneys from PL P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue and normal/Big Blue mice as well as from four tumor tissue obtained from leukemic mice. Mice from both groups were maintained under identical living and diet conditions. Tissue for mutant frequency studies were obtained from young PL P190Bcr-abl and normal mice (6-8 weeks) and were processed in parallel. DNA extracted from spleens and kidneys was used to prepare viable phage particles and infect E. coli lawns. A total of 786,880 plaques from six kidneys (3 PL P190Bcr-abl and 3 normal mice) and 1,043,721 from 8 spleens (4 PL P190Bcr-abl and 4 normal mice) were analyzed for the presence of blue mutant plaques (Table 1). A total of 494,434 plaques were also analyzed from four tumor tissues taken from two leukemic mice (Table 2). Blue mutant plaques were confirmed by replating twice on SCS-8 bacterial lawns grown in the presence of X-gal. One hundred and forty four blue plaques scored positive after the second plating. The mutant frequencies for PL P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue and normal/Big Blue mice were 9.53 x 10⁻⁵ and 4.4 x 10⁻⁵ in kidneys, and 7.2 x 10⁻⁵ and 3.17 x 10⁻⁵ in spleens (Table 1) (Fig. 31). The 2.2 and 2.3 fold increase in mutant frequencies in PLP190Bcr-abl kidneys and spleens compared to tissue from normal mice was of statistical significance(P=0.035 in spleen and P=0.05 in kidneys).

Tissue	Mouse	Total pfu x10 ³	Mutant plaques	Mutant Frequency x10 ⁻⁵	Mean x10 ⁻⁵ <u>±</u> SD
Kidney	P190Bcr-abl-1	91.813	9	9.8	
	P190Bcr-abl-54	155.478	18	12.0	
	P190Bcr-abl-73	104.748	7	6.8	9.5 <u>+</u> 2.61
	Normal-4	122.999	8	6.5	
	Normal-43	206.252	6	2.9	
	Normal-30	105.600	4	3.8	4.4 <u>+</u> 1.87
Spleen	P190Bcr-abl-1	146.954	10	6.8	
	P190Bcr-abl-47	105.093	11	10.5	
	P190Bcr-abl-73	144.979	9	6.2	
	P190Bcr-abi-54	150.821	8	5.3	7.2 <u>+</u> 2.28
	Normal-4	83 022	2	24	
	Normal-33	136 054	7	51	
	Normal-43	112 574	1	0.88	
	Normal-30	164.224	7	4.3	3.17 <u>+</u> 1.90

Table 1	Mutant frequencies in <i>lacl</i> from spleens and kidneys of PL
	P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue and normal mice.

Pfu, Plaque-forming units.



Figure 31 Mutant frequency in kidney and spleen tissues from P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue and Normal/Big Blue mice.

Genomic DNA was extracted from kidneys and spleens of P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue (P190/BB) mice as well as from normal/Big Blue (Nor) mice. Extracted DNA was used to recover the lambda-LIZ shuttle vector and package it into viable phage particles. Packaged lambda phages from each DNA sample are then used to infect *E. coli* lawns in the presence of X-gal. Phages carrying a mutation in *lac1* form a blue mutant plaque. Mutant frequencies are calculated for each sample by enumerating blue mutant plaques relative to total number of plaques plated. Each data point represents an average of three (kidney) or four (spleen) different mice. Also shown are the combined (Comb) spleen and kidney mutant frequencies from both groups of mice. Normal mice were prepared by crossing Big Blue mice to the genetic background of the P190Bcr-abl transgenic mice.
Mouse	Total pfu x10 ³	Mutant plaques	Mutant frequency x 10 ⁻⁵		
P190Bcr-abl-5	3				
Tumor-1	129.024	3	2.3		
Tumor-2	116.229	5	4.3		
Tumor-3	130.944	16	12.0		
P190Bcr-abl-5	0 118.237	13	11.0		

Table 2 Mutant frequencies in tumors from leukemic P190Bcrabl/Big Blue mice.

Pfu, Plaque-forming units.

Table 3 Mutational spectrum in PL P190Bcr-abl spleens and kidneys, and tumor tissues from leukemic mice.

	TS at CpG	TS at non-CpG		TV at CpG			TV at non-CpG	
	GC to AT	GC to AT	AT to GC	GC to CG	GC 10 TA		GC to CG	GC to TA
PL P190B	cr-abl 12(66.7%)) 2(11.1%)	3(16.7%)	-	-	-	1(5.6%)	-
Tumor	1	2	-	-	-	-	-	1
Control	129(45.9%)	41(14.6%)	22(7.8%)	5(1.8%)	34(12.0%) 9(3.2%) 8(2.8%) 33	(11.7%)

TS-transition, TV-transversion. Data from three PL P190Bcr-abl and two leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice.

Control data is of spontaneous mutants in *lacl* from Big Blue mice compiled in lacl data base and software (MutaBase Software, Neal CarielloTM) The combined mutant rates for PL P190Bcr-abl and normal mice were 8.4 x 10^{-5} and 3.8 x 10^{-5} (Table 1) (Fig. 31). One tumor tissue from leukemic mouse 53 had a high mutant frequency, 12.0×10^{-5} , while two other tumor tissues from the same mouse showed low mutant frequencies at 2.3 x 10^{-5} and 4.3 x 10^{-5} . Leukemic mouse 50 had only one tumor which had a high frequency rate at 11×10^{-5} (Table 2). I, therefore, observe an increase in the mutant frequencies in spleens and kidneys from PLP190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice and at least two tumors from LP190Bcr-abl mice.

3.8 Bcr-abl Expression in Pre-Leukemic P190Bcr-abl Mice

I was surprised to find an increase in mutant frequency in non-hematopoietic tissue such as the kidneys, given that P190Bcr-abl mice do not develop kidney-related diseases. The expression of P190Bcr-abl transgenes was previously shown to occur in both haematopoietic, as well as, non-haematopoietic tissue from transgenic mice at the RNA level^{124,232}. Expression at the protein level was only shown in end-stage tumors of P210Bcrabl mice which usually express a high level of the activated oncoprotein¹²⁵. I was interested in investigating whether there was a difference in the expression of Bcr-abl between the two tissues. Fifty μ g of total protein from different tissue of healthy pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice were examined by western blotting for the expression of the oncoprotein. Western blots were probed with an α -Abl antibody, which can detect the human P190Bcr-abl fusion protein as well as the mouse Abl protein (150 kDa). Expression was detected only in kidneys of preleukemic P190Bcr-abl and P190Bcr-abl/Big blue mice (Fig. 32) but not in the spleens. This confirms the minimal level of expression of P190Bcr-abl in those mice, as well as, the



Figure 32 P190Bcr-abl expression in mouse tissue.

Total protein was extracted from the spleens and kidneys of normal, preleukemic P190Bcr-abl, and pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue (BB) mice. P190Bcr-abl expression was detected by exposing western blots prepared from these samples to a mouse monoclonal antibody to Abl. A standard molecular weight protein marker (M) is shown in the first lane from the left. presence of a higher level of Bcr-abl expression in kidneys.

3.9 Mutational Spectrum

The whole *lacI* gene and the *lacZ* operator were sequenced from a sample of blue mutant plaques obtained from PL P190Bcr-abl spleens and kidneys as well as the two tumor tissues with high mutant frequencies. Prior to sequencing, individual mutant plaques were grown by infecting several *E. coli* bacterial plates. DNA was then extracted from λ -phage infected bacteria (Fig. 33) and the region corresponding for *lacI* was amplified (Fig. 33). The *lacI* gene, including the two promoter regions and the lacZ operator region was sequenced using 5 primers (1A, 3, 4, 6, and 7) reading in the 5' to 3' direction (Fig. 10). When a mutation was found, it was confirmed by sequencing the same region with one of 4 primers (14, 13A, 11A, and 9A) reading in the 3' to 5' direction (Fig. 10).

Mutations were grouped into one of the following categories: transitions at CpG, transitions not at CpG, transversions at CpG, and transversions not at CpG. The dominant mutation in PL P190Bcr-abl spleens and kidneys were $G \rightarrow A$ transitions at CpG (Table 3). This profile is similar to spontaneous mutations in Big Blue transgenic mice. A comparison between the mutation spectrum from P190Bcr-abl mice and the mutation spectrum from spontaneous mutation in the Big Blue mouse system (control, Table 3) did not reveal any significant difference (P=0.211). An original mutation was not detected in mutants analyzed from tumor tissue although the data group was small (Table 4). There was no bias towards a specific *lac1* position (Fig. 34), neither was a unique mutation found in all the P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mutants analyzed as all mutations were previously reported (Table 4).

λHindlll



B-

λ Hindili



Figure 33 Analysis of mutant bacteriophages.

The entire LacI gene and the LacZ operator were sequenced in mutant bacteriophages. For that, the bacteriophages were grown (A) and the region to be sequenced was amplified by PCR (B). In this specific excample primers 1283 (upstream) and -55d (downstream) were used.

49 120 CTGCGAAAACGCGGGAAAAAGTGGAAGCGGCGATGGCGGAGCTGAATTACATTCCCAACCGCGTGGCACAA 191 CAACTGGCGGGCAAACAGTCGTTGCTGATTGGCGTTGCCACCTCCAGTCTGGCCCTGCACGCGCCGTCGCA 262 AATTGTCGCGGCGATTAAATCTCGCGCCGATCAACTGGGTGCCAGCGTGGTGGTGTCGATGGTAGAACGAA 333 GCGGCGTCGAAGCCTGTAAAGCGGCGGTGCACAATCTTCTCGCGCAACGCGTCAGTGGGCTGATCATTAAC 475 TGTCTCTGACCAGACACCCATCAACAGTATTATTTTCTCCCCATGAAGACGGTACGCGACTGGGCGTGGAGC 546 ATCTGGTCGCATTGGGTCACCAGCAAATCGCGCTGTTAGCGGGCCCATTAAGTTCTGTCTCGGCGCGTCTG 688 CGTCTGGCTGGCTGGCATAAATATCTCACTCGCAATCAAATTCAGCCGATAGCGGAACGGGAAGGCGACTG 617 GAGTGCCATGTCCGGTTTTCAACAAACCATGCAAATGCTGAATGAGGGCATCGTTCCCACTGCGATGCTGG 759 TTGCCAACGATCAGATGGCGCTGGGCGCCAATGCGCGCCATTACCGAGTCCGGGCTGCGCGTTGGTGCGGAT 830 ATCTCGGTAGTGGGATACGACGATACCGAAGACAGCTCATGTTATATCCCGCCGTTAACCACCATCAAACA 901 GGATTTTCGCCTGCTGGGGCAAACCAGCGTGGACCGCTTGCTGCAACTCTCTCAGGGCCAGGCGGTGAAGG 972 GCAATCAGCTGTTGCCCGTCTCACTGGTGAAAAGAAAAACCACCCTGGCGCCCCAATACGCAAACCGCCTCT 1043 CCCCGCGCGTTGGCCGATTCATTAATGCAGCTGGCACGACAGGTTTCCCCGACTGGAAAGCGGGCAGTGAGC 1114 GCAACGCAATTAATGTGAGTTAGCTCACTCATTAGGCACCCCAGGCTTTACACTTTATGCTTCCGGCTCGT 1185 ATGTTGTGTGGAATTGTGAGCGGATAACAATTTCACACAGGAAACAGCTATGACCATGATTACGGATTCAC 1256 TGGCCGTCGTTTTACAACGTCGTGACTGGGAAAACCCTGGCGTTACCCAACTTAATCGCCTTGCAGCACAT 1327 CCCCCTTTCGCCAGCTGGCGTAATAGCGA 1355

Figure 34 Mutation spectrum in lacl from PL P190Bcr-abl and tumor tissue.

Positions of base substitutions in kidney and spleen of PL P190Bcr-abl (black circle) and in tumor tissue (black square) from leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice. The entire *lac1* gene including the two promoter regions (boxed) and the *lac2* operator region (boxed) is shown.

Mutant	Tissue	Mutation Type			Position	Unique
P190/BB54	-1 Kidney	CG	to	A	56	No
P190/BB1-2	2 Kidney	CG	to	A	56	No
P190/BB1-	1 Kidney	C(G)	to	т	329	No
P190/BB54	-6 Kidney	т	to	С	119	No
P190/BB54	-10 Kidney	т	to	G	-25	No
P190/BB54	-9 Kidney	CG	to	A	792	No
P190/BB54	-7 Kidney	C(G)	to	т	375	No
P190/BB54	-3 Kidney	CG	to	A	308	No
P190/BB54	-2 Kidney	CG	to	A	269	No
P190/BB54	-8 Kidney	т	to	С	117	No
P190/BB54	-10E Kidney	AC	to	т	206	No
P190/BB54	-5B Kidney	CG	to	т	86	No
P190/BB54	-4A Kidney	GC	to	т	131	No
P190/BB47	-8 Spleen	CG	to	A	180	No
P190/BB47	-15 Spleen	CG	to	A	381	No
P190/BB47	-11 Spleen	С	to	т	707	No
P190/BB73	-4 Spleen	CG	to	A	93	No
P190/BB73	-5 Spleen	A	to	G	83	No
Tumor54-4		CG	to	A	95	No
Tumor50-1	0	С	to	т	959	No
Tumor50-1	2	С	to	A	714	No
Tumor50-1	1	С	to	т	777	No

Table 4 The position of mutations in lacl.

VI- Discussion

Cancer progression is a multi-step phenomenon in which cells acquiring growth advantage accumulate additional mutations giving rise to a malignant clone ²⁴⁰. Chronic myelogenous leukemia is historically one of the first cancers found to fit such a model for disease progression ²⁰⁴. The initial expression of the Ph chromosome is sufficient for the induction of granulocytic hyperplasia which is the hallmark of the chronic phase of the disease⁴⁰. The evolution of chronic myelogenous leukemia from an initial benign chronic phase to an acute leukemia phase is associated with genomic instability. As such, transition to the acute terminal phase of the disease is associated with additional accumulation of mutations leading to complete abrogation of hematopoietic maturation ^{1: 204}. The chromosomal rearrangement resulting in the expression of Bcr-abl is, therefore, believed to be the initiating event in the disease and is followed by secondary mutations assumed to be necessary for disease progression⁴⁰.

The expression of Bcr-abl in cell line models results in the inhibition of growth regulatory mechanisms that normally restrict proliferation. Defective cellular adhesion ^{71; 194} as well as insensitivity to apoptosis ^{180; 228} observed in these systems may explain the growth advantage acquired by Bcr-abl clones which can trigger the accumulation of more mutations.

Bcr-abl has been shown to abrogate growth factor requirements when expressed in several myeloid and lymphoid cell lines ^{241; 242}. The myeloid hyperplasia encountered in chronic phase CML can therefore be attributed to the increased survival of Ph positive CML clones presumably by blocking apoptotic signals. This has been shown to be true in both

CD34⁻ CML progenitor cells as well as in hematopoietic cell lines expressing Bcr-abl ¹⁷⁶. Bedi *et al* have also shown that resistance to apoptosis in Bcr-abl expressing cell lines is accompanied by an altered cell cycle arrest kinetics allowing the repair of cells which otherwise are prone to undergo apoptosis ¹⁷⁶. Also retroviral mediated gene transfer and expression of P210Bcr-abl in IL-3 dependent myeloblastic 32D cl3 (G) cell line resulted in altered cell cycle regulation leading to an increase in the fraction of cells in G₂/M phase of the cell cycle⁷³. Other data, however, suggest that proliferating primary CD34⁻ cells from CML patients do not demonstrate resistence to apoptosis following growth factor withdrawal or irradiation ²²⁴. Also, Ph-positive hematopoietic progenitors as well as chronic phase CML cells do not show altered growth factor requirements or proliferative response ²⁴³⁻²⁴⁵.

Initial work in Dr. Laneuville's laboratory indicated that cumulative changes associated with Bcr-abl expression might be due to an acquired mutator phenotype caused by the loss of key regulatory events controlled by p53. In a 32D cl(3) cell line transduced with a retrovirus expressing P210Bcr-abl, normal p53-dependent G_1 cell-cycle arrest and induction of *gadd45* mRNA following exposure to ionizing radiation was not observed (unpublished data). The expression of P210Bcr-abl in this cell line also resulted in a cell cycle-dependent change of p53 to a mutant conformation, as well as inhibition of transactivation of reporter constructs by ectopically expressed wild type p53 (unpublished data). These results suggested that Bcr-abl expression can functionally inactivate p53-dependent responses producing a mutator phenotype which results in genomic instability and thus influences the rate of disease progression.

Loss of genomic stability represented by the inability of cells to respond to DNA

damage is a central theme in the development of cancer. The tumor suppressor gene, p53, is implicated in the control of key regulatory processes that function in maintaining genomic stability²⁴⁶. This is emphasized by the loss of functional p53 in half of all human cancers. In cancers where p53 is not mutated, loss of function may be attributed to the binding and sequestering of the protein as seen in tumors over-expressing the cellular gene Mdm2 ²⁴⁷ or those associated with human DNA tumor viruses such as papilloma viruses ²⁴⁸.

p53 levels increase in response to a number of factors such as damaged DNA, arrest in DNA or RNA synthesis, and nucleotide depletion. A number of cellular proteins are suspected to act as "sensors" which sense these changes and activate p53. DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) binds to and is activated by broken ends of DNA, can phosphorylate p53 at residues 15 and 37²⁴⁹. Cells lacking DNA-PK, however, can still undergo cell cycle arrest in a p53-dependent manner raising the possibility of other cellular factors compensating for DNA-PK loss²⁴⁶. Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) is involved in increasing the level of p53 in mouse fibroblasts in response to DNA damage and nucleotide depletion²⁵⁰ although loss of PARP does not affect the activity of p53 in response to such cellular stress²⁵¹. Loss of the product of the *ataxia telangiectasia* gene, ATM, affects the response of p53 to DNA strand breaks caused by γ -irradiation but not to pyrmidine dimers caused by UV irradiation ^{252; 253}. Deregulated Ras and the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway have been also shown to modulate p53 activity^{246; 254; 255}. Overexpression of Ras or activation of the MAP kinase pathway results in growth arrest. Also, cells without a functional p53 and where the MAP kinase pathway is activated exhibit a loss of p53-dependent cell cycle arrest and an increase in genomic instability²⁵⁴. p53 mediates a

 G_1 cell cycle arrest in response to DNA damage caused by UV or γ -radiation, cytotoxic drugs, or nucleotide deprivation²⁴⁶. A key effector of p53-induced G_1 arrest is p21^{WAFLCIPI} which can bind to and inhibit cyclin-dependent kinases which normally phosphorylate the tumor supressor gene RB. This results in a hypophosphorylated Rb that can maintain the transcription factor E2F in a complex preventing it from favoring a G_1 to S cell-cycle transition²⁵⁶.

p53 is involved in a mitotic check-point which inhibits the replication of DNA subsequent to mitotic spindle damage²⁵⁷. Following the exposure of cells to inhibitors of microtubule assembly, cells with normal p53 arrest with a 4N DNA content, while p53-null cells reach a DNA content of 8 or 16N ²⁵⁷. p53 in this case is induced after the completion of mitosis and inhibits entry to S-phase. p53, also, blocks entry into mitosis when DNA synthesis is blocked. This is shown in cells treated with hydroxyurea which inhibits dNTP synthesis. In normal cells treated with hydroxyurea, p53 prevents premature entry to mitosis. In p53-null mouse embryo fibrobasts, cells treated with hydroxyurea continously attempt entering mitosis but these attempts are aborted as cells fail to complete cytokinesis²⁴⁶.

p53 also preserves genomic stability by inducing apoptosis mainly in cells of hematopoietic origin. Apoptosis in those cells can be triggered by DNA damage, growth factor depletion, or the expression of oncoproteins such as Myc and the adenovirus E1A^{258;} ²⁵⁹. In some cases the transcriptional activation property of p53 is important in its induction of apoptosis. This is exemplified by p53 transactivation of the pro-apoptotic proteins Bax and Igf-Bp3. The induction of apoptosis or cell cycle arrest by p53 depend on many factors such as the extent of DNA damage and the level of p53 present. Also, the absence of p21^{WAFLCIP1} results in cells undergoing apoptosis rather than cell cycle arrest. It is widely believed that loss of p53 function undermine the genomic stability of cells. Gene amplification, a model system to study loss of genomic stability, occurs in cells that lose p53 activity. Embryo fibroblasts from p53-null mice, as well as primary human cells from Li-Fraumeni patients that have lost a single p53 copy, exhibit gene amplification²⁴⁶.

p53 is mutated at a low frequency in chronic myelogenous leukemia⁴⁰ not allowing the deduction of a direct link between the pathogenesis of the disease and the loss of normal p53 expression. However, and as mentioned above, in cell lines expressing Bcr-abl p53dependent mechanisms such as cell cycle arrest and induction of apoptosis following genotoxic stress were found to be compromised.

In this study, I have decided to utilize an *in vivo* leukemia mouse model transgenic for P190Bcr-abl to determine the consequences of Bcr-abl expression on mechanisms safeguarding genomic stability. The first part of this work was to extend findings in cell lines expressing Bcr-abl to a Bcr-abl leukemic mouse model in an attempt to utilize this model in studies aimed at reversing the effect of Bcr-abl expression. Bcr-abl specific kinase inhibitors, for example, can be used to test whether the effects of Bcr-abl expression on genomic stability can be reversed. This in turn would have presented a unique opportunity for the treatment of CML patients as the expression of Bcr-abl is the sole consistent risk factor associated with the progression of the disease.

Here I show that in both bone marrow and spleen cells from pre-leukemic (PL)Bcrabl transgenic mice, genotoxic stimuli as a result of irradiation does not result in aberrant response. Cell cycle arrest and induction of apoptosis was comparable to that observed in normal mice following irradiation. This was accompanied by an elevation in the level of $p21^{WAF-1 CIP-1}$ confirming a normal cell cycle response following genotoxic stress. I also observed an increase in apoptosis in spleen and bone marrow cells from leukemic mice following irradiation. I have decided to perform these experiments *in vivo* in order to assess the primary effect of Bcr-abl expression in the context of intact cellular functions. Mice were confirmed to be disease free by the examination of blood and bone marrow smears for the presence of leukemic cells. Mice were irradiated and cell cycle profiles as well as apoptotic levels were measured from freshly dissected bone marrow and spleen cells. I used p53^{-/-} nullizygous mice as both technical and physiological controls. As expected there was neither a G₁/S cell cycle arrest nor an increase in apoptotic levels in bone marrow and spleen cells

An important aspect of the model presented here, which I think must be addressed, is the level of Bcr-abl expression in spleen and bone marrow cells from P190Bcr-abl mice at what we have termed the pre-leukemic (PL) stage. The P190Bcr-abl transgenic colony utilized here is derived from founder 623 ²³²(C57BLxCBA F₁). This transgenic line has been previously bred for more than four generations with the occurrence of lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma in each generation ²³². Prolonged expression in bone marrow was confirmed in that samples from younger mice (19 days, 5-6 days, day1, and between 14-16 days of gestation) were positive for Bcr-abl expression by RT-PCR²³². Prolonged expression of Bcr-abl was also detected in progenies of line 623 in the brain, liver, kidney, spleen, and muscle ²³². Expression in tissue other than the bone marrow did not appear to be due to Bcr-abl expressing bone marrow cells escaping from circulation as peripheral blood samples of

the same mice were negative for Bcr-abl expression ²³². Quantitatively, using RNase protection assays, the level of Bcr-abl in 13-16 day old mice were compared in different tissue²³². Compared to the level of expression in lymphoblastic lymphoma, the relative level of Bcr-abl expression is fifty fold lower in brain and 100 fold lower in spleen and kidney ²³². Real difference in the level of expression might also exist between spleen and kidney cells. I have detected Bcr-abl expression in kidneys but not spleens from P190Bcr-abl mice using a less sensitive but more quantitative method of western blotting (Fig. 32). Given the expression of Bcr-abl, whilst at low level, I think that the evaluation of the biological effect of such expression on cellular mechanisms such as cell cycle arrest and induction of apoptosis is relevant in the understanding of disease pathogenesis in CML. Bcr-abl expression in cell culture systems has been previously shown to modulate both processes following induction of genotoxic stress ^{176; 225}. This serves as an underlying mechanism to explain Bcr-abl associated genomic instability.

The discrepancy between the results reported here and those reported from experiments in cell line systems can, therefore, be due to differences in the level of Bcr-abl expression. The level of Bcr-abl expression in bone marrow and spleen cells from PL P190Bcr-abl mice is many fold less than in cultured cells transiently or stably expressing Bcr-abl ²³². I decided to look at inhibition of apoptosis in mice tissue which express high levels of Bcr-abl. As mentioned previously, Bcr-abl expression is 100 fold more in tumor tissue than PL spleen and bone marrow²³⁶. In these tissue a block in irradiation-induced apoptosis would have been expected similar to results obtained with cell lines expressing high levels of Bcr-abl^{232; 227}. I was not able to document a decrease in levels of apoptosis as

a result of irradiation in tumor tissue dissected from leukemic mice (Fig. 28) neither did I find an inhibition of P21^{WAF-LCIP} induction (Fig. 23 Tumors 1 and 2). These results suggest that the concentration of Bcr-abl might be only one of many facets involved in the loss of sensitivity to apoptosis. It is, also, difficult to discern whether the increase of Bcr-abl in tumor tissue from leukemic mice preceded loss of apoptotic sensitivity or whether both phenomena occur concurrently. Also, different parts of the same tumor might manifest different degrees of genomic instability as observed in human gastric carcinomas ²⁶⁰. It is intriguing that in patients with CML blast crisis as well as in ALL patients, apoptosis can be induced to high levels (80% of leukemic cells in peripheral blood and bone marrow) using a variety of chemotherapeutic drugs²⁶¹. This presents further evidence that inhibition of apoptosis is not an early event in Bcr-abl -induced transformation.

It is noteworthy to point out a similar discrepancy between CML lines which are established mostly from patients in the acute phase of the disease ²⁶² and primary cells from patients in the chronic phase of the disease. While CML cell lines are growth factor independent and resistant to apoptosis, CML progenitor cells from patients in the chronic phase of the disease are growth factor dependent and susceptible to apoptotic death ^{224; 263}. Several lines of evidence point to an increase in Bcr-abl protein level associated with disease progression in CML. Stable Bcr-abl expression is observed in all stages of CML but does increase in some cases with disease progression ²²⁶. Also, duplication of the Philadelphia chromosome is a frequent karyotypic anomaly in transition from chronic phase to acute phase CML ⁴⁰. It is, however, hard to discern whether this increase is responsible of the transition to the acute phase of CML or a result of the transformed phenotype associated with

this transition.

The effect of the level of Bcr-abl expression on biological functions generally attributed to its expression was recently addressed by Cambier *et al*²²⁷. The biological effects of a high and low Bcr-abl expression vectors were studied in hematopoietic cell lines. The low expression vector was driven by the human *bcr* promoter and was utilized to mimic the low level of Bcr-abl expression typical of the chronic phase of CML. Whereas clones derived from low level Bcr-abl expression vector were responsive to IL-3 addition, cell lines derived from the high level Bcr-abl expression vector were refractory to IL-3 addition and proliferated maximally in its absence ²²⁷. However, clones derived from both expression vectors were tumorigenic when injected into syngenic mice. Similar disease latency and phenotypes as well as hematopoietic organs infiltration were observed after the injection of clones derived from both expression vectors. This suggests that *in vitro* growth factor requirements or their absence is not necessarily an accurate measure of tumorigenicity *in vitro*²²⁷.

A direct correlation between the levels of Bcr-abl expression and resistance to apoptosis was also observed in the same study ²²⁷. Only clones expressing high levels of Bcrabl were resistant to apoptosis induced by γ -irradiation. This is in contrast to results obtained from immortalized murine cell lines expressing Bcr-abl, where resistance to apoptosis induced by a variety of agents was observed ^{176; 180; 222; 225; 228}. However, this is in agreement with other observations (see above) in CML progenitor cells where the level of apoptosis induced by different stimuli was found to be comparable to that of normal counterparts ^{224;} ²⁶³. The level of Bcr-abl expression in primary CML cells is believed to be low ²²⁷, suggesting that similar to clones derived from low expressing Bcr-abl vectors ²²⁷, normal apoptotic response is probably intact in the initial phase of CML. Evidence of glucocorticoid- induced apoptosis in leukemic cells from patients with lymphoid blast crisis may suggest that this mechanism might be preserved even in later stages of the disease. I think that in the transgenic system I utilized, the pre-leukemic (PL) stage is an ideal point of time to investigate the effects of Bcr-abl. P190Bcr-abl is expressed at low but physiologically relevant levels in that lymphoblastic leukemia results in all of these mice ²³².

The different biologic responses observed when disparate levels of Bcr-abl are expressed may represent the activation of different signal transduction pathways²²⁷. Low levels of Bcr-abl might activate pathways such as the Ras/MAPK pathway which are normally activated by cytokines leading to growth factor independence and immortalization²²⁷. High concentrations on the other hand might be necessary to activate anti-apoptotic signals such as those leading to Bcl-2 activation. Cambier *et al* have established a direct correlation between the level of Bcr-abl expression, the level of Bcl-2 induction, and the degree of resistance to apoptosis²²⁷. This is also reflected in bone marrow cells from CML patients in the acute phase of the disease which, when compared to cells from patients in the chronic phase, show an increase in the level of Bcl-2 expression²⁶⁴. Taken together our results suggest that loss of sensitivity to apoptosis and cell cycle arrest does not seem to be the primary defect in the chronic phase of CML, but might rather arise in later stages of the disease.

It has been technically difficult to delineate the primary consequences of Bcr-abl expression *in vivo* or *in vitro*. Conditional Bcr-abl expression vectors have shed some insight

in in vitro cell culture systems on the nature of such primary events. A temperature sensitive conditional mutant of P210Bcr-abl was used to assess the early consequences of Bcr-abl expression in the IL-3 dependent BaF3 cell line ²⁶⁵. In this system abrogation of growth factor dependence was not found to be the primary consequence of Bcr-abl expression. Cells required a prolonged exposure to Bcr-abl tyrosine kinase activity in order to survive in the absence of IL-3, suggesting the requirement of additional genetic events to escape growth factor requirement ²⁶⁵. A moderate suppression of apoptosis following growth factor withdrawal was observed suggesting again that the expansion of the myeloid compartment characteristic of chronic phase CML might be the result of prolonged cell survival rather than the increase in the rate of proliferation ²⁶⁵. To this effect, there was no activation of Rasdependent MAP kinase pathway following the induction of the temperature sensitive Bcr-abl tyrosine kinase activity in Baf3 cells²⁶⁵. Other work, however, utilizing clonal 32D cell lines inducibly expressing P210Bcr-abl from a glucocorticoid response promoter, argue that Bcrabl expression cause both the increase in the level of GTP-bound Ras and the hyperphosphorylation of Raf²⁰². Induction of Bcr-abl expression in G₀ arrested cells results in DNA synthesis and cells entering the S phase of the cell cycle. This was accompanied by the increase in activity of Cdk2, and cyclin D2 and D3 associated kinases suggesting that the cell cycle entry induced by Bcr-abl expression is accompanied by activation of the cell cycle machinary ²⁰². The requirement for prolonged exposure to Bcr-abl expression to escape growth factor dependency is compatible with evidence of an underlying genetic instability as a result of Bcr-abl expression. Non-random chromosomal cytogenetical and genetical abnormalities⁴⁰ are associated with blast transformation in CML patients^{40; 266}.

Non random chromosomal changes and karyotypic instability similar to those observed in blast crisis transition in CML are encountered during later stages of leukemia in P190Bcr-abl transgenic mice ²⁰⁶ as well as in a myeloblastic cell line transformed to IL-3 independency by P210Bcr-abl expression¹²⁷. Klucher et al²⁶⁷ have also described a BaF3 cell line with a tetracycline-dependent Bcr-abl expression construct. In the presence of doxycycline, BaF3 cells are viable and proliferate independent of IL-3. Nude mice injected with this cell line developed doxycycline-dependent tumors which regress in the absence of doxycycline. Importantly, and after long latency period, tumors reappear in animals after doxycycline withdrawl or in animals injected with the inducible cell line but never exposed to doxycycline. Characterization of those spontaneously transformed subclones demonstrated in most cases an increase in basal expression of Bcr-abl, with some clones augmenting Bcrabl expression after doxycycline induction, while others do not. An important implication of these results is the contribution of Bcr-abl expression on genetic instability of BaF3 cells, leading to their conversion into growth factor independence and their ability to cause tumors in mice. The emergence of doxycycline-independent tumorigenic subclones, it was argued, results from the expression of Bcr-abl in BaF3 cells, which might accelerate mutagenic events through the induction of genetic instability similar to observations documented in P190Bcr-abl transgenic mice 206: 268.

In vitro models, however, fall short of correlating Bcr-abl induced oncogenesis and an increase in mutation frequency. In the later part of the work presented here, the effect of Bcr-abl expression on genomic instability was investigated by directly measuring mutation frequencies in PL P190Bcr-abl mice. The Big Blue transgenic mouse system is a powerful *in vivo* tool for the detection of spontaneous as well as induced mutations in animals ²³³. A good correlation between an increase in mutant frequency and oncogenesis has been previously reported using the Big blue mouse system ²⁶⁹. Also, and except for long deletions induced by X-irradiation, mutations in the bacterial *lac1* locus of Big Blue mice respond in a similar fashion to host mouse loci when stressed with mutagen²⁷⁰. I combined this system for mutation detection with the transgenic mouse model for leukemia described earlier. Those mice, as mentioned before, develop pre-B leukemias and lymphomas after an average of 100 days during which the transgene is expressed in most tested tissue ²³². I think that this disease-free period is ideal for the study of the effect of Bcr-abl expression on the accumulation of mutation.

I observed an increase in mutant frequency in both kidneys and spleens of preleukemic (PL) P190Bcr-abl mice as well as in two out of four tumor tissue following the unset of overt leukemia (Tables 1 and 2). I think that the observed increase in mutant frequencies is biologically significant when compared to the effects of known carcinogens. A 20mg/Kg dose of the known carcinogen benzo[a]pyrene results in a mutant frequency value of 7.4×10^{-5} in kidneys of *lac1* mice²⁶⁹. I also observe that G:C→A:T transitions at CpG dinucleotides were the dominant mutation in PL P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice. This mutation spectrum is similar to spontaneous mutations in *lac1* from Big Blue mice. I also compared the distribution of the positions of those mutations in *lac1* with the positions of spontaneous mutations in Big Blue mice and found no statistical difference (p=0.211)(Table 3). A Bcr-abl unique mutation or mutation spectrum was not detected either, as all sequenced mutations recovered from P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice were previously reported. The small sample size

of sequenced mutants from tumor tissue did not permit a significant comparison with available mutation spectrum from the Big Blue mouse system. The observation that two tumor tissue did not show an increase in mutant frequency suggests that those tumors may have risen from cells that do not carry a mutation in *lacl* but might have acquired it later when transformed cells undergo rapid cell division. It is important to stress that mutant frequency determined in the spleen and kidney of PL P190Bcr-abl mice reflect a measure acquired from birth and until 6-8 weeks. Mutant frequencies can potentially be a measure of mutations acquired through organ development and in later cell divisions following the maturation of an organ. Different organs are expected to have different rates of proliferation. It is therefore important to compare similar organs at similar ages. Tumor tissues are expected to have a high proliferative potential. If mutant frequencies are a measure of mutations acquired during cell division one could expect a high frequency in every tumor tissue. In thymic lymphomas from p53⁻⁻⁻ crossed to Big Blue mice only one in four tumors was observed with an increase in *lacI* mutation²⁷¹. This suggests that *lacI* mutation frequencies in tumors are not simply a function in errors accumulated during cell division. In assessing lacl mutations from tumor tissues many factors such as tumor size and even the region of the tumor used for the ex vivo preparation of λ -phage should be considered. As mentioned before, I think this is essential after a recent study suggesting the presence of heterogenic degrees of mutator phenotype in the same tumor sample from gastro-intestinal carcinomas²⁶⁰.

A mutator phenotype in E coli is exhibited when a mutation affecting factors that control mismatch repair are present. Mismatch repair in E coli involves the mutator genes *mutS*, *mutL*, *mutH*, *uvrd*, and *dam*. The isolation and purification of those genes has permitted the delineation of their biochemical function. MutS is a DNA-mismatch binding protein which can bind to mispaired bases as well as small (1-5 bases) single-strand loops. Uvrd acts as a DNA helicase II, unwinding DNA in an ATP-dependent manner. MutH is an endonuclease that can incise transiently unmethylated strands of hemimethylated 5'-GATC-3' sequences. The presence of a hemimethylated 5'-GATC-3' sequence in the parent template permits the discrimination between parental and newly synthesized strands. MutL is believed to couple the mismatch recognition function of MutS with MutH incision at 5'-GATC-3' sequences in an ATP-dependent manner²⁷².

Multistage carcinogenesis appears to require a mutator phenotype 273 . Such a model can explain the high mutation rates encountered in human cancer cells and which spontaneous mutation rates in normal cells cannot account for 273 . It is estimated that the back ground somatic mutation rate is 1.4×10^{-10} mutation/base pair/cell 274 which can account for a maximum of 2 or 3 mutations in each tumors and not the much larger number that is observed 275 .

Experimental validation of a mutator phenotype in cancer progression initially came from studies on hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC). Microsatellite instability represented by the expansion in the number of repetitive di, tri, and tetranucleotides was observed when the length of specific CA repeats were studied in HNPCC patients ²⁷⁶. Concomitantly, in some of those patients, mutations in genes homologous to the bacterial genes MutS and L responsible for DNA mismatch repair were reported ^{216:277}. The importance of this DNA repair pathway is stressed by demonstrating that inactivating mutations in homologous genes in humans are the underlying cause of a number of cancers ²¹⁹. Most HNPCC cases are caused by a mutation in one of four loci: hmSH2 gene which codes for a product homologous to Mut S, while the other three genes hmLH1, hmPMS1, and hmPMS2 encode distinct products all homologous to MutL. Normal cells from HNPCC patients contain a normal and a mutated copy of the affected repair gene resulting in a low mutation rate. In tumor cells, however, the normal copy is lost leading to a defect in mismatch repair. Loss of a critical DNA repair mechanism is the primary event in the development of HNPCC and defines a mutator phenotype responsible in genetic destabilization of the cells leading to the acquiring of more mutations in key regulatory pathways that control cellular proliferation ²¹⁹.

A mutator phenotype was also observed in hematologic malignancies. Microsatellite instability was observed in a subset of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia²⁷⁸. Patients were in the early stage of the disease (stage I) and did not show an elevated cell count in peripheral white blood cells suggesting that in those cases the mutator phenotype is an early event ²⁷⁸. Mutations in genes controlling mismatch repair were not analyzed in order to correlate the observed mutator phenotype with the loss of DNA repair mechanisms. This is important as not all tumors with a mutator phenotype have been shown to lack mismatch repair²⁷⁹.

Until recently most studies aimed at showing the importance of a mutator phenotype in carcinogenesis have been derived from examining non-coding microsatellite sequences throughout the genome of tumor cells. Evidence, however, is emerging that genetic instability especially in gastrointestinal cancers, targets genes which are involved in growth regulation. In some gastrointestinal cancers, genetic instability targeted the polyadenylate short tract in the coding region of transforming growth factor β receptor type II (TGF- β RII) gene, creating nonsense codons. The resulting mutation in TGF- β RII alleviated the growth constraints of transforming growth factor β on gastrointestinal epithelial cells, leading to uncontrolled proliferation ²⁸⁰. Also, microsatellite instability-associated frameshift mutations were detected in repetitive mononucleotide repeat stretches in coding sequences of other genes associated with the control of cellular proliferation such as the insulin-like growth factor II receptor (IGFIIR) ²⁸¹ and Bax²⁸². IGFIIR down regulates the proliferation of cells by the internalizing and the subsequent degradation of insulin-like growth factor II, which is implicated in the maintenance of transformed phenotype and protects cells from apoptosis²⁸³. Bax, on the other hand, and unlike Bcl-2, promotes apoptosis²⁸⁴.

The model for the contribution of mutator phenotype in carcinogenesis can, therefore, be viewed as a progressive sequential process leading from an initiating event such as mismatch repair failure. This results in genetic instability detected in the form of microsatellite instability as well as somatic mutations in genes involved in the regulation of proliferation. Chang *et al* ²⁶⁰ dissected the various genetic events in the development of gastric carcinomas by looking at different areas in the same tumor tissue obtained from patients. Individual tumor areas from the same patient demonstrated different mutation frequencies in microsatellite sequences. The heterogenous patterns of microsatellite instability (MSI) in the same tumor tissue indicate that genetically unstable tumor cells have different mutation rates²⁶⁰. Cells in tumor sites with low MSI level are, therefore, considered to be in the initial stage of the development of widespread MSI and are derived from a common progenitor

clone with a mutator phenotype or MMR deficiency²⁶⁰. In six patients which demonstrated various levels of MSI in the same tumor, frameshift mutations were documented in TGF β IIR (5 out of 6) and Bax (4 out of 6). In TGF β IIR, the mutations were in a tract of 10 deoxyadenosine A₍₁₀₎ while in Bax they were in a tract of eight deoxyguanosine A₍₈₎. Mutations in TGF β IIR and Bax were common to all tumor sites regardless of the degree of MSI, indicating that mutations in TGF β IIR and Bax are early events. Frameshift mutations in mononucleotide repeats of mismatch repair genes hMSH3 (A₍₈₎) and hMSH6 (C₍₈₎) were observed only in restricted areas of three out of six patients. This secondary MMR defect gives rise in turn to frameshift mutation in IGFIIR (G₍₈₎) as such mutations were only found in tumor tissue carrying mutations in hMSH3 and hMSH6³⁶⁰. From this study the genetic progression of a mutator pathway in gastric carcinoma was postulated. An initial mismatch repair defect targets mononucleotide tracts of TGF β IIR and Bax. Later in tumorigenesis, the primary mismatch repair defect may give rise to a secondary mismatch repair insult in hMSH3 and hMSH6 resulting in further mutation in IGFIIR.

A mutator phenotype which can lead to a generalized increase in susceptibility to the acquisition of somatic mutations was not observed in the breast cancer susceptibility genes BRCA1 and 2-associated breast tumors²⁸⁵. BRCA1 and BRCA2 are both implicated in cellular response to DNA damage and may function as caretakers to maintain the genomic stability of cells²⁸⁶. Whereas p53 was mutated in 66% of BRCA-associated tumors, this was not part of a general increase in sensitivity to somatic mutations²⁸⁵. Mutations were not detected in p16^{1NK4}, a gene normally not mutated in sporadic breast cancer, nor in β -globin whose mutation does not confer any selective advantage. Also, no frameshift mutations were

present in polypurine tracts in the coding sequences of TGF β IIR or Bax. The authors concluded that the loss of function of BRCA1 and 2 do not confer a mutator phenotype such as that encountered in tumors with MSI²⁸⁵. It would be interesting, however, to measure mutation rates as a result of BRCA1 and/or BRCA2 loss using a more sensitive method such as the Big Blue transgenic mutagenesis system. Using transgenic mice carrying a *lac1* based transgenic shuttle-phage mutation detection system similar to Big Blue mice, thymic lymphomas arrising in *Msh2^{-/-}* mice exhibited a large increase in *lac1* gene mutation frequencies²⁸⁷. The observed increase in mutation frequency was over the observed increase in normal *Msh2^{-/-}* thymi already detected . *lac1* genes harboring clusters of mutations were observed leading to the suggestion that an additional mutator activity such as an error-prone DNA polymerase can lead to the increased genomic instability in Msh2^{-/-} tumors ²⁸⁷. It is important, however, to point out that clusters of mutations were also observed, albeit at lower frequency, in normal Msh2^{-/-} thymi.

The relevance of a possible Bcr-abl induced mutator phenotype in the progression of CML is supported by a number of observations. The expression of Bcr-abl seems to be the sole important and consistent cytogenetical event in the chronic phase of CML ⁴⁰. Patients in the chronic phase of CML are 10,000 fold more likely to acquire acute leukemia than normal individuals¹²². This suggests that the expression of Bcr-abl results in the accumulation of secondary genetic abnormalities. This is further emphasized in transgenic mice expressing P190Bcr-abl. The presence of the activated oncogene in many lymphoid cells lead to multiple leukemias in the same mouse²⁰⁶.

A direct role of c-abl in growth arrest ⁹⁷ and DNA repair as a result of genotoxic

damage has been observed (Fig. 4). In response to irradiation, c-Abl inhibits cell cycle progression by down regulating Cdk2 in a p53 dependent manner⁹⁷. Also, c-Abl directly associates with DNA-PK which is involved in DNA double-strand break (DSB) repair as well as V(D)J recombination ¹⁰⁰. In the presence of damaged DNA, DNA-PK phosphorylates and activates c-Abl and the complex can bind to the Ku antigen which is usually bound to DNA ends. The complex formation between c-Abl and PK-DNA was observed in response to irradiation as well as exposure to a DNA alkylating agent methyl methanosulphonate, suggesting the involvement of c-Abl in DNA repair induced by different agents¹⁰⁰. c-Abl can phosphorylate the C-terminal repeated domain of RNA polymerase II⁸¹ and an increase in tyrosine phosphorylation of RNA polymerase II is observed after the treatment of cells with methymethane sulfonate or ionizing radiation ^{288; 289}. This increase in phosphorylation is dependent on both c-Abl as well as ATM 288: 289. The tyrosine phosphorylation of the Cterminal repeated domain of RNA polymerase II is associated with an increase in transcription suggesting that c-Abl might be involved in DNA damage-induced gene expression. The cytoplasmic pool of c-Abl is not regulated by the cell cycle machinery. Cytoplasmic c-Abl has a number of substrates such as the SH2/SH3 adaptor protein Crk and the Crk-binding protein p130Cas^{158; 290}. c-Abl kinase activity increases following adhesion to the extracellular matrix (ECM)⁸². As such the tyrosine phosphorylation of p130Cas is dependent on ECM attachment²⁹¹. Cellular activation of c-Abl involves its translocation from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. This process is controlled by integrin-mediated adhesion to the extracellular matrix protein implicating c-abl in a cell surface-nucleus cross-talk mechanism⁸². Loss of c-Abl tyrosine kinase activity is observed in fibroblasts following

detachment from ECM and activity is restored only after adhesion to fibronectin matrix⁸². Similar to the regulation of kinase activity, adhesion to ECM seems to control the subcellular localization of c-Abl⁸². After re-plating detached cells on fibronectin matrix, c-Abl transiently disappears from the nucleus during the first twenty minutes following re-plating, but then rapidly re-appear in the nucleus. The continuous shuttling of c-Abl between the nucleus and the cytoplasm is probably facilitated by the recently discovered nuclear export signal in c-Abl⁷⁶. In CML, Bcr-abl expressing cells are defective in cell adhesion, even in the presence of normal integrin expression¹⁹⁴. This has been shown to be the result of direct interaction between Bcr-abl and members of the focal adhesion complex ^{194; 199}, disturbing actin cytoskeletal architecture ⁷¹, as well as altering the subset of $\beta 1$ integrin expressed ¹⁸⁸: ¹⁸⁹. Therefore, in a cell expressing Bcr-abl, it is possible that the normal activity of the intact c-Abl copy is annulled due to the lack of cell adhesion necessary for its activation. This can explain the increase in mutant frequency observed in kidneys and spleens of P190Bcr-abl mice reported here assuming that similar mechanisms result in the expression of Bcr-abl in human and mice cells. I think that this is a credible assumption given the similarity of Bcrabl induced pathologies in mice models to disease encountered in humans ^{124; 125; 230}. This, however, does not explain the lack of kidney related tumors in those mice. I have shown an increase in expression of P190Bcr-abl in the kidneys of such mice compared to spleen (Fig. 32). It is possible that the mutator phenotype observed in kidney cells is not sufficient for oncogenicity by Bcr-abl. Mice transgenic for P190Bcr-abl die primarily of lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma, ²³² although in an earlier study two mice with the same construct were diagnosed with myeloid leukemia ¹²⁴. Examination of cell-surface markers on leukemic

peripheral blood cells consistently yielded a pre-B phenotype ^{124;232}. In leukemic mice, both splenic white and red pulp were extensively involved with neoplastic lymphoblasts positive for the B220 antigen, indicating a pre-B phenotype ¹²⁴. I was, therefore, surprised to observe Bcr-abl expression at a higher level in kidneys paralleled by a high mutant frequency when kidney related disease have never been reported before. Two scenarios have been proposed to explain restricted oncogenicity in this mouse model²³². The first suggested that the difference in the absolute level of Bcr-abl expression in different tissue is responsible of the observed restricted oncogenicity²³². My data argues against such a model. Alternatively oncogenicity by Bcr-abl might be dependent on the cellular environment where it is expressed ²³². Bone marrow precursor cells might contain cellular factors important in mediating the oncogenic potential of Bcr-abl²³². The data presented here is in agreement with such model. I have observed a higher mutant frequency in kidneys of PL P190Bcr-abl mice suggesting, in addition, that a mutator phenotype alone independent of an appropriate cellular context is not sufficient for transformation by Bcr-abl. In mice homozygous for a mutation disrupting the *c*-abl gene, a specific and restricted effect in lymphoid cell development was encountered ⁷⁹. Those mice exhibited a drastic reduction in pre-B and immature B cells and to a lesser extent a similar reduction in developing T cells⁷⁹. This was surprising given that the *c*-abl gene is expressed in all tissues in mammals. Homozygote mice for *c*-abl gene disruption did not demonstrate any changes in other cell populations in the lymphoid system or cells in the myeloid/macrophage lineages suggesting that pre-B cells might be uniquely sensitive and dependent on the level the Abl kinase⁷⁹.

Nevertheless, I have shown, using a sensitive in vivo system, an increase in mutant

frequency associated with the expression of Bcr-abl at a level relevant for disease induction in a mouse model. I suggest that this phenotype facilitate the accumulation of somatic mutations and thus the progression of CML towards a fatal transformed disease.

It is unclear whether c-Abl is involved in the repair of spontaneous basal DNA error or whether DNA repair genes are mutated in CML. It can be hypothesized that a Bcr-abl clone with an acquired mitogenic potential and lack of apoptosis can accumulate more than tolerable damage. Also the absence of at least a copy of c-Abl as the result of the translocation can affect the repair potential of the cell.

In addition to loss of c-Abl DNA repair potential, other biological properties of Bcrabl can contribute to a mutator phenotype. Both P190Bcr-abl and P210Bcr-abl were found to be mitogenic in the murine myeloid progenitor cell line 32D ³⁰². Bcr-abl was found to constitutively activate the components of the cell cycle machinery that influence the G₁-to-S phase transition. Cells expressing Bcr-abl, therefore, do not require mutations in cell cycle factors that control the G₁ cell cycle check-point such as p53 and p21^{WAF-1/CIP}, and can proliferate independent of the genetic integrity of the cell. The mitogenic ability of Bcr-abl is also relevant in explaining the increase in mutant frequency observed in the kidney and spleen of P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mice. Proliferative advantage can explain the expansion of spontaneous mutations observed as the majority of our reported mutations were GC \rightarrow AT transitions at CpG dinucleotides similar to spontaneous mutations reported in *lac1* from Big Blue mice ²⁹². Indeed, studies have shown that cell proliferation is an important catalyst for the induction of mutation by dimethylnitrosamine (DMN)²⁹³. Doses that do not produce significantly high cell turnover in liver cells do not induce mutations²⁹³. Higher doses of DMN resulting in high cell turnover produced an increase in mutant frequency.

Although cell proliferation is an important factor in the induction of mutation by genotoxic agents, there is little evidence that cellular proliferation alone can cause an induction in mutant frequencies by non-genotoxic agents²⁹³. In this context, the non-genotoxic liver carcinogen carbon tetrachloride (Ccl₄) and phenobarbitol (PB) produced an increase in liver cell proliferation but failed to show any induction of mutant frequencies. ²⁶⁹ Those experiments were conducted after a short burst of proliferation induced by priming mice over a period of a week. However, longer priming with non-genotoxic agents that induce cell proliferation may result in the clonal expansion of spontaneous mutations or a clone of cells with a specific hit resulting in an activated oncogene ^{269:293}. Along those lines, the exposure of Big Blue mice to the non-genotoxic agent O-anisidine produced mostly G:C→A:T transitions at CpG sites which is the mutation profile associated with spontaneous mutations in this system ²⁹². In this specific study no increase in the mutant frequency was observed, suggesting that mutants examined are spontaneous and not chemically induced and complicating by that the analysis of these results.

Technical caveats

Complications may arise from the interpretation of sequence analysis using the Blue transgenic mouse system due to mutations arising from *E coli* rather than in the mouse. However, previous studies have shown that 75% of C \rightarrow T transitions in *lac1* from mouse systems occur at CpG dinucleotides whereas in *E. coli* C \rightarrow T transitions do not occur at CpG dinucleotides. Also, in *E. coli* 67% of mutations are deletions or insertions at a TGGC tandem repeat but only 1.7% of such mutations in *lac1* from mice occur at this sequence²⁶⁹: ²⁹². The existence of a large data bank for *lacI* mutations in *E. coli* facilitate the task of distinguishing the origin of the *lacI* mutation encountered in Big Blue mice.

A plethora of reported mutational spectra in Big Blue mice or similar systems carrying bacterial genes induced by different chemical carcinogens exists. The mechanisms by which such mutagens act are usually well understood and present a useful tool to compare mutations in *Lacl* obtained in hybrid mice carrying deletions in tumor suppressor genes or activated oncogenes. Methylnitrosourea (MNU), for example, acts by producing predominantly O⁶-methylguanine adducts and results in G:C→A:T transitions ²³⁴. Mutations from mice treated with benzo[a]pyrene, on the other hand, are predominantly transversions at G:C ²⁹⁴ while dimethylnitrosoamine (DMN) treatment results in C:G→A:T transitions in the liver³⁹⁵ and 7,12-dimethyl-benzo[a]anthracene (DMBA) produced A:T→T:A transversions in most cases ²⁹³. Also, the availability of transgenic mouse models for the study of cancer progression has extended the utility of the Big Blue system to the investigation of both qualitatively and quantitatively the accompanying changes in mutational profiles by combining such models with Big Blue mice.

To date a number of studies have taken advantage of such a strategy. p53 nullizygous mice are viable but develop predominantly thymic lymphomas at early age ²³⁵. p53 nullizygous/Big Blue mice showed statistically indistinguishable mutant frequencies in liver, spleen, and brain alone or when all three tissues were combined ²⁷¹. When the DNA binding region of *lac1* in those mutants was sequenced, transitions at CpG dinucleotides were observed to be the dominant mutation in the three tissues. No significant differences in the type of mutations from wild type and nullizygous p53 mice was observed either. Transitions

and transversions at CpG dinucleotides made up 59% and 58% of all mutations respectively²⁷¹. This pattern, though, was different than *lacl* mutations from E coli, where most mutations are transitions or transversions not at CpG dinucleotides ²⁹⁶. In a follow up study, one out of four thymic lymphomas from p53^{-/-} nullizygous mice showed an increase in mutant frequency with an over representation in A:T \rightarrow G:C transitions compared to normal thymus from p53⁻⁻⁻ mice²³⁸. The similarity between this mutation spectrum and that obtained from E coli carrying mutations in one of the mismatch repair genes Mut H, L, ans S lead the investigators to conclude that a somatic mutation in a DNA repair gene is responsible for the mutator phenotype and the high mutant frequency associated with that specific thymic lymphoma. In another study combining a transgenic mouse model for mammary adenocarcinoma and a λ -based mouse mutagenesis sytem utilizing the λ cII gene as a target of mutation, no significant differences in mutant frequencies from normal mammary epithelium, primary mammary adenocarcinoma, and pulmonary metastases was observed ²⁹⁷. The predominant mutation in the *cII* gene was $G:C \rightarrow A:T$ transitions most of which occurred at CpG dinucleotides similar to the mutation spectrum observed in the lacl gene of Big Blue.

V- Conclusion

The acquiring of the Philadelphia chromosome (or Bcr-abl translocation) represents a detrimental patho-physiological event in humans. The activated tyrosine kinases which can potentially emerge from this translocation are associated with fatal hematological malignancies. The initial molecular dissection of Bcr-abl has linked the expression of the constitutively activated kinase with enhanced genomic instability. *In vitro* models have suggested that loss of cell-cycle regulation and induction of apoptosis are the underlying biological causes of this acquired genomic instability. It was postulated that the expression of Bcr-abl leads to the loss of those two genomic safe-guards and results in the accumulation of mutations leading to the development of malignant clones.

In this study I utilized a transgenic mouse model which expresses P190Bcr-abl in order to extend those findings to an *in vivo* system. My results demonstrate that the expression of Bcr-abl does not necessarily interfere with cell-cycle arrest or the induction of apoptosis following DNA damage. Bone marrow cells and spleen cells from pre-leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice both demonstrate normal cell-cycle arrest and apoptotic cell death after the induction of DNA damage by irradiation. These observations, which contradict the *in vitro* effects of Bcr-abl expression, lead me to directly evaluate the consequence of Bcr-abl expression on genomic instability. This was achieved by measuring mutation frequencies in P190Bcr-abl mice crossed to the Big Blue *in vivo* mutagenesis mouse system. I found that the expression of Bcr-abl in both spleens and kidneys conferred a mutator phenotype determined by a statistically significant elevation in mutation frequencies.

I propose that the P190Bcr-abl/Big Blue mouse is a useful model to investigate genomic instability associated with Bcr-abl expression. This mouse model can be beneficial in assaying the potential therapeutic effect of different tyrosine kinase inhibitors in reversing the mutator phenotype observed with Bcr-abl expression. I think that the results obtained using this approach will be beneficial not only in understanding the pathogenesis of CML, but could also be used to assess if the aberrant tyrosine kinase expression associated with more common cancers similarly induce a mutator phenotype.

Claims to originality

The following results presented in this thesis constitute original findings:

- 1- At physiological levels sufficient to cause leukemia, Bcr-abl expression in the P190Bcr-abl leukemia transgenic mouse model does not result in an inhibition of cell-cycle arrest following the induction of DNA damage in both bone marrow and spleen cells.
- 2- At physiological levels sufficient to cause leukemia, Bcr-abl expression in the P190Bcr-abl leukemia transgenic mouse model does not interfere with the induction of p21^{WAFLCIPI} in the spleen, lung, and kidney of such mice.
- 3- At physiological levels sufficient to cause leukemia, Bcr-abl expression in the P190Bcr-abl leukemia transgenic mouse model does not cause the abrogation of irradiation-induced apoptosis in bone marrow and spleen cells.
- 4- Tumor tissue from leukemic P190Bcr-abl mice show normal induction of both p21^{WAFLCIPI} expression and apoptosis following the induction of DNA damage by irradiation.
- 5- A mutator phenotype represented by an increase in mutation frequency in spleens and kidneys of P190Bcr-abl transgenic mice was found. This is the first report of an *in vivo* increase in mutation frequency, using the Big BlueTM mutagenesis detection system, in tissues from a transgenic mouse expressing an activated tyrosine kinase.
References

- Kurzrock R, Gutterman JU, Talpaz M: The molecular genetics of Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias. [Review] [75 refs]. New England Journal of Medicine 319:990, 1988
- Clark SS, McLaughlin J, Timmons M, Pendergast AM, Ben-Neriah Y, Dow LW, Crist W, Rovera G, Smith SD, Witte ON: Expression of a distinctive BCR-ABL oncogene in Ph1-positive acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL). Science 239:775, 1988
- Pane F, Frigeri F, Sindona M, Luciano L, Ferrara F, Cimino R, Meloni G, Saglio G, Salvatore F, Rotoli B: Neutrophilic-chronic myeloid leukemia: a distinct disease with a specific molecular marker (BCR/ABL with C3/A2 junction) [see comments] [published erratum appears in Blood 1997 Jun 1;89(11):4244]. Blood 88:2410, 1996
- Ito T, Seyama T, Mizuno T, Hayashi T, Iwamoto KS, Dohi K, Nakamura N, Akiyama M: Induction of BCR-ABL fusion genes by in vitro X-irradiation. Japanese Journal of Cancer Research 84:105, 1993
- Sandberg AA, Gemmill RM, Hecht BK, Hecht F: The Philadelphia chromosome: a model of cancer and molecular cytogenetics. [Review] [92 refs]. Cancer Genetics & Cytogenetics 21:129, 1986

- 6. Kamada N, Uchino H: Chronologic sequence in appearance of clinical and laboratory findings characteristic of chronic myelocytic leukemia. Blood 51:843, 1978
- Vickers M: Estimation of the number of mutations necessary to cause chronic myeloid leukaemia from epidemiological data. British Journal of Haematology 94:1, 1996
- Savage DG, Szydlo RM, Goldman JM: Clinical features at diagnosis in 430 patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia seen at a referral centre over a 16-year period. British Journal of Haematology 96:111, 1997
- Spiers AS, Bain BJ, Turner JE: The peripheral blood in chronic granulocytic leukaemia. Study of 50 untreated Philadelphia-positive cases. Scandinavian Journal of Haematology 18:25, 1977
- Kaur J, Catovsky D, Spiers AS, Galton DA: Increase of T lymphocytes in the spleen in chronic granulocytic leukaemia. Lancet 1:834, 1974
- Chikkappa G, Borner G, Burlington H, Chanana AD, Cronkite EP, Ohl S, Pavelec M, Robertson JS: Periodic oscillation of blood leukocytes, platelets, and reticulocytes in a patient with chronic myelocytic leukemia. Blood 47:1023, 1976
- 12. Witts LJ: Clinical haematology. Lancet 1:673, 1969
- 13. Gralnick HR, Harbor J, Vogel C: Myelofibrosis in chronic granulocytic leukemia.

- 14. Boggs DR: The kinetics of neutrophilic leukocytes in health and in disease. [Review][141 refs]. Seminars in Hematology 4:359, 1967
- 15. Shafman T, Khanna KK, Kedar P, Spring K, Kozlov S, Yen T, Hobson K, Gatei M, Zhang N, Watters D, Egerton M, Shiloh Y, Kharbanda S, Kufe D, Lavin MF: Interaction between ATM protein and c-Abl in response to DNA damage [see comments]. Nature 387:520, 1997
- El-Maalem H, Fletcher J: Defective neutrophil function in chronic granulocytic leukaemia. British Journal of Haematology 34:95, 1976
- Taub RN, Baker MA, Madyastha KR: Masking of neutrophil surface lectin-binding sites in chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML). Blood 55:294, 1980
- Banerjee TK, Senn H, Holland JF: Comparative studies on localized leukocyte mobilization in patients with chronic myelocytic leukemia. Cancer 29:637, 1972
- Olofsson T, Odeberg H, Olsson I: Granulocyte function in chronic granulocytic leukemia. II. Bactericidal capacity, phagocytic rate, oxygen consumption, and granule protein composition in isolated granulocytes. Blood 48:581, 1976
- 20. Naik NR, Bhisey AN, Advani SH: Flow cytometric studies on actin polymerization in PMN cells from chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) patients. Leukemia

Research 14:921, 1990

- 21. Tornyos K: Phagocytic activity of cells of the inflammatory exudate in human leukemia. Cancer Research 27:1756, 1967
- 22. Sjogren U: Morphologic studies of the erythropoietic part of bone marrow in myeloid leukaemias. Scandinavian Journal of Haematology 22:61, 1979
- 23. Goldman JM, Shiota F, Th'ng KH, Orchard KH: Circulating granulocytic and erythroid progenitor cells in chronic granulocytic leukaemia. British Journal of Haematology 46:7, 1980
- 24. Broxmeyer HE, Grossbard E, Jacobsen N, Moore MA: Evidence for a proliferative advantage of human leukemia colony-forming cells in vitro. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 60:513, 1978
- 25. Broxmeyer HE, Smithyman A, Eger RR, Meyers PA, de Sousa M: Identification of lactoferrin as the granulocyte-derived inhibitor of colony-stimulating activity production. Journal of Experimental Medicine 148:1052, 1978
- 26. Aglietta M, Piacibello W, Gavosto F: Insensitivity of chronic myeloid leukemia cells to inhibition of growth by prostaglandin E1. Cancer Research 40:2507, 1980
- 27. Eaves CJ, Cashman JD, Wolpe SD, Eaves AC: Unresponsiveness of primitive chronic myeloid leukemia cells to macrophage inflammatory protein 1 alpha, an inhibitor of primitive normal hematopoietic cells. Proceedings of the National

Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90:12015, 1993

- Spiers AS: The clinical features of chronic granulocytic leukaemia. Clinics in Haematology 6:77, 1977
- 29. Kuwazuru Y, Yoshimura A, Hanada S, Ichikawa M, Saito T, Uozumi K, Utsunomiya A, Arima T, Akiyama S: Expression of the multidrug transporter, Pglycoprotein, in chronic myelogenous leukaemia cells in blast crisis. British Journal of Haematology 74:24, 1990
- Rosenthal S, Canellos GP, DeVita VTJ, Gralnick HR: Characteristics of blast crisis in chronic granulocytic leukemia. Blood 49:705, 1977
- 31. Rosenthal NS, Knapp D, Farhi DC: Promyelocytic blast crisis of chronic myelogenous leukemia. A rare subtype associated with disseminated intravascular coagulation. American Journal of Clinical Pathology 103:185, 1995
- 32. Miyamoto T, Nagafuji K, Harada M, Yamasaki K, Shibuya T, Iwasaki H, Akashi K, Mizuno S, Eto T, Takenaka K: Characterization of blasts from a patient with eosinophilic blast crisis of chronic myelogenous leukaemia. British Journal of Haematology 89:207, 1995
- 33. Bakhshi A, Minowada J, Arnold A, Cossman J, Jensen JP, Whang-Peng J, Waldmann TA, Korsmeyer SJ: Lymphoid blast crises of chronic myelogenous leukemia represent stages in the development of B-cell precursors. New England Journal

of Medicine 309:826, 1983

- Hernandez P, Carnot J, Cruz C: Chronic myeloid leukaemia blast crisis with T-cell features [letter]. British Journal of Haematology 51:175, 1982
- 35. Bettelheim P, Lutz D, Majdic O, Paietta E, Haas O, Linkesch W, Neumann E, Lechner K, Knapp W: Cell lineage heterogeneity in blast crisis of chronic myeloid leukaemia. British Journal of Haematology 59:395, 1985
- Vallejos CS, Trujillo JM, Cork A, Bodey GP, McCredie KB, Freireich EJ: Blastic crisis in chronic granulocytic leukemia: experience in 39 patients. Cancer 34:1806, 1974
- 37. Sokal JE, Cox EB, Baccarani M, Tura S, Gomez GA, Robertson JE, Tso CY, Braun TJ, Clarkson BD, Cervantes F: Prognostic discrimination in "good-risk" chronic granulocytic leukemia. Blood 63:789, 1984
- 38. Moloney WC: Chronic myelogenous leukemia. Cancer 42:865, 1978
- 39. Bentz M, Cabot G, Moos M, Speicher MR, Ganser A, Lichter P, Dohner H: Detection of chimeric BCR-ABL genes on bone marrow samples and blood smears in chronic myeloid and acute lymphoblastic leukemia by in situ hybridization. Blood 83:1922, 1994
- 40. Melo JV: The molecular biology of chronic myeloid leukaemia. [Review] [58 refs].
 Leukemia 10:751, 1996

- 41. Konopka JB, Witte ON: Detection of c-abl tyrosine kinase activity in vitro permits direct comparison of normal and altered abl gene products. Molecular & Cellular Biology 5:3116, 1985
- Guo JQ, Wang JY, Arlinghaus RB: Detection of BCR-ABL proteins in blood cells of benign phase chronic myelogenous leukemia patients. Cancer Research 51:3048, 1991
- 43. van Rhee F, Marks DI, Lin F, Szydlo RM, Hochhaus A, Treleaven J, Delord C, Cross NC, Goldman JM: Quantification of residual disease in Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: comparison of blood and bone marrow. Leukemia 9:329, 1995
- 44. van dPD, Soekarman D, van Gent AM, Grosveld G, Hagemeijer A: bcr-abl mRNA lacking abl exon a2 detected by polymerase chain reaction in a chronic myelogeneous leukemia patient [see comments]. Leukemia 5:457, 1991
- 45. Melo JV, Myint H, Galton DA, Goldman JM: P190BCR-ABL chronic myeloid leukaemia: the missing link with chronic myelomonocytic leukaemia? [see comments]. Leukemia 8:208, 1994
- Biernaux C, Loos M, Sels A, Huez G, Stryckmans P: Detection of major bcr-abl gene expression at a very low level in blood cells of some healthy individuals. Blood 86:3118, 1995

- 47. Melo JV, Gordon DE, Cross NC, Goldman JM: The ABL-BCR fusion gene is expressed in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 81:158, 1993
- 48. Diekmann D, Brill S, Garrett MD, Totty N, Hsuan J, Monfries C, Hall C, Lim L, Hall A: Bcr encodes a GTPase-activating protein for p21rac. Nature 351:400, 1991
- Ridley AJ, Paterson HF, Johnston CL, Diekmann D, Hall A: The small GTP-binding protein rac regulates growth factor-induced membrane ruffling. Cell 70:401, 1992
- 50. Abo A, Pick E, Hall A, Totty N, Teahan CG, Segal AW: Activation of the NADPH oxidase involves the small GTP-binding protein p21rac1. Nature 353:668, 1991
- 51. Talpaz M, Kantarjian H, Kurzrock R, Gutterman JU: Update on therapeutic options for chronic myelogenous leukemia. [Review] [23 refs]. Seminars in Hematology 27:31, 1990
- 52. Sullivan JR, Hurley TH, Bolton JH: Treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia with repeated single doses of busulfan. Cancer Treatment Reports 61:43, 1977
- 53. Bergsagel DE: The chronic leukemias: a review of disease manifestations and the aims of therapy. [Review] [33 refs]. Canadian Medical Association Journal 96:1615, 1967
- 54. Schwartz JH, Cannellos GP: Hydroxyurea in the management of the hematologic

- Kantarjian HM, O'Brien S, Anderlini P, Talpaz M: Treatment of myelogenous leukemia: current status and investigational options [see comments]. [Review]
 [91 refs]. Blood 87:3069, 1996
- 56. Verfaillie CM, Hurley R, Lundell BI, Zhao C, Bhatia R: Integrin-mediated regulation of hematopoiesis: do BCR/ABL- induced defects in integrin function underlie the abnormal circulation and proliferation of CML progenitors?. [Review] [160 refs]. Acta Haematologica 97:40, 1997
- 57. Storb R, Leisenring W, Deeg HJ, Anasetti C, Appelbaum F, Bensinger W, Buckner CD, Clift R, Doney K, Hansen J: Long-term follow-up of a randomized trial of graft-versus-host disease prevention by methotrexate/cyclosporine versus methotrexate alone in patients given marrow grafts for severe aplastic anemia [letter]. Blood 83:2749, 1994
- 58. Bhatia R, Verfaillie CM, Miller JS, McGlave PB: Autologous transplantation therapy for chronic myelogenous leukemia. [Review] [103 refs]. Blood 89:2623, 1997
- 59. Anderson DR: Ultrastructure of normal and leukemic leukocytes in human peripheral blood. Journal of Ultrastructure Research 9:1, 1966
- 60. Clarkson B, Strife A: Linkage of proliferative and maturational abnormalities in chronic myelogenous leukemia and relevance to treatment. [Review] [385 refs].

Leukemia 7:1683, 1993

- 61. Ogawa M, Fried J, Sakai Y, Strife A, Clarkson BD: Studies of cellular proliferation in human leukemia. VI. The proliferative activity, generation time, and emergence time of neutrophilic granulocytes in chronic granulocytic leukemia. Cancer 25:1031, 1970
- 62. Moore MA, Williams N, Metcalf D: In vitro colony formation by normal and leukemic human hematopoietic cells: characterization of the colony-forming cells. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 50:603, 1973
- Morley AA, Baikie AG, Galton DA: Cyclic leucocytosis as evidence for retention of normal homoeostatic control in chronic granulocytic leukaemia. Lancet 2:1320, 1967
- 64. Perry S, Moxley JH, Weiss GH, Zelen M: Studies of leukocyte kinetics by liquid scintillation counting in normal individuals and in patients with chronic myelocytic leukemia. Journal of Clinical Investigation 45:1388, 1966
- 65. Clarkson BD, Strife A, Wisniewski D, Lambek C, Carpino N: New understanding of the pathogenesis of CML: a prototype of early neoplasia. [Review] [179 refs]. Leukemia 11:1404, 1997
- 66. Kamada N, Uchino H: Chronologic sequence in appearance of clinical and laboratory findings characteristic of chronic myelocytic leukemia. Blood 51:843, 1978

- 67. Dube ID, Kalousek DK, Coulombel L, Gupta CM, Eaves CJ, Eaves AC: Cytogenetic studies of early myeloid progenitor compartments in Ph1-positive chronic myeloid leukemia. II. Long-term culture reveals the persistence of Ph1-negative progenitors in treated as well as newly diagnosed patients. Blood 63:1172, 1984
- 68. Fokas AS, Keller JB, Clarkson BD: Mathematical model of granulocytopoiesis and chronic myelogenous leukemia. Cancer Research 51:2084, 1991
- 69. Pendergast AM, Quilliam LA, Cripe LD, Bassing CH, Dai Z, Li N, Batzer A, Rabun KM, Der CJ, Schlessinger J, et al.: BCR-ABL-induced oncogenesis is mediated by direct interaction with the SH2 domain of the GRB-2 adaptor protein. Cell 75:175, 1993
- 70. Goga A, McLaughlin J, Afar DE, Saffran DC, Witte ON: Alternative signals to RAS for hematopoietic transformation by the BCR-ABL oncogene. Cell 82:981, 1995
- 71. McWhirter JR, Wang JY: An actin-binding function contributes to transformation by the Bcr-Abl oncoprotein of Philadelphia chromosome-positive human leukemias. EMBO Journal 12:1533, 1993
- 72. Lugo TG, Witte ON: The BCR-ABL oncogene transforms Rat-1 cells and cooperates with v-myc. Molecular & Cellular Biology 9:1263, 1989

- 73. Laneuville P, Heisterkamp N, Groffen J: Expression of the chronic myelogenous leukemia-associated p210bcr/abl oncoprotein in a murine IL-3 dependent myeloid cell line. Oncogene 6:275, 1991
- 74. McLaughlin J, Chianese E, Witte ON: In vitro transformation of immature hematopoietic cells by the P210 BCR/ABL oncogene product of the Philadelphia chromosome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 84:6558, 1987
- 75. Welch PJ, Wang JY: Abrogation of retinoblastoma protein function by c-Abl through tyrosine kinase-dependent and -independent mechanisms. Molecular & Cellular Biology 15:5542, 1995
- 76. Taagepera S, McDonald D, Loeb JE, Whitaker LL, McElroy AK, Wang JY, Hope TJ: Nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling of C-ABL tyrosine kinase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95:7457, 1998
- 77. Wang JY: Abl tyrosine kinase in signal transduction and cell-cycle regulation. [Review] [41 refs]. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development 3:35, 1993
- 78. Tybulewicz VL, Crawford CE, Jackson PK, Bronson RT, Mulligan RC: Neonatal lethality and lymphopenia in mice with a homozygous disruption of the c-abl proto-oncogene. Cell 65:1153, 1991
- 79. Schwartzberg PL, Stall AM, Hardin JD, Bowdish KS, Humaran T, Boast S, Harbison

ML, Robertson EJ, Goff SP: Mice homozygous for the ablm1 mutation show poor viability and depletion of selected B and T cell populations. Cell 65:1165, 1991

- Welch PJ, Wang JY: A C-terminal protein-binding domain in the retinoblastoma protein regulates nuclear c-Abl tyrosine kinase in the cell cycle. Cell 75:779, 1993
- Wang JY: Nuclear protein tyrosine kinases. [Review] [32 refs]. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 19:373, 1994
- 82. Lewis JM, Baskaran R, Taagepera S, Schwartz MA, Wang J: Integrin regulation of c-Abl tyrosine kinase activity and cytoplasmic-nuclear transport. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93:15174, 1996
- Rosenberg N, Witte ON: The viral and cellular forms of the Abelson (abl) oncogene.
 [Review] [199 refs]. Advances in Virus Research 35:39, 1988
- 84. Bergold PJ, Wang JY, Hardy WDJ, Littau V, Johnson E, Besmer P: Structure and origins of the HZ2-feline sarcoma virus. Virology 158:320, 1987
- 85. Pendergast AM, Muller AJ, Havlik MH, Maru Y, Witte ON: BCR sequences essential for transformation by the BCR-ABL oncogene bind to the ABL SH2 regulatory domain in a non- phosphotyrosine-dependent manner. Cell 66:161, 1991

- 86. McWhirter JR, Wang JY: Activation of tyrosinase kinase and microfilament-binding functions of c-abl by bcr sequences in bcr/abl fusion proteins. Molecular & Cellular Biology 11:1553, 1991
- 87. Papadopoulos P, Ridge SA, Boucher CA, Stocking C, Wiedemann LM: The novel activation of ABL by fusion to an ets-related gene, TEL. Cancer Research 55:34, 1995
- Franz WM, Berger P, Wang JY: Deletion of an N-terminal regulatory domain of the c-abl tyrosine kinase activates its oncogenic potential. EMBO Journal 8:137, 1989
- 89. Goga A, McLaughlin J, Pendergast AM, Parmar K, Muller A, Rosenberg N, Witte ON: Oncogenic activation of c-ABL by mutation within its last exon. Molecular & Cellular Biology 13:4967, 1993
- 90. Pendergast AM, Muller AJ, Havlik MH, Clark R, McCormick F, Witte ON: Evidence for regulation of the human ABL tyrosine kinase by a cellular inhibitor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88:5927, 1991
- 91. Cicchetti P, Mayer BJ, Thiel G, Baltimore D: Identification of a protein that binds to the SH3 region of Abl and is similar to Bcr and GAP-rho. Science 257:803, 1992

- 92. Ren R, Mayer BJ, Cicchetti P, Baltimore D: Identification of a ten-amino acid prolinerich SH3 binding site. Science 259:1157, 1993
- 93. Shi Y, Alin K, Goff SP: Abl-interactor-1, a novel SH3 protein binding to the carboxyterminal portion of the Abl protein, suppresses v-abl transforming activity. Genes & Development 9:2583, 1995
- 94. Dai Z, Pendergast AM: Abi-2, a novel SH3-containing protein interacts with the c-Abl tyrosine kinase and modulates c-Abl transforming activity. Genes & Development 9:2569, 1995
- 95. Wen ST, Van Etten RA: The PAG gene product, a stress-induced protein with antioxidant properties, is an Abl SH3-binding protein and a physiological inhibitor of c-Abl tyrosine kinase activity. Genes & Development 11:2456, 1997
- 96. Sawyers CL, McLaughlin J, Goga A, Havlik M, Witte O: The nuclear tyrosine kinase c-Abl negatively regulates cell growth. Cell 77:121, 1994
- 97. Yuan ZM, Huang Y, Whang Y, Sawyers C, Weichselbaum R, Kharbanda S, Kufe D: Role for c-Abl tyrosine kinase in growth arrest response to DNA damage. Nature 382:272, 1996
- 98. el-Deiry WS, Tokino T, Velculescu VE, Levy DB, Parsons R, Trent JM, Lin D, Mercer WE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B: WAF1, a potential mediator of p53

tumor suppression. Cell 75:817, 1993

- 99. Yuan ZM, Huang Y, Ishiko T, Kharbanda S, Weichselbaum R, Kufe D: Regulation of DNA damage-induced apoptosis by the c-Abl tyrosine kinase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94:1437, 1997
- 100. Kharbanda S, Pandey P, Jin S, Inoue S, Bharti A, Yuan Z, Weichselbaum R, Weaver D, Kufe D: Functional interaction between DNA-PK and c-Abl in response to DNA damage. Nature 386:732, 1997
- 101. Jackson SP: Cancer predisposition. Ataxia-telangiectasia at the crossroads. [Review][13 refs]. Current Biology 5:1210, 1995
- 102. Savitsky K, Bar-Shira A, Gilad S, Rotman G, Ziv Y, Vanagaite L, Tagle DA, Smith S, Uziel T, Sfez S: A single ataxia telangiectasia gene with a product similar to PI-3 kinase [see comments]. Science 268:1749, 1995
- 103. Kastan MB, Zhan Q, el-Deiry WS, Carrier F, Jacks T, Walsh WV, Plunkett BS, Vogelstein B, Fornace AJ, Jr.: A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and GADD45 is defective in ataxia-telangiectasia. Cell 71:587, 1992
- 104. Zakian VA: ATM-related genes: what do they tell us about functions of the human gene?. [Review] [30 refs]. Cell 82:685, 1995

- 105. Yuan ZM, Huang Y, Whang Y, Sawyers C, Weichselbaum R, Kharbanda S, Kufe D: Role for c-Abl tyrosine kinase in growth arrest response to DNA damage. Nature 382:272, 1996
- 106. Baskaran R, Wood LD, Whitaker LL, Canman CE, Morgan SE, Xu Y, Barlow C, Baltimore D, Wynshaw-Boris A, Kastan MB, Wang JY: Ataxia telangiectasia mutant protein activates c-Abl tyrosine kinase in response to ionizing radiation [see comments]. Nature 387:516, 1997
- 107. Siede W, Allen JB, Elledge SJ, Friedberg EC: The Saccharomyces cerevisiae MEC1 gene, which encodes a homolog of the human ATM gene product, is required for G1 arrest following radiation treatment. Journal of Bacteriology 178:5841, 1996
- 108. Morgan SE, Lovly C, Pandita TK, Shiloh Y, Kastan MB: Fragments of ATM which have dominant-negative or complementing activity. Molecular & Cellular Biology 17:2020, 1997
- McWhirter JR, Galasso DL, Wang JY: A coiled-coil oligomerization domain of Bcr is essential for the transforming function of Bcr-Abl oncoproteins. Molecular & Cellular Biology 13:7587, 1993
- McWhirter JR, Wang JY: Effect of Bcr sequences on the cellular function of the Bcr-Abl oncoprotein. Oncogene 15:1625, 1997

- 111. Okuda K, Golub TR, Gilliland DG, Griffin JD: p210BCR/ABL, p190BCR/ABL, and TEL/ABL activate similar signal transduction pathways in hematopoietic cell lines. Oncogene 13:1147, 1996
- 112. Golub TR, McLean T, Stegmaier K, Carroll M, Tomasson M, Gilliland DG: The TEL gene and human leukemia. [Review] [27 refs]. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1288:M7, 1996
- 113. McLaughlin J, Chianese E, Witte ON: Alternative forms of the BCR-ABL oncogene have quantitatively different potencies for stimulation of immature lymphoid cells. Molecular & Cellular Biology 9:1866, 1989
- 114. Lugo TG, Pendergast AM, Muller AJ, Witte ON: Tyrosine kinase activity and transformation potency of bcr-abl oncogene products. Science 247:1079, 1990
- 115. Cerione RA, Zheng Y: The Dbl family of oncogenes. [Review] [46 refs]. CurrentOpinion in Cell Biology 8:216, 1996
- 116. Chuang TH, Xu X, Kaartinen V, Heisterkamp N, Groffen J, Bokoch GM: Abr and Bcr are multifunctional regulators of the Rho GTP- binding protein family. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92:10282, 1995
- 117. Ridley AJ, Hall A: The small GTP-binding protein rho regulates the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in response to growth factors. Cell 70:389,

- 118. Daley GQ, Ben-Neriah Y: Implicating the bcr/abl gene in the pathogenesis of Philadelphia chromosome-positive human leukemia. [Review] [164 refs]. Advances in Cancer Research 57:151, 1991
- 119. Ridley AJ, Self AJ, Kasmi F, Paterson HF, Hall A, Marshall CJ, Ellis C: rho family GTPase activating proteins p190, bcr and rhoGAP show distinct specificities in vitro and in vivo. EMBO Journal 12:5151, 1993
- 120. Diekmann D, Abo A, Johnston C, Segal AW, Hall A: Interaction of Rac with p67phox and regulation of phagocytic NADPH oxidase activity. Science 265:531, 1994
- 121. Lu D, Liu J, Campbell M, Guo JQ, Heisterkamp N, Groffen J, Canaani E, Arlinghaus
 R: Tyrosine phosphorylation of P160 BCR by P210 BCR-ABL. Blood
 82:1257, 1993
- 122. Laneuville P: Abl tyrosine protein kinase. [Review] [95 refs]. Seminars in Immunology 7:255, 1995
- 123. Skorski T, Nieborowska-Skorska M, Wlodarski P, Wasik M, Trotta R, Kanakaraj P, Salomoni P, Antonyak M, Martinez R, Majewski M, Wong A, Perussia B, Calabretta B: The SH3 domain contributes to BCR/ABL-dependent leukemogenesis in vivo: role in adhesion, invasion, and homing. Blood 91:406, 1998

- 124. Heisterkamp N, Jenster G, ten Hoeve J, Zovich D, Pattengale PK, Groffen J: Acute leukaemia in bcr/abl transgenic mice. Nature 344:251, 1990
- 125. Honda H, Oda H, Suzuki T, Takahashi T, Witte ON, Ozawa K, Ishikawa T, Yazaki Y, Hirai H: Development of acute lymphoblastic leukemia and myeloproliferative disorder in transgenic mice expressing p210bcr/abl: a novel transgenic model for human Ph1-positive leukemias. Blood 91:2067, 1998
- 126. Tauchi T, Broxmeyer HE: BCR/ABL signal transduction. [Review] [72 refs]. International Journal of Hematology 61:105, 1995
- 127. Laneuville P, Sun G, Timm M, Vekemans M: Clonal evolution in a myeloid cell line transformed to interleukin-3 independent growth by retroviral transduction and expression of p210bcr/abl. Blood 80:1788, 1992
- 128. Mandanas RA, Leibowitz DS, Gharehbaghi K, Tauchi T, Burgess GS, Miyazawa K, Jayaram HN, Boswell HS: Role of p21 RAS in p210 bcr-abl transformation of murine myeloid cells. Blood 82:1838, 1993
- 129. Tauchi T, Boswell HS, Leibowitz D, Broxmeyer HE: Coupling between p210bcr-abl and Shc and Grb2 adaptor proteins in hematopoietic cells permits growth factor receptor-independent link to ras activation pathway. Journal of Experimental Medicine 179:167, 1994
- 130. Tauchi T, Miyazawa K, Feng GS, Broxmeyer HE, Toyama K: A coiled-coil

tetramerization domain of BCR-ABL is essential for the interactions of SH2containing signal transduction molecules. Journal of Biological Chemistry 272:1389, 1997

- 131. Liu J, Campbell M, Guo JQ, Lu D, Xian YM, Andersson B, Arlinghaus RB: BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase is autophosphorylated or transphosphorylates P160 BCR on tyrosine predominantly within the first BCR exon [published erratum appears in Oncogene 1993 Jul; 8(7):2021]. Oncogene 8:101, 1993
- 132. Ma G, Lu D, Wu Y, Liu J, Arlinghaus RB: Bcr phosphorylated on tyrosine 177 bindsGrb2. Oncogene 14:2367, 1997
- 133. Maru Y, Peters KL, Afar DE, Shibuya M, Witte ON, Smithgall TE: Tyrosine phosphorylation of BCR by FPS/FES protein-tyrosine kinases induces association of BCR with GRB-2/SOS. Molecular & Cellular Biology 15:835, 1995
- 134. Carpino N, Wisniewski D, Strife A, Marshak D, Kobayashi R, Stillman B, Clarkson
 B: p62(dok): a constitutively tyrosine-phosphorylated, GAP- associated protein
 in chronic myelogenous leukemia progenitor cells. Cell 88:197, 1997
- 135. Trahey M, McCormick F: A cytoplasmic protein stimulates normal N-ras p21 GTPase, but does not affect oncogenic mutants. Science 238:542, 1987
- 136. McGlade J, Brunkhorst B, Anderson D, Mbamalu G, Settleman J, Dedhar S, Rozakis-

Adcock M, Chen LB, Pawson T: The N-terminal region of GAP regulates cytoskeletal structure and cell adhesion. EMBO Journal 12:3073, 1993

- 137. Wisniewski D, Strife A, Berman E, Clarkson B: c-kit ligand stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of a similar pattern of phosphotyrosyl proteins in primary primitive normal hematopoietic progenitors that are constitutively phosphorylated in comparable primitive progenitors in chronic phase chronic myelogenous leukemia. Leukemia 10:229, 1996
- 138. Ellis C, Moran M, McCormick F, Pawson T: Phosphorylation of GAP and GAPassociated proteins by transforming and mitogenic tyrosine kinases. Nature 343:377, 1990
- 139. Strife A, Perez A, Lambek C, Wisniewski D, Bruno S, Darzynkiewicz Z, Clarkson B: Characterization of lineage-negative blast subpopulations derived from normal and chronic myelogenous leukemia bone marrows and determination of their responsiveness to human c-kit ligand. Cancer Research 53:401, 1993
- 140. Hallek M, Danhauser-Riedl S, Herbst R, Warmuth M, Winkler A, Kolb HJ, Druker B, Griffin JD, Emmerich B, Ullrich A: Interaction of the receptor tyrosine kinase p145c-kit with the p210bcr/abl kinase in myeloid cells. British Journal of Haematology 94:5, 1996
- 141. Mandanas RA, Boswell HS, Lu L, Leibowitz D: BCR/ABL confers growth factor independence upon a murine myeloid cell line. Leukemia 6:796, 1992

- 142. Sawyers CL, Callahan W, Witte ON: Dominant negative MYC blocks transformation by ABL oncogenes. Cell 70:901, 1992
- 143. Raitano AB, Halpern JR, Hambuch TM, Sawyers CL: The Bcr-Abl leukemia oncogene activates Jun kinase and requires Jun for transformation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92:11746, 1995
- Wong KK, Hardin JD, Boast S, Cooper CL, Merrell KT, Doyle TG, Goff SP, Calame
 KL: A role for c-Abl in c-myc regulation. Oncogene 10:705, 1995
- 145. Hamdane M, David-Cordonnier MH, D'Halluin JC: Activation of p65 NF-kappaB protein by p210BCR-ABL in a myeloid cell line (P210BCR-ABL activates p65 NF-kappaB). Oncogene 15:2267, 1997
- 146. Varticovski L, Daley GQ, Jackson P, Baltimore D, Cantley LC: Activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in cells expressing abl oncogene variants. Molecular & Cellular Biology 11:1107, 1991
- 147. Skorski T, Kanakaraj P, Nieborowska-Skorska M, Ratajczak M, Wen SC, Zon G, Gewirtz AM, Perussia B, Calabretta B: Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase activity is regulated by BCR/ABL and is required for the growth of Philadelphia chromosome- positive cells. Blood 86:726, 1995
- 148. Jain SK, Susa M, Keeler ML, Carlesso N, Druker B, Varticovski L: PI 3-kinase activation in BCR/abl-transformed hematopoietic cells does not require

- 149. Wang J, Auger KR, Jarvis L, Shi Y, Roberts TM: Direct association of Grb2 with the p85 subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 270:12774, 1995
- 150. Harrison-Findik D, Susa M, Varticovski L: Association of phosphatidylinositol 3kinase with SHC in chronic myelogeneous leukemia cells. Oncogene 10:1385, 1995
- 151. Sattler M, Salgia R, Shrikhande G, Verma S, Choi JL, Rohrschneider LR, Griffin JD: The phosphatidylinositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatase SHIP and the protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2 form a complex in hematopoietic cells which can be regulated by BCR/ABL and growth factors. Oncogene 15:2379, 1997
- 152. Blake TJ, Heath KG, Langdon WY: The truncation that generated the v-cbl oncogene reveals an ability for nuclear transport, DNA binding and acute transformation. EMBO Journal 12:2017, 1993
- 153. Blake TJ, Shapiro M, Morse HC, Langdon WY: The sequences of the human and mouse c-cbl proto-oncogenes show v-cbl was generated by a large truncation encompassing a proline-rich domain and a leucine zipper-like motif. Oncogene 6:653, 1991
- 154. Andoniou CE, Thien CB, Langdon WY: Tumour induction by activated abl involves

tyrosine phosphorylation of the product of the cbl oncogene. EMBO Journal 13:4515, 1994

- 155. Sattler M, Salgia R, Okuda K, Uemura N, Durstin MA, Pisick E, Xu G, Li JL, Prasad KV, Griffin JD: The proto-oncogene product p120CBL and the adaptor proteins CRKL and c-CRK link c-ABL, p190BCR/ABL and p210BCR/ABL to the phosphatidylinositol-3' kinase pathway. Oncogene 12:839, 1996
- 156. ten Hoeve J, Morris C, Heisterkamp N, Groffen J: Isolation and chromosomal localization of CRKL, a human crk-like gene. Oncogene 8:2469, 1993
- 157. Oda A, Miyakawa Y, Druker BJ, Ishida A, Ozaki K, Ohashi H, Wakui M, Handa M, Watanabe K, Okamoto S, Ikeda Y: Crkl is constitutively tyrosine phosphorylated in platelets from chronic myelogenous leukemia patients and inducibly phosphorylated in normal platelets stimulated by thrombopoietin. Blood 88:4304, 1996
- 158. Feller SM, Knudsen B, Hanafusa H: c-Abl kinase regulates the protein binding activity of c-Crk. EMBO Journal 13:2341, 1994
- 159. Yao R, Cooper GM: Requirement for phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase in the prevention of apoptosis by nerve growth factor. Science 267:2003, 1995
- 160. Shuai K, Halpern J, ten Hoeve J, Rao X, Sawyers CL: Constitutive activation of STAT5 by the BCR-ABL oncogene in chronic myelogenous leukemia.

- 161. Sherr CJ: Mitogenic response to colony-stimulating factor 1. [Review] [34 refs].Trends in Genetics 7:398, 1991
- 162. Ihle JN, Kerr IM: Jaks and Stats in signaling by the cytokine receptor superfamily.[Review] [67 refs]. Trends in Genetics 11:69, 1995
- 163. Yu CL, Meyer DJ, Campbell GS, Larner AC, Carter-Su C, Schwartz J, Jove R: Enhanced DNA-binding activity of a Stat3-related protein in cells transformed by the Src oncoprotein. Science 269:81, 1995
- 164. Danial NN, Pernis A, Rothman PB: Jak-STAT signaling induced by the v-abl oncogene. Science 269:1875, 1995
- 165. Gouilleux F, Pallard C, Dusanter-Fourt I, Wakao H, Haldosen LA, Norstedt G, Levy D, Groner B: Prolactin, growth hormone, erythropoietin and granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factor induce MGF-Stat5 DNA binding activity. EMBO Journal 14:2005, 1995
- 166. Matsuguchi T, Inhorn RC, Carlesso N, Xu G, Druker B, Griffin JD: Tyrosine phosphorylation of p95Vav in myeloid cells is regulated by GM-CSF, IL-3 and steel factor and is constitutively increased by p210BCR/ABL [see comments]. EMBO Journal 14:257, 1995
- 167. Katzav S, Martin-Zanca D, Barbacid M: vav, a novel human oncogene derived from

a locus ubiquitously expressed in hematopoietic cells. EMBO Journal 8:2283, 1989

- 168. Adams JM, Houston H, Allen J, Lints T, Harvey R: The hematopoietically expressed vav proto-oncogene shares homology with the dbl GDP-GTP exchange factor, the bcr gene and a yeast gene (CDC24) involved in cytoskeletal organization. Oncogene 7:611, 1992
- 169. Wilson-Rawls J, Liu J, Laneuville P, Arlinghaus RB: P210 Bcr-Abl interacts with the interleukin-3 beta c subunit and constitutively activates Jak2. Leukemia 11 Suppl 3:428, 1997
- 170. Ihle JN: Cytokine receptor signalling. [Review] [93 refs]. Nature 377:591, 1995
- 171. Quelle FW, Sato N, Witthuhn BA, Inhorn RC, Eder M, Miyajima A, Griffin JD, Ihle JN: JAK2 associates with the beta c chain of the receptor for granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor, and its activation requires the membrane-proximal region. Molecular & Cellular Biology 14:4335, 1994
- 172. Cotter TG: BCR-ABL: an anti-apoptosis gene in chronic myelogenous leukemia.[Review] [32 refs]. Leukemia & Lymphoma 18:231, 1995
- 173. McGahon AJ, Nishioka WK, Martin SJ, Mahboubi A, Cotter T, Green DR: Regulation of the Fas apoptotic cell death pathway by Abl. Journal of Biological Chemistry 270:22625, 1995

- 174. Benito A, Silva M, Grillot D, Nunez G, Fernandez-Luna J: Apoptosis induced by erythroid differentiation of human leukemia cell lines is inhibited by Bcl-XL. Blood 87:3837, 1996
- 175. Sanchez-Garcia I, Grutz G: Tumorigenic activity of the BCR-ABL oncogenes is mediated by BCL2. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92:5287, 1995
- 176. Bedi A, Barber JP, Bedi GC, el-Deiry W, Sidransky D, Vala MS, Akhtar AJ, Hilton J, Jones RJ: BCR-ABL-mediated inhibition of apoptosis with delay of G2/M transition after DNA damage: a mechanism of resistance to multiple anticancer agents. Blood 86:1148, 1995
- 177. Roger R, Issaad C, Pallardy M, Leglise MC, Turhan AG, Bertoglio J, Breard J: BCR-ABL does not prevent apoptotic death induced by human natural killer or lymphokine-activated killer cells. Blood 87:1113, 1996
- 178. Sherr CJ: G1 phase progression: cycling on cue [see comments]. [Review] [59 refs].Cell 79:551, 1994
- el-Deiry WS, Harper JW, O'Connor PM, Velculescu VE, Canman CE, Jackman J,
 Pietenpol JA, Burrell M, Hill DE, Wang Y, et al.: WAF1/CIP1 is induced in
 p53-mediated G1 arrest and apoptosis. Cancer Research 54:1169, 1994
- 180. Cortez D, Kadlec L, Pendergast AM: Structural and signaling requirements for BCR-

ABL-mediated transformation and inhibition of apoptosis. Molecular & Cellular Biology 15:5531, 1995

- 181. Amarante-Mendes GP, Naekyung Kim C, Liu L, Huang Y, Perkins CL, Green DR, Bhalla K: Bcr-Abl exerts its antiapoptotic effect against diverse apoptotic stimuli through blockage of mitochondrial release of cytochrome C and activation of caspase-3. Blood 91:1700, 1998
- 182. Kim CN, Wang X, Huang Y, Ibrado AM, Liu L, Fang G, Bhalla K: Overexpression of Bcl-X(L) inhibits Ara-C-induced mitochondrial loss of cytochrome c and other perturbations that activate the molecular cascade of apoptosis. Cancer Research 57:3115, 1997
- 183. Ibrado AM, Huang Y, Fang G, Liu L, Bhalla K: Overexpression of Bcl-2 or Bcl-xL inhibits Ara-C-induced CPP32/Yama protease activity and apoptosis of human acute myelogenous leukemia HL-60 cells. Cancer Research 56:4743, 1996
- 184. Liu X, Zou H, Slaughter C, Wang X: DFF, a heterodimeric protein that functions downstream of caspase-3 to trigger DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. Cell 89:175, 1997
- 185. Minn AJ, Velez P, Schendel SL, Liang H, Muchmore SW, Fesik SW, Fill M, Thompson CB: Bcl-x(L) forms an ion channel in synthetic lipid membranes. Nature 385:353, 1997

- 186. Hurley RW, McCarthy JB, Verfaillie CM: Direct adhesion to bone marrow stroma via fibronectin receptors inhibits hematopoietic progenitor proliferation. Journal of Clinical Investigation 96:511, 1995
- 187. Verfaillie C, Hurley R, Bhatia R, McCarthy JB: Role of bone marrow matrix in normal and abnormal hematopoiesis. [Review] [250 refs]. Critical Reviews in Oncology-Hematology 16:201, 1994
- 188. Bhatia R, Wayner EA, McGlave PB, Verfaillie CM: Interferon-alpha restores normal adhesion of chronic myelogenous leukemia hematopoietic progenitors to bone marrow stroma by correcting impaired beta 1 integrin receptor function [see comments]. Journal of Clinical Investigation 94:384, 1994
- 189. Bhatia R, McGlave PB, Verfaillie CM: Treatment of marrow stroma with interferonalpha restores normal beta 1 integrin-dependent adhesion of chronic myelogenous leukemia hematopoietic progenitors. Role of MIP-1 alpha. Journal of Clinical Investigation 96:931, 1995
- 190. Lundell BI, McCarthy JB, Kovach NL, Verfaillie CM: Activation-dependent alpha5beta1 integrin-mediated adhesion to fibronectin decreases proliferation of chronic myelogenous leukemia progenitors and K562 cells. Blood 87:2450, 1996
- 191. Bhatia R, McGlave PB, Dewald GW, Blazar BR, Verfaillie C: Abnormal function of the bone marrow microenvironment in chronic myelogenous leukemia: role of

malignant stromal macrophages. Blood 85:3636, 1995

- 192. Richardson A, Parsons JT: Signal transduction through integrins: a central role for focal adhesion kinase?. [Review] [67 refs]. Bioessays 17:229, 1995
- 193. Gotoh A, Miyazawa K, Ohyashiki K, Tauchi T, Boswell HS, Broxmeyer HE, Toyama
 K: Tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of focal adhesion kinase
 (p125FAK) by BCR-ABL oncoprotein. Experimental Hematology 23:1153,
 1995
- 194. Salgia R, Brunkhorst B, Pisick E, Li JL, Lo SH, Chen L, Griffin JD: Increased tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion proteins in myeloid cell lines expressing p210BCR/ABL. Oncogene 11:1149, 1995
- 195. Rohrschneider LR, Najita LM: Detection of the v-abl gene product at cell-substratum contact sites in Abelson murine leukemia virus-transformed fibroblasts. Journal of Virology 51:547, 1984
- Parsons JT, Weber MJ: Genetics of src: structure and functional organization of a protein tyrosine kinase. [Review] [215 refs]. Current Topics in Microbiology & Immunology 147:79, 1989
- 197. Matsuda M, Mayer BJ, Fukui Y, Hanafusa H: Binding of transforming protein, P47gag-crk, to a broad range of phosphotyrosine-containing proteins. Science 248:1537, 1990

- 198. Salgia R, Uemura N, Okuda K, Li JL, Pisick E, Sattler M, de Jong R, Druker B, Heisterkamp N, Chen LB, et al.: CRKL links p210BCR/ABL with paxillin in chronic myelogenous leukemia cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry 270:29145, 1995
- 199. Salgia R, Li JL, Ewaniuk DS, Pear W, Pisick E, Burky S, Ernst T, Sattler M, Chen LB, Griffin JD: BCR/ABL induces multiple abnormalities of cytoskeletal function. Journal of Clinical Investigation 100:46, 1997
- 200. Afar DE, McLaughlin J, Sherr CJ, Witte ON, Roussel MF: Signaling by ABL oncogenes through cyclin D1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92:9540, 1995
- 201. Sill H, Goldman JM, Cross NC: Homozygous deletions of the p16 tumor-suppressor gene are associated with lymphoid transformation of chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 85:2013, 1995
- 202. Cortez D, Reuther G, Pendergast AM: The Bcr-Abl tyrosine kinase activates mitogenic signaling pathways and stimulates G1-to-S phase transition in hematopoietic cells. Oncogene 15:2333, 1997
- 203. Loeb LA: Many mutations in cancers. [Review] [74 refs]. Cancer Surveys 28:329, 1996
- 204. Fialkow PJ, Gartler SM, Yoshida A: Clonal origin of chronic myelocytic leukemia in

man. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 58:1468, 1967

- 205. Bernstein R: Cytogenetics of chronic myelogenous leukemia. [Review] [93 refs]. Seminars in Hematology 25:20, 1988
- 206. Voncken JW, Morris C, Pattengale P, Dennert G, Kikly C, Groffen J, Heisterkamp N: Clonal development and karyotype evolution during leukemogenesis of BCR/ABL transgenic mice. Blood 79:1029, 1992
- 207. Randhawa GS, Cui H, Barletta JA, Strichman-Almashanu LZ, Talpaz M, Kantarjian H, Deisseroth AB, Champlin RC, Feinberg AP: Loss of imprinting in disease progression in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Blood 91:3144, 1998
- 208. Rainier S, Johnson LA, Dobry CJ, Ping AJ, Grundy PE, Feinberg AP: Relaxation of imprinted genes in human cancer. Nature 362:747, 1993
- 209. Nelkin BD, Przepiorka D, Burke PJ, Thomas ED, Baylin S: Abnormal methylation of the calcitonin gene marks progression of chronic myelogenous leukemia. Blood 77:2431, 1991
- 210. Malinen T, Palotie A, Pakkala S, Peltonen L, Ruutu T, Jansson SE: Acceleration of chronic myeloid leukemia correlates with calcitonin gene hypermethylation. Blood 77:2435, 1991
- 211. Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B: Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. [Review] [97

refs]. Cell 87:159, 1996

- 212. Lindblom A, Tannergard P, Werelius B, Nordenskjold M: Genetic mapping of a second locus predisposing to hereditary non- polyposis colon cancer. Nature Genetics 5:279, 1993
- Aaltonen LA, Peltomaki P, Leach FS, Sistonen P, Pylkkanen L, Mecklin JP, Jarvinen H, Powell SM, Jen J, Hamilton SR, et al.: Clues to the pathogenesis of familial colorectal cancer [see comments]. Science 260:812, 1993
- 214. Strand M, Prolla TA, Liskay RM, Petes TD: Destabilization of tracts of simple repetitive DNA in yeast by mutations affecting DNA mismatch repair [see comments] [published erratum appears in Nature 1994 Apr 7;368(6471);569]. Nature 365:274, 1993
- 215. MacPhee DG: Mismatch repair, somatic mutations, and the origins of cancer. Cancer Research 55:5489, 1995
- 216. Fishel R, Lescoe MK, Rao MR, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Garber J, Kane M, Kolodner R: The human mutator gene homolog MSH2 and its association with hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer [published erratum appears in Cell 1994 Apr 8;77(1):167]. Cell 75:1027, 1993
- 217. Leach FS, Nicolaides NC, Papadopoulos N, Liu B, Jen J, Parsons R, Peltomaki P, Sistonen P, Aaltonen LA, Nystrom-Lahti M, et al.: Mutations of a mutS

homolog in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. Cell 75:1215, 1993

- 218. Liu B, Parsons R, Papadopoulos N, Nicolaides NC, Lynch HT, Watson P, Jass JR, Dunlop M, Wyllie A, Peltomaki P, de la Chapelle A, Hamilton SR, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW: Analysis of mismatch repair genes in hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer patients [see comments]. Nature Medicine 2:169, 1996
- 219. Modrich P: Mismatch repair, genetic stability, and cancer. [Review] [29 refs]. Science 266:1959, 1994
- 220. Shibata D, Peinado MA, Ionov Y, Malkhosyan S, Perucho M: Genomic instability in repeated sequences is an early somatic event in colorectal tumorigenesis that persists after transformation. Nature Genetics 6:273, 1994
- 221. Eshleman JR, Lang EZ, Bowerfind GK, Parsons R, Vogelstein B, Willson JK, Veigl ML, Sedwick WD, Markowitz SD: Increased mutation rate at the hprt locus accompanies microsatellite instability in colon cancer. Oncogene 10:33, 1995
- 222. Bedi A, Zehnbauer BA, Barber JP, Sharkis SJ, Jones RJ: Inhibition of apoptosis by BCR-ABL in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 83:2038, 1994
- 223. Laneuville P, Timm M, Hudson AT: bcr/abl expression in 32D cl3(G) cells inhibits apoptosis induced by protein tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Cancer Research 54:1360, 1994
- 224. Albrecht T, Schwab R, Henkes M, Peschel C, Huber C, Aulitzky WE: Primary

proliferating immature myeloid cells from CML patients are not resistant to induction of apoptosis by DNA damage and growth factor withdrawal. British Journal of Haematology 95:501, 1996

- 225. McGahon A, Bissonnette R, Schmitt M, Cotter KM, Green DR, Cotter TG: BCR-ABL maintains resistance of chronic myelogenous leukemia cells to apoptotic cell death [published erratum appears in Blood 1994 Jun 15;83(12):3835]. Blood 83:1179, 1994
- 226. Andrews DF3, Collins SJ: Heterogeneity in expression of the bcr-abl fusion transcript in CML blast crisis. Leukemia 1:718, 1987
- 227. Cambier N, Chopra R, Strasser A, Metcalf D, Elefanty A: BCR-ABL activates pathways mediating cytokine independence and protection against apoptosis in murine hematopoietic cells in a dose-dependent manner. Oncogene 16:335, 1998
- 228. Cortez D, Stoica G, Pierce JH, Pendergast AM: The BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibits apoptosis by activating a Ras-dependent signaling pathway. Oncogene 13:2589, 1996
- 229. Daley GQ, Van Etten RA, Baltimore D: Induction of chronic myelogenous leukemia in mice by the P210bcr/abl gene of the Philadelphia chromosome. Science 247:824, 1990
- 230. Voncken JW, Kaartinen V, Pattengale PK, Germeraad WT, Groffen J, Heisterkamp N:
 BCR/ABL P210 and P190 cause distinct leukemia in transgenic mice. Blood
 86:4603, 1995
- 231. Honda H, Fujii T, Takatoku M, Mano H, Witte ON, Yazaki Y, Hirai H: Expression of p210bcr/abl by metallothionein promoter induced T- cell leukemia in transgenic mice. Blood 85:2853, 1995
- 232. Voncken JW, Griffiths S, Greaves MF, Pattengale PK, Heisterkamp N, Groffen J: Restricted oncogenicity of BCR/ABL p190 in transgenic mice. Cancer Research 52:4534, 1992
- 233. Provost GS, Kretz PL, Hamner RT, Matthews CD, Rogers B, Lundberg KS, Dycaico MJ, Short JM: Transgenic systems for in vivo mutation analysis [see comments]. [Review] [72 refs]. Mutation Research 288:133, 1993
- 234. Kohler SW, Provost GS, Fieck A, Kretz PL, Bullock WO, Sorge JA, Putman DL, Short JM: Spectra of spontaneous and mutagen-induced mutations in the lacl gene in transgenic mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88:7958, 1991
- 235. Donehower LA, Harvey M, Slagle BL, McArthur MJ, Montgomery CA, Jr., Butel JS, Bradley A: Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. Nature 356:215, 1992

- 236. Macleod KF, Sherry N, Hannon G, Beach D, Tokino T, Kinzler K, Vogelstein B, Jacks
 T: p53-dependent and independent expression of p21 during cell growth,
 differentiation, and DNA damage. Genes & Development 9:935, 1995
- 237. Dycaico MJ, Provost GS, Kretz PL, Ransom SL, Moores JC, Short JM: The use of shuttle vectors for mutation analysis in transgenic mice and rats. Mutation Research 307:461, 1994
- 238. Buettner VL, Hill KA, Nishino H, Schaid DJ, Frisk CS, Sommer SS: Increased mutation frequency and altered spectrum in one of four thymic lymphomas derived from tumor prone p53/Big Blue double transgenic mice. Oncogene 13:2407, 1996
- 239. Farabaugh PJ: Sequence of the lacI gene. Nature 274:765, 1978
- 240. Sugimura T: Multistep carcinogenesis: a 1992 perspective. [Review] [55 refs]. Science 258:603, 1992
- 241. Daley GQ, Baltimore D: Transformation of an interleukin 3-dependent hematopoietic cell line by the chronic myelogenous leukemia-specific P210bcr/abl protein. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 85:9312, 1988
- 242. Laneuville P, Sullivan AK: Clonal succession and deletion of bcr/abl sequences in chronic myelogenous leukemia with recurrent lymphoid blast crisis. Leukemia

- 243. Lansdorp PM, Oosterhof F, Zeijlemaker WP: Colony-forming cells in chronic granulocytic leukemia--I. Proliferative responses to growth factors. Leukemia Research 9:1337, 1985
- 244. Metcalf D, Moore MA, Sheridan JW, Spitzer G: Responsiveness of human granulocytic leukemic cells to colony- stimulating factor. Blood 43:847, 1974
- 245. Moore MA, Williams N, Metcalf D: In vitro colony formation by normal and leukemic human hematopoietic cells: characterization of the colony-forming cells. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 50:603, 1973
- 246. Agarwal ML, Taylor WR, Chernov MV, Chernova OB, Stark GR: The p53 network. [Review] [74 refs]. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273:1, 1998
- 247. Kubbutat MH, Jones SN, Vousden KH: Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. Nature 387:299, 1997
- 248. Finlay CA, Hinds PW, Levine AJ: The p53 proto-oncogene can act as a suppressor of transformation. Cell 57:1083, 1989
- 249. Lees-Miller SP, Sakaguchi K, Ullrich SJ, Appella E, Anderson CW: Human DNAactivated protein kinase phosphorylates serines 15 and 37 in the amino-terminal transactivation domain of human p53. Molecular & Cellular Biology 12:5041, 1992

- 250. Whitacre CM, Hashimoto H, Tsai ML, Chatterjee S, Berger SJ, Berger NA: Involvement of NAD-poly(ADP-ribose) metabolism in p53 regulation and its consequences. Cancer Research 55:3697, 1995
- 251. Wang ZQ, Auer B, Stingl L, Berghammer H, Haidacher D, Schweiger M, Wagner EF: Mice lacking ADPRT and poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation develop normally but are susceptible to skin disease. Genes & Development 9:509, 1995
- 252. Kastan MB, Zhan Q, el-Deiry WS, Carrier F, Jacks T, Walsh WV, Plunkett BS, Vogelstein B, Fornace AJ, Jr.: A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and GADD45 is defective in ataxia-telangiectasia. Cell 71:587, 1992
- 253. Lu X, Lane DP: Differential induction of transcriptionally active p53 following UV or ionizing radiation: defects in chromosome instability syndromes? Cell 75:765, 1993
- 254. Fukasawa K, Vande WG: Synergy between the Mos/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway and loss of p53 function in transformation and chromosome instability. Molecular & Cellular Biology 17:506, 1997
- 255. Serrano M, Lin AW, McCurrach ME, Beach D, Lowe SW: Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. Cell 88:593, 1997

- 256. Di Leonardo A, Linke SP, Clarkin K, Wahl GM: DNA damage triggers a prolonged p53-dependent G1 arrest and long-term induction of Cip1 in normal human fibroblasts. Genes & Development 8:2540, 1994
- 257. Cross SM, Sanchez CA, Morgan CA, Schimke MK, Ramel S, Idzerda RL, Raskind WH, Reid BJ: A p53-dependent mouse spindle checkpoint. Science 267:1353, 1995
- 258. Yonish-Rouach E, Resnitzky D, Lotem J, Sachs L, Kimchi A, Oren M: Wild-type p53 induces apoptosis of myeloid leukaemic cells that is inhibited by interleukin-6. Nature 352:345, 1991
- 259. Wagner AJ, Kokontis JM, Hay N: Myc-mediated apoptosis requires wild-type p53 in a manner independent of cell cycle arrest and the ability of p53 to induce p21waf1/cip1. Genes & Development 8:2817, 1994
- 260. Chung YJ, Park SW, Song JM, Lee KY, Seo EJ, Choi SW, Rhyu MG: Evidence of genetic progression in human gastric carcinomas with microsatellite instability. Oncogene 15:1719, 1997
- 261. Li X, Gong J, Feldman E, Seiter K, Traganos F, Darzynkiewicz Z: Apoptotic cell death during treatment of leukemias. Leukemia & Lymphoma 13 Suppl 1:65, 1994
- 262. Pendergast AM: Nuclear tyrosine kinases: from Abl to WEE1. [Review] [46 refs]. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 8:174, 1996

- 263. Amos TA, Lewis JL, Grand FH, Gooding RP, Goldman JM, Gordon MY: Apoptosis in chronic myeloid leukaemia: normal responses by progenitor cells to growth factor deprivation, X-irradiation and glucocorticoids. British Journal of Haematology 91:387, 1995
- 264. Delia D, Aiello A, Soligo D, Fontanella E, Melani C, Pezzella F, Pierotti MA, Della Porta G: bcl-2 proto-oncogene expression in normal and neoplastic human myeloid cells. Blood 79:1291, 1992
- 265. Kabarowski JH, Allen PB, Wiedemann LM: A temperature sensitive p210 BCR-ABL mutant defines the primary consequences of BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase expression in growth factor dependent cells. EMBO Journal 13:5887, 1994
- 266. Wada C, Shionoya S, Fujino Y, Tokuhiro H, Akahoshi T, Uchida T, Ohtani H: Genomic instability of microsatellite repeats and its association with the evolution of chronic myelogenous leukemia [see comments]. Blood 83:3449, 1994
- 267. Klucher KM, Lopez DV, Daley GQ: Secondary mutation maintains the transformed state in BaF3 cells with inducible BCR/ABL expression. Blood 91:3927, 1998
- 268. Griffiths SD, Healy LE, Ford AM, Bennett CA, Voncken JW, Heisterkamp N, Groffen J, Greaves MF: Clonal characteristics of acute lymphoblastic cells derived from BCR/ABL p190 transgenic mice. Oncogene 7:1391, 1992

- 269. Mirsalis JC: Transgenic models for detection of mutations in tumors and normal tissues of rodents. [Review] [12 refs]. Toxicology Letters 82-83:131, 1995
- 270. Tao KS, Urlando C, Heddle JA: Comparison of somatic mutation in a transgenic versus host locus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90:10681, 1993
- 271. Nishino H, Knoll A, Buettner VL, Frisk CS, Maruta Y, Haavik J, Sommer SS: p53 wild-type and p53 nullizygous Big Blue transgenic mice have similar frequencies and patterns of observed mutation in liver, spleen and brain. Oncogene 11:263, 1995
- 272. Prolla TA: DNA mismatch repair and cancer. [Review] [59 refs]. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 10:311, 1998
- 273. Loeb LA: Microsatellite instability: marker of a mutator phenotype in cancer. [Review][50 refs]. Cancer Research 54:5059, 1994
- 274. Loeb LA: Mutator phenotype may be required for multistage carcinogenesis. [Review][63 refs]. Cancer Research 51:3075, 1991
- 275. Loeb LA, Christians FC: Multiple mutations in human cancers. Mutation Research 350:279, 1996
- 276. Peltomaki P, Lothe RA, Aaltonen LA, Pylkkanen L, Nystrom-Lahti M, Seruca R, David L, Holm R, Ryberg D, Haugen A, et al.: Microsatellite instability is

associated with tumors that characterize the hereditary non-polyposis colorectal carcinoma syndrome. Cancer Research 53:5853, 1993

- 277. Bronner CE, Baker SM, Morrison PT, Warren G, Smith LG, Lescoe MK, Kane M, Earabino C, Lipford J, Lindblom A, et al.: Mutation in the DNA mismatch repair gene homologue hMLH1 is associated with hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer. Nature 368:258, 1994
- 278. Gartenhaus R, Johns MM3, Wang P, Rai K, Sidransky D: Mutator phenotype in a subset of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 87:38, 1996
- 279. Liu B, Nicolaides NC, Markowitz S, Willson JK, Parsons RE, Jen J, Papadopolous N, Peltomaki P, de la Chapelle A, Hamilton S, et al.: Mismatch repair gene defects in sporadic colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. Nature Genetics 9:48, 1995
- 280. Myeroff LL, Parsons R, Kim SJ, Hedrick L, Cho KR, Orth K, Mathis M, Kinzler KW, Lutterbaugh J, Park K: A transforming growth factor beta receptor type II gene mutation common in colon and gastric but rare in endometrial cancers with microsatellite instability. Cancer Research 55:5545, 1995
- 281. Souza RF, Appel R, Yin J, Wang S, Smolinski KN, Abraham JM, Zou TT, Shi YQ, Lei J, Cottrell J, Cymes K, Biden K, Simms L, Leggett B, Lynch PM, Frazier M, Powell SM, Harpaz N, Sugimura H, Young J, Meltzer SJ: Microsatellite instability in the insulin-like growth factor II receptor gene in gastrointestinal

tumours [letter] [published erratum appears in Nat Genet 1996 Dec;14(4):488]. Nature Genetics 14:255, 1996

- 282. Rampino N, Yamamoto H, Ionov Y, Li Y, Sawai H, Reed JC, Perucho M: Somatic frameshift mutations in the BAX gene in colon cancers of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. Science 275:967, 1997
- 283. Lau MM, Stewart CE, Liu Z, Bhatt H, Rotwein P, Stewart CL: Loss of the imprinted IGF2/cation-independent mannose 6-phosphate receptor results in fetal overgrowth and perinatal lethality. Genes & Development 8:2953, 1994
- 284. Oltvai ZN, Milliman CL, Korsmeyer SJ: Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. Cell 74:609, 1993
- 285. Crook, T, Brooks, AL, Crossland, P, Osin, P, Barker, KT, Waller, J, Philp, E, Smith, PD, Yulug, I, Peto, J, Parker, G, Allday, M, Crompton, MR, and Gusterson, BA. p53 mutation with frequent novel codons but not a mutator phenotype in BRCA1- and BRCA2-associated breast tumors. Oncogene 17, 1681-1689. 98. (GENERIC)

Ref Type: Generic

286. Zhang H, Tombline G, Weber BL: BRCA1, BRCA2, and DNA damage response: collision or collusion?. [Review] [20 refs]. Cell 92:433, 1998

- 287. Baross-Francis A, Andrew SE, Penney JE, Jirik FR: Tumors of DNA mismatch repairdeficient hosts exhibit dramatic increases in genomic instability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95:8739, 1998
- 288. Liu ZG, Baskaran R, Lea-Chou ET, Wood LD, Chen Y, Karin M, Wang JY: Three distinct signalling responses by murine fibroblasts to genotoxic stress [see comments]. Nature 384:273, 1996
- 289. Baskaran R, Chiang GG, Mysliwiec T, Kruh GD, Wang JY: Tyrosine phosphorylation of RNA polymerase II carboxyl-terminal domain by the Abl-related gene product. Journal of Biological Chemistry 272:18905, 1997
- 290. Mayer BJ, Hirai H, Sakai R: Evidence that SH2 domains promote processive phosphorylation by protein-tyrosine kinases. Current Biology 5:296, 1995
- 291. Vuori K, Ruoslahti E: Tyrosine phosphorylation of p130Cas and cortactin accompanies integrin-mediated cell adhesion to extracellular matrix. Journal of Biological Chemistry 270:22259, 1995
- 292. Ashby J, Short JM, Jones NJ, Lefevre PA, Provost GS, Rogers BJ, Martin EA, Parry JM, Burnette K, Glickman BW, et al.: Mutagenicity of o-anisidine to the bladder of lacI- transgenic B6C3F1 mice: absence of 14C or 32P bladder DNA adduction. Carcinogenesis 15:2291, 1994

- 293. Mirsalis JC, Monforte JA, Winegar RA: Transgenic animal models for measuring mutations in vivo. [Review] [113 refs]. Critical Reviews in Toxicology 24:255, 1994
- 294. Kohler SW, Provost GS, Fieck A, Kretz PL, Bullock WO, Putman DL, Sorge JA, Short JM: Analysis of spontaneous and induced mutations in transgenic mice using a lambda ZAP/lacI shuttle vector. Environmental & Molecular Mutagenesis 18:316, 1991
- 295. Mirsalis JC, Provost GS, Matthews CD, Hamner RT, Schindler JE, O'Loughlin KG, MacGregor JT, Short JM: Induction of hepatic mutations in lacI transgenic mice. Mutagenesis 8:265, 1993
- 296. Schaaper RM, Dunn RL: Spontaneous mutation in the Escherichia coli lacI gene. Genetics 129:317, 1991
- 297. Jakubczak JL, Merlino G, French JE, Muller WJ, Paul B, Adhya S, Garges S: Analysis of genetic instability during mammary tumor progression using a novel selection-based assay for in vivo mutations in a bacteriophage lambda transgene target. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93:9073, 1996
- 298. Piegorsch WW, Bailer AJ: Statistical approaches for analyzing mutational spectra: some recommendations for categorical data. Genetics 136:403, 1994